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NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Introduction

About this report
All NHS organisations are required to publish an annual report and
financial statements at the end of each financial year.
This report provides a brief overview of the work of NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group
(NHS Kernow) from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.
It includes a round-up of some of our work and achievements during the year, information
about our performance and commentary on wider events which have shaped our business and
priorities, an annual governance statement and financial statements.
Enquiries about this report should be addressed to:
Communications and Engagement team
NHS Kernow
Sedgemoor Centre, St Austell, Cornwall PL25 5AS
Telephone: 01726 627800
Email: kccg.contactus@nhs.net
Unless otherwise stated, all services are in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
Abbreviations:
• Cornwall Council: CC
• Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust: CFT
• Council of the Isles of Scilly: CIoS
• NHS England: NHSE
• Plymouth Hospital NHS Trust: PHNT
• Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust: RCHT
• Shaping Our Future: SOF
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Foreword
Welcome to NHS Kernow’s annual report for 2017/18.
This year has seen me reach the end of my first three year term as Chair of NHS Kernow, the
commissioner for most health services in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
Clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) were established through the 2012 Health and Social
Care Act to better understand the needs of their populations and to commission services to
meet these needs. They are accountable to their members which, in our case, means the 62 GP
practices in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
We work to a set of values and it is worth reminding ourselves what they are to ensure that
everything we do is in accordance with those values:
•
•
•
•
•

We believe in being honest.
We want to be innovative, agile and brave.
We are passionate about making a difference to people’s lives.
We believe in strong relationships and supporting champions.
We will listen to people to understand their needs.

Everything we do is focused on making sure that everyone in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly
receives excellent health and care services. This means working with our partners to use our joint
resources more effectively to improve the care and services we commission.
Our Annual Report is a time for reflection on previous
work and endeavour, whilst helping to guide our
future direction. Improving the quality of care that we
commission for our population and the outcomes that
result, whilst living within our means, remain our prime
concerns.
Our CCG is one of four purchasers of care for Cornwall
and the Isles of Scilly, alongside NHS England, Cornwall
Council and the Council of the Isles of Scilly.
In this the 70th year of our National Health Service,
we are aware of the ever growing fragmentation of
our health and care services. We believe that working
more closely with our partners is in the best interests of
everyone.
There has been much conversation, both locally and
nationally, that this move to work together is the precursor to NHS privatisation. This is not the case. However,
whilst there may be anxieties around words such as
“Accountable” and thoughts about new organisations,
we must not lose sight of our own values. We are
fundamentally here to ensure the best possible services
for the population we serve.
4
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From my own perspective as a clinician, I spend half my time directly helping people manage
their health problems. This means I am aware on a daily basis of the increasing demand on
services, of the pressures on our workforce and the sense that to become more resilient we
cannot stand alone.
As a CCG, we recognise that leadership and improvement is more effective when there is a local
influence. We have a strong locality structure, where the needs of our populations are best
understood and where the motivation and ideas to improve our health and wellbeing sit. We
also recognise that the challenges faced by our population - rising obesity, increases in long term
conditions such as diabetes and access to services - are issues that we cannot address alone. Our
CCG is part of a wider system, with a link to and influence over parts that can improve those
three areas of quality, outcomes and financial stability.
We passionately believe that every NHS pound we are entrusted with should be spent wisely
on the most needy people using clinically and cost effective means. Looking back at 2017/18
we have continued to build on the financial foundations we established in the previous year
to ensure we were meeting this aim. For the second year running our CCG has delivered the
financial plan we set out at the beginning of the year, indeed this year we have finished with
a deficit of £33.2 million, against a planned deficit of £37.6 million. Whilst we are not yet in a
position of financial balance, we are very much moving in the right direction and we should
have confidence in our ability to continue that steady and positive progress.
We cannot escape the fact, however, that we are currently spending more money than is
allocated for the people of Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly and this means that elsewhere in the
country they have to spend less than their fair share to compensate. Continuing to accept this
and be open about it is part of our values in being honest. We set ourselves once more a savings
plan that was above and beyond our previous achievement with the ambition of ensuring
minimal impact on patient care.

We have a strong locality structure, where the needs of our
populations are best understood and where the motivation and
ideas to improve our health and wellbeing sit.
Our Governing Body will only agree to plans that are credible and achievable rather than
promise to deliver a plan in which we don’t have confidence.
I started this foreword with a reminder about our values. We have the ability to make decisions
and to support innovation and the development of stronger working relationships.
The results of this year’s Ipsos Mori 360°Stakeholder Survey, which asks our partners to answer
questions about their relationship with us, show a significant year-on-year improvement since
2015/16 on every indicator. Of the 21 measures, 12 of our scores were higher than either the
national, South West or other similar CCGs’ average. We are thrilled that 71 percent of people
who responded rated the effectiveness of their working relationship with our CCG – a significant
improvement on the 45 percent in 2016 and 58 percent in 2017. This is an incredible achievement
and signifies the emphasis we have placed on developing and nurturing honest and productive
relationships with the people we work with.
Annual report and accounts 2017/18
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Many things are better achieved together and we have ended this year with some positive
improvements in how we collectively recover our urgent care system. In December we launched
our new GP out of hours and 111 service, a collaboration between our GP provider organisation,
Kernow CiC and RCHT. Our 111 performance is now amongst the best in England, with an
ever improving impact on the numbers of people needing onward referral to our emergency
departments, or requiring a 999 ambulance. We have been working together to improve our
performance in our emergency departments under the banner of “Gold Command”. While there
is more work to do, this coordinated focus has already delivered improved services for patients.
Our urgent care performance has been supported through greater integration with social care.
We have used the additional funding from the Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) to not only
meet our challenging target of reducing the number of people waiting in hospital for health
and social care support to 114 per day, but to exceed it – with the figure for February falling to
95 per day. Of these 88 are attributable to our local health and care system, 12 below our target
of 110. This has been achieved in part by the introduction of a joint assessment system with
Cornwall Council and CFT which has enabled us to work more closely with patients and their
families to provide a safe and timely discharge from hospital.
Transforming mental health services and increasing investment is a key priority for the NHS
and I am pleased with the progress we have made this year. Thanks to closer working between
commissioners, CFT, people and their families, the numbers requiring a hospital bed outside
Cornwall has dropped significantly.
We have invested an additional £1 million in specific services for children and young people,
providing support for children and young people with eating disorders and grants to voluntary
sector organisations, including the Intercom Trust which helps people with gender identity and
sexual orientation.
This report highlights the many ways we are working to ensure that people in Cornwall and the
Isles of Scilly get first class health care. A massive thank you is due to everyone who is involved
in achieving this - our staff and clinicians, our members, our provider and council colleagues,
our partners in the voluntary sector and local communities. We know we have more challenges
ahead but we also have a lot to be proud of.

Dr Iain Chorlton
Chairman
22 May 2018

Listen to Iain give a summary of the
annual report
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Performance overview
This report provides an overview of the work of NHS Kernow Clinical
Commissioning Group (NHS Kernow) from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018.
It includes a round-up of some of our work and achievements during the year, information
about our performance and commentary on wider events which have shaped our business and
priorities, an annual governance statement and financial statements.

About us
NHS Kernow is the clinical commissioning
group (CCG) for Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
We have 62 practices formed into locality
groups which have been involved in local
commissioning for many years. You can find
out more about the practices here.
Our job is to buy health services for the people
registered with GP practices in the county and
islands, including hospital care, mental health
and learning disability services, children’s
services, community services, NHS 111, a GP
out of hours service and some primary care
services.
We are passionate about helping people to
lead healthier lives. This means working with
people to understand their health needs and
to receive feedback on services, monitoring
the quality of health services, planning services
to meet future health needs, and working
with partners and organisations to achieve our
aims.

During the past four years both our
organisation and the wider health and
care system have faced a growing demand
for services at the same time as increasing
pressures on budgets. Concerns over our
financial position, on-going challenges around
the Emergency Department and issues relating
to performance, planning and leadership led
to us being issued with a Legal Direction by
NHS England in December 2015.
Since then we have worked closely with
providers, councils, NHS England and others
to deliver the changes required to strengthen
our management, governance and financial
arrangements. These have included reviewing
our Governing Body and committee structure
and introducing new ‘portfolio’ roles for
hospital, community and primary care, and
working extremely hard to reduce waste and
duplication and address our deficit with the
aim of balancing our books by 2020/21.

As a CCG we are regulated by NHS England.
Our annual budget for 2017/2018 was just
under £800 million and we have 345 contracts
with providers to deliver NHS services. Our
main providers include our general practices,
community pharmacies and optometrists,
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust, Plymouth
Hospitals NHS Trust, Northern Devon
Healthcare NHS Trust, Cornwall Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust and South West
Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust, as
well as a wealth of voluntary and community
sector organisations.
8
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The changes to our governance and management structures are now in place and - thanks to
the hard work of our staff and primary care colleagues - we ended the financial year with a
reduced deficit of £33.2 million which is a significant achievement. While this means we have
delivered our financial plan for this year, we recognise the need for further improvements in
spending control and are working with our partners to achieve this.
The way we live has changed enormously since the NHS was formed 70 years ago. We need
to look at how we can best meet people’s changing needs and keep improving care whilst
managing increasing demand for our services. Our plan to achieve this is called Shaping Our
Future (SOF).
Our aim is to ensure everyone has a good start in life and support to stay healthy and live
longer. We are proposing to create a new Integrated Care System (ICS) where all partners work
together as a single network to ensure care is more joined up, better coordinated and efficient.
You can read more on page 22.

62

£800m

345

£33.2m

534,000
in Cornwall and

37%
population growth

20%
of people are not

68%
of adults are obese

GP practices

the Isles of Scilly

budget

over the summer

contracts

active in any way

deficit

or overweight

£

17
neighbourhoods

are in deprivation

1
in
4
children under the
age of 19 live in
poverty
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Our priorities
We want people to be proud of the services they receive and to be part of a community that
focuses on the needs of the whole population, with an emphasis on preventing ill-health and
maintaining wellbeing.
We want to change the balance of healthcare provided in hospitals and in the community
so more people receive care closer to or at home. When people need them we will ensure
community-based services are wrapped around people, involving those who can help to support
others: family, friends, neighbours and volunteers.
Until recently most NHS services provided by GPs, dentists, pharmacists and optometrists, as
well as other specialised services, were commissioned by NHS England. This is changing. We are
now working more closely with NHS England and expect to take a more proactive role in the
commissioning of GPs in the future.
Our emergency services, like those in the rest of the country, are facing ever increasing
pressures. We want to reduce this pressure by creating a joined-up system of GP surgeries,
community pharmacies, minor injury services, out of hours clinics, community hospitals, urgent
treatment centres, emergency departments and self-help advice services such as NHS 111.
The first step towards achieving this vision took place last November when we awarded a
contract for a new integrated NHS 111 and GP out of hours service to a consortium of RCHT,
Kernow Health Community Interest Company (CIC), our local GP federation, and Vocare Limited.
The launch of this service is an important step on our journey to create an integrated system of
care. You can read more about this on page 38.
We aim to improve people’s health and wellbeing by working closely with our two Health and
Wellbeing Boards. Here health, social care, police, housing, education and children’s services
come together to agree the vision in terms of the priorities to help improve the future health
and wellbeing of our population.
This can only be achieved by all partners working together, including members of the public
who have a key role to play in preventing their own ill health and in maintaining their wellbeing.
The Health and Wellbeing Board priorities for Cornwall are:

Helping people to live
longer, happier and
healthier lives.

Improving the quality
of life

Fairer life chances for
all

These priorities are underpinned by tangible outcomes - such as warm homes and independent
living - that govern the decisions made by commissioners and providers of these services and
help guide the contributions made by the voluntary and private sectors.

10
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The Health and Wellbeing Board priorities for the Isles of Scilly are:

Equitable access to
services

Promoting
smoking cessation
and responsible
drinking

Supporting
independent living
and self-care

Improving access
to mental health
services

During 2017/2018, the boards approved the following reports and actions:
• Better Care Fund: Continued use of the Fund to help reduce delayed transfers of care,
develop integrated commissioning and support the overall health and social care system.
• 2018-2022 Healthy Weight Strategy: This strategy, which builds on the previous Healthy
Weight Strategy, sets out the priorities and approach to working collaboratively with
communities and stakeholders to promote a healthy weight and tackle obesity.
• Cornwall Physical Activity Strategy: The strategy aims to tackle the current levels of inactivity
and ensure that 50,000 more people are more physically active as part of their daily life by
2020. It calls on a wide range of organisations, professionals and volunteers to play their part
in creating the conditions to make it easier for people to be more active.
• Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) for Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly: This statutory
assessment describes current and predicted future needs for pharmaceutical services. It
identifies what is needed at a local level to guide the current and future commissioning
of pharmaceutical services that could be delivered by community pharmacies and other
providers.
• Public transport: We are continuing to work with partners to support the Local Transport
Plan and One Public Transport network to improve connectivity of existing bus and rail links
and improve links between walking, cycling, bus and rail systems and reduce/mitigate car
usage.
Earlier this year the boards endorsed the principles behind the health and care proposals in
the New Frontiers document. This document, jointly produced by Cornwall’s key stakeholders,
sets out a formal starting point for negotiations with the Government to build on the Cornwall
Devolution Deal.
The proposals, which are designed to secure better health outcomes from Cornwall’s health and
care budgets, reduce the employment rate gap for those with a long-term health condition to
the national average (29.6 percent), and enhance the resilience of communities, include:
• Piloting new models of technology enabled care to help tackle obesity, fuel poverty,
employment for those with health problems and harm from alcohol, as part of a wider locally
led health and wellbeing plan.
• Moving to a more community focused model of care.
• Working with partners to commission and provide the best possible health outcomes for
people.
• Testing the development of physical activity and sport in schools, exploring direct, ring
fenced allocation of the Healthy Pupil Programme.
During the past 12 months we have been developing a new Prevent strategy with both Health
and Wellbeing Boards and the Public Health team and we will now be looking at how this can
be delivered.
Annual report and accounts 2017/18
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Meeting national improvement and assessment framework
requirements
Making sure the services we commission meet both local needs and national standards around
quality, safety and access is a key part of our work. Effective performance management and
contract monitoring are vital to ensuring people have timely access to quality services.
We hold our providers to account through our contracts, and use local data on activity, finance,
and quality measures to ensure that we are delivering high quality care and value for money. We
monitor our performance against a range of measures, including access to services and waiting
times, effectiveness of services and quality standards.
To improve services we aim to deliver on the domains and clinical priority areas set out in the
CCG Improvement and Assurance Framework. This framework ensures that our organisation is fit
for purpose and that the services we commission meet national standards and targets.
The four domains are:

Better health

Better care

Sustainability

Leadership

The six clinical priority areas for 2018/19 are:

Mental health

Dementia

Learning disabilities

Cancer

Diabetes

Maternity

We are assessed annually by NHS England which rates all CCGs for how well they are fulfilling
their function of commissioning safe, good quality, sustainable services and compassionate care.
Ratings for 2017/18 are yet to be received and not expected until after publication of this
document.
We use the information provided by these performance monitoring systems to shape the way
we plan and set our priorities and design and commission services. During the next 12 months
we will build on the strong foundation we have put in place during the past couple of years
before we move to a new and improved health and care system.

12
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The challenges we face
Our population
We serve a population of approximately
534,000 people living mainly in Cornwall and
Isles of Scilly, although we are responsible for
people living in Devon who are registered
with one of our GP practices. Our population is
among the fastest growing in the country.
Our Shaping Our Future plan shows that
increasing numbers of people need support
from health and care services to successfully
manage their health.
Lifestyle behaviours such as drinking alcohol,
smoking, physical inactivity, diet and social
isolation contribute to five diseases – heart
disease, strokes, cancer, lung disease and liver
disease - which together cause 75 percent of
premature deaths and disability. Heart disease
and strokes cause the deaths of nearly 500
people each year. We also have high rates of
diabetes and osteoarthritis.
Increasing levels of both adult and childhood
obesity are a significant problem. Almost 40
percent of our population is not meeting the
required levels of activity for good health
and around 20 percent are not active in any
way. Many children lead sedentary lives, are
overweight or obese and are not fulfilling
their potential at school. Adults spend more
of their lives in poor health than those living
in other areas of the country and are dying
earlier than they need to. 68.4 percent of
adults and 26.8 percent of children aged four
to five years were either overweight or obese
in 2015/16 which is significantly higher than
the national average.
Being overweight or obese increases the risk
of developing a number of serious diseases,
including diabetes, cardiovascular disease
and many cancers, and is also associated with
bullying in children and common mental
health disorders in both adults and children.

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

Children who are overweight or obese at four
to five years tend to remain so aged 10 to 11
years and are more likely to enter adulthood
as overweight or obese.
The financial cost is significant, with the wide
range of diseases associated with inactivity
and obesity costing the Cornish economy more
than £100 million in health care, social care
and lost productivity each year. The problem
is not going away and with a growing and
ageing population it is likely to get worse.
The NHS costs attributable to people being
overweight and obese across the UK as a
whole are projected to reach £9.7 billion by
2050, with the wider costs to society estimated
to reach £49.9 billion per year.
The evidence shows that too many of us are
not living well and we need to change this.
For many people these conditions can be
prevented or delayed, or, for others, contained
if caught early and managed well.
Poverty, deprivation and isolation are also
big issues, with 17 of our neighbourhoods
identified as being among the most deprived
in England, and almost 15 percent of
households having someone older than 65
living alone. People in our disadvantaged
communities are at a higher risk of living with
at least one debilitating condition.
Mental health is of equal concern. We have
high rates of suicide and people harming
themselves deliberately, with five percent of
people also reporting long-term mental health
problems.
Our popularity as a tourist destination adds
to the pressures on our health services. Our
population grows by 37 percent during the
summer as people come here on holiday equating to approximately 197,000 visitors
each night.
13
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Poor health has a huge impact on the day to
day lives of large numbers of people, with
more than 36,400 claiming health-related
benefits such as Incapacity Benefit and
Severe Disablement Allowance, Disability
Living Allowance and Personal Independence
Payments. This figure increases to more than
58,000 people if we include people who
receive an Employment Support Allowance
who are unable to work due to sickness or
disability and are not in receipt of Statutory
Sick Pay (Source: Department for Work and
Pensions, August 2017).
Combined, these issues create significant
challenges for people needing to access
services where they live, challenges for
service providers in managing additional
demands, particularly during school holidays
and the winter months, and pressure on the
emergency services for people who are not
registered with GP practices and are often
isolated in rural or island populations.

Our geography and economy
Our geography and the remoteness of some
of our communities, presents some unique
challenges for people accessing services close
to their home.
The large numbers of people living in small
towns and villages (65 percent) not only
affects the location and costs of services for
providers, but also limits choice and access
for those needing them. There are particular
challenges for the 2,300 people living on the
Isles of Scilly, with the size of the population
limiting provision on the islands, and travel
to the mainland and between islands often
affected by bad weather.
We want to ensure localised services are
available where clinically and financially viable
and that centralised services are only used
where clinically necessary.

14
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Socio-economic factors
Our older population is increasing more
quickly than in other parts of the country.
Between 2016 and 2040 the number of people
older than 85 living in Cornwall and the Isles of
Scilly will increase by 31 percent more than in
the rest of the UK. This will have a significant
impact on our services. While our population
generally live longer than the national average
(79.4 years for men and 83.1 years for women),
those who are generally poorer or who have
lower levels of education may have a shorter
life expectancy than their more affluent
neighbours. This gap is up to 5.7 years for men
and 5.2 years for women.
Despite growth in our economy we still face
the challenges of low earnings, high house
prices, the highest water bills in the UK,
and high transport costs. Nearly one in four
children aged younger than 19 are living in
poverty.
Some communities have large numbers of
people who are not in work, leading to
issues of deprivation, health inequalities,
(the unfair differences between different
populations caused by differences in where
people live and their social and economic
conditions), and community safety. According
to the Department for Communities and
Local Government around 68,600 people
(12.7 percent of our population) live in the
20 percent most ‘deprived’ communities in
England. This equates to approximately 34,400
households.
Tackling the issue of economic inactivity is
essential to improve health and wellbeing, and
also to our future economy. We are working
with business, voluntary, and community,
academic and local authority partners to
support those furthest from the labour market
into work.

Annual report and accounts 2017/18
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Research shows that we spend around 90
percent of our time indoors, with 65 percent
of this time spent in our homes. This can
create specific risks for the most vulnerable,
including the very young, elderly and infirm.
Poorly maintained homes, overcrowding,
fuel poverty, lack of home adaptations and
poor storage of household products are all
health risks. Exposure to these poor housing
conditions can cause a variety of conditions,
including allergies, asthma, depression and
anxiety, nausea, infections, hypothermia and
physical injury from accidents. It can also make
existing health conditions worse and make
treating health conditions more difficult, as
well as having a huge impact on the ability of
people to achieve their potential in education
or employment.
We are committed to working with our
partners to deliver a radical upgrade
in prevention, self-care and care in the
community so people can live well for longer,
supporting improved personal wellbeing, as
well as managing the significant cost pressures
of an ageing population upon our health and
care budgets.

You can read more about some of the work
that is being done to address the challenges
posed by poor health, housing and the wider
environment in the Director of Public Health’s
annual report.

Annual report and accounts 2017/18
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Shaping Our Future

There have been significant changes in the
way we live during the past 70 years. Many
of us now work long or irregular hours and
we don’t have the same support structures in
place as we did just a generation ago to look
after our loved ones if they become unwell.
These changes mean that our approach to
how health and care is provided has become
outdated, fragmented and reactive. We
are putting more focus and resources into
preventing ill health, keeping people out of
hospital and in their homes, and adapting
services for a growing, ageing and technologyenabled population. More of us are happy to
use technology to get simple answers about
our health if we know we don’t need to see a
doctor, to get test results sent to our phones
or to our email, and to use apps to help us to
better manage our health and other aspects of
our lives.
Patient satisfaction with their GP continues
to remain high, and, on most indicators in
the national patient survey, is better than
the England average, however, mirroring
the national picture, satisfaction is reducing
slightly as patient expectations and practice
workload increases. We need to make sure
our wider clinical and professional workforce,
such as our community pharmacists, nurses,
paramedics, and other support workers,
remain front and centre of our plans to
strengthen our health and care system.
We are working with people working in health
and care, the voluntary sector and people who

16

use services to develop plans to help us to
meet changing needs and improve care, at the
same time as managing our resources.
The aim of these plans, which we’ve called
Shaping Our Future, is to:
• Improve the health and wellbeing of our
population.
• Improve the quality of health and care
services.
• Deliver financial stability in our health and
care system.
Central to this new way of working is to
improve the ways we work to deliver health
and care as a more integrated system and
focus on improving people’s physical and
mental health and wellbeing. This reflects
what people have told us for many years
about the benefits of delivering and receiving
care in more joined up ways. It will help save
time and provide people with health and
care in the community where possible, and in
hospital where necessary, and get things done
more quickly and effectively.
We will work together more effectively so
we can ensure that everyone has a good
start in life and support to stay healthy and
live longer. We need to help people stay well
in their own communities, introduce new
services, and improve coordination between
those that already exist, and have all staff
working in the best way to meet people’s
needs. We also need to look at wider factors
which affect people’s health and wellbeing
such as education, employment and housing.

Annual report and accounts 2017/18
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Under our proposal we will work as an
Integrated Care System (ICS). This is not about
privatisation or takeovers - each organisation
will continue to work within its own existing
statutory framework – but is a commitment to
delivering health and care services in a more
joined up way. This means all partners can
assess the potential benefits and challenges
of a new system without the need to formally
change their existing structures which would
have meant diverting time and resources when
we need to focus on significantly improving
quality and delivering efficiencies as quickly as
possible. We believe this is the most pragmatic
approach and is most likely to secure a more
robust and sustainable solution.
A guiding principle of our work to develop
an ICS is to be open and transparent and
to encourage debate and discussion about
proposals as plans progress.
Last year we asked people for their views
about our initial proposals, and, following
their feedback, have been working with
clinicians and people who use our services to
develop our plans together for a new model
of care. You can read more about this on page
48.
At the time of writing, the four commissioners
(NHS Kernow, NHS England, Cornwall Council
and the Council of the Isles of Scilly) have
considered six options for the type of strategic
commissioning model we would like to adopt
for Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
They are:
1. Do nothing, retain existing strategic
commissioning arrangements.
2. Greater use of existing funding alignment
arrangements.
3. CCG as lead strategic commissioner.
4. Cornwall Council as lead strategic
commissioner.
5. CCG as lead strategic commissioner for
adults and Cornwall Council as lead
strategic commissioner for children and
young people.
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6. Working across the four organisations
through a new joint committee
arrangement.
We are looking at how we can improve
existing joint funding arrangements, such
as the Better Care Fund and Section 75
pooled budget arrangements, which will
allow organisations to retain their own
accountability.
Each of the four organisations has agreed that
their preferred option is to work towards the
final one above.
We recognise that some of these options
have raised concerns and we are putting in
checkpoints, or gateways, at each important
step to make sure everything we do remains
in the best interests of local people. This will
give us time to understand if our proposals
are the right ones and change our plans if
something isn’t working before we agree on
any proposed business case.
We will continue to make decisions having
discussed the proposals with our GP
membership and, where possible, with other
clinicians, to ensure our decisions have clinical
oversight and meet people’s needs. We are
expecting to receive a more detailed business
case no earlier than September 2018.
We have strengthened our links with patient
representatives by refocusing the attentions
of our former Patient Representative Group
(PRG) to provide independent, constructive
criticism and advice to the Shaping Our Future
team. The group, now renamed the Citizens’
Advisory Panel (CAP), includes 12 lay members
and is chaired by a lay member, who are
ensuring that people’s views are at the heart
of the redesign of our system.
By listening to people we have already made
changes to the way we deliver services in a
more joined-up way.
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“Our role is to think from the
perspective of a patient or a
member of the public and to be a
critical friend. Members have already been
involved in finding ways to get more PPGs
active in the county and shaping the new
Shaping Our Future website. We are now
looking at working with GP practices and
communities to develop community links
and social prescribing to start building the
new model of care from the ground up.”
Sally Turner, Chairman of Citizens Advisory
Panel
For example, some people turn straight to the
emergency department for help at weekends
and evenings, when they could be treated
more quickly by a GP or by one of our out
of hours services. We recognised we had to
make it easier for people to get the help they
needed as quickly as possible if we were to
reduce unnecessary hospital admissions, readmissions and attendance at the emergency
department. As a result we focused on
providing a more effective out of hours’
service and, in November 2017, launched our
new integrated NHS 111 and GP out of hours
service. The service is provided by a team of
doctors, nurses and specialist clinicians.
Anyone who calls the 24-hour free phone
service is put through to the right call
handler through the use of Interactive Voice
Recognition (IVR) technology. This gives callers
the choice of pressing a specific number
for the service they require, such as repeat
prescriptions, dental advice or talking to
someone about their condition. Calls are then
passed to the relevant call handler to manage
their query. This reduces call length and frees
up the call handler to answer the next call in
the queue.
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A rapid access service transfers calls from
anyone who is younger than five or older
than 80 straight through to a clinician to help
reduce the number of referrals to 999 and
the emergency department. The number of
111 calls referred to 999 was 14.0 percent,
compared to 16.9 percent for the same period
last year. The percentage of 111 calls referred
to minor injury units, urgent care centres and
emergency departments also reduced, from
5.4 percent in November, to 4.14 percent at the
end of December.
The service is going from strength to strength
and is only one of three areas in the country
that has consistently exceeded the national
target of answering all calls within 60 seconds.
“I have been impressed to
find that my calls have been
answered pretty quickly in
the first place, and that subsequently a
doctor or nurse has rung me back within
an hour or less. Also impressive has been
the fact that, as a result, arrangements
have been made for me to see a doctor at
Penrice within a couple of hours, twice at
weekends and twice late at night. I find it
greatly reassuring and it has been a great
relief, both to me and doubtless to A&E,
not to have to go near the always hard
pressed A&E on such occasions”
William
We have seen a reduction in the number of
people waiting in hospital for health and social
care support to be arranged before they can
return home, falling from a daily average of
174 in January 2017 to 95 in February 2018, of
which 88 were attributable to our local health
and care system, 12 below our target of 110.
We expect this figure to have reduced further
by the end of April. As well as helping to
reduce pressure on our hospitals, this is good
news for people and their families as clinical
evidence shows that most people recover more
quickly at home.
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These improvements have been achieved by the NHS, the councils, private care homes and home
care providers and the voluntary sector working together to make sure people who are ready
to leave hospital have the support and care they need in place before they go home. Although
our systems remain under pressure and we know that there is still more work to be done, these
successes show just what can be achieved when we combine forces in people’s best interests.
We are improving the way we communicate to make sure the public and our staff are informed
about the aims, progress and benefits of SOF.
Actions include:
• Developing a new website - www.shapingourfuture.info – to provide up-to-date information.
We have worked closely with members of our Citizens’ Advisory Panel to develop the
revamped website. There have been 11,019 page views of the website since October 2017.
• Creating a range of online content and news articles to publish online and for sharing with
the media: www.shapingourfuture.info/latest-news
• Publishing a bi-monthly e-newsletter to keep people updated with our work.
• Holding Transformation Board meetings in public. This committee is made up of all the
leaders of the major health and care organisations, including HealthWatch, and provides an
opportunity for issues and progress on work to be shared and debated.
Come and see us at the Royal Cornwall Show on June 7 to June 9 to find out more about what
we are doing and how you might want to get involved.

Wave one workshops
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Financial context
We have been working extremely hard to
address the financial challenges faced by both
our organisation and the wider health and
care system.
Following four consecutive years in which our
spending in-year was higher than the growth
monies we were receiving, we launched
a financial plan aimed at reducing waste
and duplication, addressing our deficit and
balancing our books by 2020/21.
Having saved £7 million (one percent) in
2015/2016 and a further £21 million (three
percent) in 2016/2017, our plan for this year
was to improve our delivery of savings to
four percent or nearly £30 million. However,
increasing demand for our services and
ongoing issues with the way some are
organised, meant that even if we met this
target we would still be facing a deficit of
£37.6 million. This is considerably higher than
the £19.9 million deficit we are permitted
under NHS England rules.
As set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning
Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 0.5
percent “headroom” reserve uncommitted
from the start of the year, created by setting
aside the monies that CCGs were otherwise
required to spend non-recurrently. This was
intended to be released for investment in Five
Year Forward View transformation priorities to
the extent that evidence emerged of risks not
arising or being effectively mitigated through
other means.
In the event, the national position across
the provider sector has been such that NHS
England has been unable to allow CCGs’ 0.5
percent non-recurrent monies to be spent.
Therefore, to comply with this requirement,
NHS Kernow has released its 0.5 percent
reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an
improvement in the forecast deficit by £3.7m.
20
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We now expect to end the financial year with
a reduced deficit of £33.2 million as a result
of transfer of reserves and improvements in
our prescribing spend. This means we have
delivered our financial plan for this year,
although we fully recognise the need for
further improvements in spending control.
We have continued to work to improve the
way we commission services. This year we have
seen a significant turnaround in spending in
some of our key areas which means that, for
the first time in our five year history, our year
on year increase in spending will be below the
growth monies we received. This has been a
major achievement and is the result of focused
and diligent efforts on the part of all of our
staff and our colleagues in primary care.
Although more work is needed to control our
spending on acute care, our spend on both
prescribing and continuing healthcare is now
more in line with the levels we should be
spending for the size of our population. While
this has sometimes meant taking difficult
decisions to reduce or remove services, more
often it has been about improving the way we
do things and doing the right things earlier.
Our focus on managing our finances more
effectively means we have been able to
commission new services, particularly in mental
health and primary care.
We have worked with CFT to open a new adult
acute mental health inpatient unit in Cornwall
this year, reducing the need for out of county
placements, and we have invested significantly
in our GP services.
Next year will see the £6 million additional
funding announced for the NHS post-budget
being spent on developing our mental health
services to reduce demand on acute services,
as well as improving the time people are
waiting for elective surgery.
In the time since we were placed under
Legal Direction and subject to a Capability
and Capacity Review, we have transformed
Annual report and accounts 2017/18
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our organisation and our processes. This has
helped to control costs, reduce expenditure
and deliver savings, but we need to ensure
that we continue on this path if we are to
deliver the commitment made jointly by
all health partners last year to address the
financial challenges facing us and deliver the
collaborative work needed to balance the NHS’
books by 2020/21.
We have been working with NHS Directors
of Finance at RCHT and CFT to produce our
system plan for next year. This is a significant
milestone, with the level of transparency and
partnership working a really positive move for
our health service.
If we achieve our approved deficit of £20
million we will receive a further £20 million

from NHS England which will see us break
even next year. This will be an amazing
achievement given our financial position two
years ago, but this is dependent on finding
£32 million savings next year. We recognise this
will be challenging but we are confident we
can deliver this by building on our work of the
past two years and the improvements we can
now see working. By sticking to our approach
of setting realistic plans, and achieving them,
improving our ways of working across the
system, and focusing on primary care, mental
health, and community services, we will be in a
much better place.
You can read more about how individual
teams have contributed to improving services
from page 22.

Better Payment Practice Code
We aim to ensure all our suppliers are paid promptly where there is a valid invoice. Our target is
to pay all NHS and non-NHS trade creditors within 30 calendar days of receiving goods or a valid
invoice (whichever is later) unless other payment terms have been agreed. We are on target to
achieve a 95 percent target on both NHS and non-NHS trade creditors.
We continue to encourage our suppliers to use the cost free e-invoicing solution ‘Tradeshift’
offered by SBS, our invoicing system, as this system significantly speeds up the processing of
invoices to payment at the same time as reducing charges from NHS SBS.
Our compliance against targets
Non-NHS payables: CCG
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of CCG non-NHS trade invoices paid
within target
NHS Payables: CCG
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of CCG NHS trade invoices paid
within target

2017/18
Number
‘000

2016/17
Number
‘000

21,570
21,173
98.16%

199,751
197,748
99.00%

24,510
23,766
96.96%

212,913
206,435
96.96%

3,878
3,755
97.34%

527,021
527,021
99.91%

3,833
3,694
96.37%

507,469
503,403
99.20%

We have exceeded our performance target of 95 percent on all metrics. Improvements in invoice
processing continue to be made as we actively encourage our providers and suppliers to use
electronic invoicing via Tradeshift.
Annual report and accounts 2017/18
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What have we been doing?
Clinical leadership
As a clinically-led organisation we are passionate to ensure everything we do involves strong
clinical and professional leadership.
We recognise that general practices are facing significant pressures, with increasing demand
and fewer GPs. Supporting our GPs to manage these changes and maintain strong primary care
services is a key priority.
To help achieve this we have been working to strengthen clinical leadership within the
organisation and to build on our relationships with our GP practices. We have worked with
health and care partners to ensure our clinical leadership roles and groups influence and support
the wider system transformation.
Specific actions include:
• Encouraging clinicians to use their experience to shape improvements that make sense.
• Offering training and development opportunities to improve their leadership skills.
• Working with our Clinical Leadership Group, made up of GPs and commissioners, to shape
the development of the primary and community services based in and around communities.
• Devolving the Locality Clinical Leadership budgets to support GP practices and community
teams to deliver improvements at a local level, allowing each area to decide how best to use
the funds to support their plans and to encourage wider clinical input.

Perinatal mental health services
We have been working with our staff, partners and with volunteers to develop the range of
services offered by the specialist perinatal team, and offer support closer to where people live.
Successful projects include:
• Working with volunteers with lived experience to set up craft based peer support groups
with support from the perinatal mental health team.
• Recruiting additional staff to the team to offer more people various therapies and treatment
closer to home.
• Celebrating the formal re-launch of the perinatal service at the Princess Alexandra Maternity
Wing at RCHT. The event, which was attended by clinicians, members of the public, peer
support workers and Outlook South West, was extensively covered by BBC Spotlight and BBC
Radio Cornwall.
• Two joint bids have been submitted to NHS England to further enhance the local perinatal
mental health service and increase workforce training and awareness in perinatal mental
health, and we are waiting for a decision on both bids.
“Would just like to say thank you for all you have both done and continue to do
for us as a family”
Plaudit from the family of a child with complex needs to the children’s team

22

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

Performance report

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Children and young people’s mental health
Research shows that one in 10 young people
will suffer some form of mental health
concern.
We want to ensure all children and young
people can access services which support their
emotional wellbeing and mental health. To
help us achieve this we have introduced a
range of innovative projects to raise awareness
of mental health issues and identify and
support children and young people at risk.
These include:
• Turning the Tide, our transformation plan
for Children and Adolescents Mental Health
Services (CAMHS). We have worked with
our partners in education, health and care
to identify and support people with mental
health issues.
• iThrive - part of our One Vision
transformation plan, the iThrive framework
sets out four key themes to improve
services during the next two years:
• Using a common language for mental
health.
• More coordinated support for people with
the most urgent and complex needs.
• Extending the reach of community mental
health support and the number of people
accessing it.
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Developing an early help partnership to
increase available resources and improve
early intervention. This project builds on
the west Penwith Bloom model which fills
the gap in provision for children and young
people with emotional, behavioural and
mental health problems who do not meet
the threshold for specialist NHS CAMHS.

“The wonderful Bloom project is
not so much a service but a way of
getting services to work together
around the needs of children, young people
and their families. Well done Cornwall.”
Clare Murdoch, national mental health
director for NHS England

We have also worked with children and young
people to produce a one page infographic of
our plan to show what has been achieved.
During the past 12 months we have provided
almost £1million for schemes to support the
transformation of CAMHS.
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These include:
• Funding a CFT-led project to support
children and young people with eating
disorders.
• Providing grants to voluntary and
community organisations to enable them
to use their specialist knowledge and
expertise to support targeted groups,
including:
• £24,000 to the Intercom Trust to
continue its work with young people
with gender identity and sexual
orientation needs.
• Supporting Addaction’s award winning
Mind and Body programme to deliver
training to raise awareness of self-harm
issues in schools and increase access to
one-to-one support.
• Funding Inspire Cornwall CiC and its
Dad’s Pad™ app to support new dads.
The app, the latest development in
a project developed in Cornwall as
part of the infant mental health and
better births strategy, is expected to
be available to young fathers with new
born children in 2018/19.
We are aiming to extend the reach of mental
health intervention, reduce waiting lists and
better manage crisis, in line with NHS England
targets, through:
• A new service improvement plan and
additional funding to CFT.
• Seeking external organisations to
provide more evidence-based therapeutic
interventions for children and young
people.
Together these innovative approaches will help
us to spot problems earlier and identify where
support is needed for mental health and
emotional wellbeing to help prevent problems
from becoming more serious and difficult to
deal with later in life. They will also ensure
that help is available for children and young
people when they need it.

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Telehealth
Improvements in the use of technology
means more people with a range of longterm conditions can manage their health from
home through the use of equipment such as
weight scales, blood pressure monitors, urine
sticks and fingertip pulse monitors. The person
takes readings such as blood pressure, blood
glucose levels and weight which are then sent
electronically to a clinician who will determine
what, if any, action, needs to be taken.
We are working with public health and
other colleagues to see how we can further
support people to manage their own health
conditions. We are setting up a countywide
self-management steering group to review
where the gaps are in providing support to
people and communities, looking at what
we do well so we can do more of this, and
identifying areas where we need to introduce
something different to provide other options
for self-management.

Diabetes
With an estimated 27,000 people living with
diabetes and a further 26,000 people at risk of
developing Type 2 diabetes, we are working
closely with our colleagues in public health
and primary, secondary and community care
on programmes to prevent diabetes and
support those living with the condition.
Our participation in the National Diabetes
Prevention Programme ‘Healthier You’ got off
to a really good start, with 1,300 people at risk
of developing diabetes taking up the offer of
help with their diet and exercise. You can read
more about the support here.

HEALTHIER YOU
NHS DIABETES PREVENTION PROGRAMME
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in primary and community care. This is being
used to roll out a programme of practice
education and to carry out work to identify
those people at highest risk in order to
support improving their care.

Mental health

National Quality in Care (QiC) awards
Our work to provide better and easier support
and care to people living with diabetes was
praised at last year’s prestigious National
Quality in Care (QiC) awards, with judges
presenting us with a commendation in the
“Patient Care Pathway – Adults” category.
We have worked with our partners to coproduce a virtual diabetes pathway which uses
technology to reduce the time patients have to
wait and travel to hospital appointments. First
piloted in north Kerrier, this pathway reduces
inconvenience for patients and brings their
care closer to home. You can read more here.
We have 100 percent participation by our
member GP practices in the Primary Care
National Diabetes Audit which is higher
than most areas. This allows us to identify
the number of people living with diabetes
who achieve the three key treatment targets
(HbA1C – a measure of blood sugar, blood
pressure and cholesterol). Achievement of
these targets is known to reduce the risk of
diabetic complications such as heart attack,
stroke, amputation, kidney disease and
blindness.
Our results show that we need to improve
the number of people achieving these targets
and we were successful in our bid to secure
some additional funding to support this work
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We have been working hard to ensure that
people with mental health problems who
need inpatient care (a stay in hospital) don’t
need to go out of county for their care and,
wherever possible, don’t need to be admitted
to hospital at all by continuing to develop
services to provide the care they need at
home. We have been developing services
for people who require early intervention,
evidence based care and integrated support to
achieve personal recovery.
We have worked with councils and other key
partners, including HealthWatch Cornwall, to
co-produce our draft Mental Health Delivery
Plan. This plan sets our strategic and tactical
objectives and explains how we will meet the
recommendations of NHS England’s Five Year
Forward View for Mental Health.
Key achievements include:
• Opening of Cove Ward, Redruth: A new
12 bedded rehabilitation and step down
unit commissioned via CFT to support
people with complex needs to safely and
confidently return back into the community
and stop all non-specialist out of area
placements by providing local solutions.
“My team and I are excited to
be opening the door to patients.
We hope that by keeping people
close to their family, friends and support
networks and providing practical support to
help get them back home and back on track
with their recovery.”
Joby Plant, ward manager

25

Performance report

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Opening of the Cove Ward

•

Crisis Café pilot: This project has been highly successful in helping to reduce crisis, avert
admissions and build community resilience. Work is now underway to plan the expansion of
the pilot across Cornwall.
• CORE24: This transformation programme to provide round the clock specialist mental health
provision across both the emergency department and wards at RCHT is on target to be
delivered ahead of the national deadline. The service was fully operational on 1 May 2018,
and meeting national performance standards by March 2019, well ahead of the 2020/21
target period.
• Multi-agency Crisis Care Concordat group: Following a review of its plans, the group has set
its key objectives for 2018/19.
• Crisis Resolution Home Treatment services: Using the results of the service assessment to
inform future development and continue to provide safe and responsive services and ensure
integrated care within the acute care system as a whole.
• Jointly developing a streamlined process for joint funding packages of care (JPOC): This
collaboration with Cornwall Council and CFT has resulted in improved response times for
funding g decisions for requested care packages for adults that require joint health and social
care funding contributions. The process ensures that requested packages are safe, robust
and meet the needs of the individual with clearly defined timescales for reviews. A panel
meets every three weeks and considers new applications from practitioners and reviews
commissioned packages of care to provide assurance that the package continues to meet
need and inform future strategic commissioning.

“There are some really terrific things going on in mental health services in
Cornwall. There is a great foundation to build on, with examples of great
partnership between the CCG and the Trust. Well done Cornwall”
Claire Murdoch, national mental health director for NHS England
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One successful project is the Valued Lives
crisis service, which offers emergency out of
hours care and support to people who are
in distress due to mental ill-health. As well
as 1:1 crisis support, the service, which runs
seven evenings a week, also provides a group
environment, which is a safe place for informal
drop in support and company.
Comments from service users include:
•
•

•
•

“Valued Lives have been a wonderful
support - I have my sparkle back!”
“Valued Lives has been an amazing safe
space, somewhere to turn to, to have
people believe in you, value you, support
you, have faith in you + help you overcome
the obstacles that you thought were there”.
“Gosh - some times when one gives up all
hope... people are there for you!…”
”You have helped me turn my life around.”

Improving Access to
Psychological Therapies
We have achieved significant improvements
during the past six months and are now
meeting all the national performance
targets. More people are being seen, and
supported to reach clinical recovery. Support
is also available for people with a long term
condition, with a pilot project in place offering
tailor made, on-line support for those with
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD),
diabetes, chronic pain or coronary heart
disease (CHD).
We will be evaluating the effectiveness of the
pilot in offering alternatives to face-to face
appointments for those who either cannot
access service close to home (i.e. those in
remote geographical areas such as the Isles of
Scilly) or those who may want to use an online
platform instead.

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

Performance report
Other improvements include the introduction
of a Behavioural Insights’ pilot which aims
to support greater engagement and reduce
the numbers of people dropping out whilst
waiting for their therapy, and improved
partnership working with agencies to enhance
the suicide bereavement pathway.
As well as developing all these projects further
during the next 12 months we will also be
focusing on gaining a greater understanding
on the experience of people using our services
and the concept of self-management and
resilience.

Domestic Abuse Sexual
Violence Community Services
During the past year we have successfully
re-procured our Domestic Abuse Sexual
Violence Community Services, achieving best
practice joint commissioning in line with NHSE
guidelines across four commissioners (council
– lead, CCG, Office of the Police and Crime
Commissioner (OPCC), NHSE).

Learning disability services
One of our key aims is to ensure that the
voices of people with learning disabilities and
their families and carers are heard by those
who commission and provide services. To help
achieve this we have been working with the
Transforming Care Partnership Family Carer
group to produce a new Charter. We will be
encouraging as many agencies as possible
to become co-signatories to the Charter
which will be available to all providers and
commissioners of care for people with learning
disabilities.
Other achievements include working with
Cornwall Council to successfully apply for NHS
funding to buy and furnish a house locally
and employ a team of carers to enable an
individual to return to live in Cornwall close to
their family after spending a number of years
in a secure hospital out of the area.
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We are continuing to commission Learning
Disability Liaison services in RCHT, with a year
on year increase in the number of people
accessing the service to ensure safer and
better quality care while they are inpatients
at Treliske and West Cornwall hospitals. The
service was also a nominee for the Nursing
Standard Awards in 2017.
We are also exceeding the target for reducing
inpatient admissions for people with learning
disabilities and autism into “out of area”
hospitals. Working with partner agencies,
we have ensured that all those who are in
specialist hospitals are receiving in-depth
reviews and person centred plans to ensure
that they can return home as soon as their
treatment has finished.

Dementia
More than 4,600 people over 65 years of age
in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly currently
have a diagnosis of dementia. However we
believe that the true figure is likely to be
much higher with around 4,000 more people
thought to be without a formal diagnosis.
Our diagnosis rate of 55 percent remains
below the national target of 67 percent. There
are a number of reasons for this low diagnosis
rate, including people not wanting to seek
help because of fears of the stigma of having
dementia, or GPs not wanting to diagnose
people if they feel a diagnosis won’t change
their care or there are no services to refer
on to. We believe, however, that a formal
diagnosis can support people to get the care
and help both they and their families need.
We are committed to ensuring that people
receive help and support and have worked
with a national team to review our services
and pathways to identify areas requiring
improvement. We also spoke to people who
have personal experiences of living with
dementia to provide an insight into how it
feels getting a dementia diagnosis.
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Alzheimer’s Society helped to identify 30
people living with dementia and asked them
if they would work with us to share their
thoughts and experiences to help improve
the services and support we offer. The
response from volunteers to this greater focus
on diagnosis has been very positive, with
comments including:
•
•

“Need a strong umbrella to join up the
vast amounts of good work going on’’.
“It was a weight lifted off my mind when I
got my diagnosis”.

The volunteers have also welcomed the
opportunity to help shape future dementia
services. Following an initial meeting it was
agreed to continue with the group which has
been named “Dementia Matters. The aim of
the group is to provide a forum for people
with a diagnosis and their families to talk
openly and honestly about the condition, to
share information about their experiences
and the services which are available and their
experiences and raise wider public awareness.
As well as working with our partners to
improve the diagnosis of dementia, we also
want to improve the level of support people
receive once a diagnosis has been made.
This means ensuring that the assessment
and diagnosis is carried out in a clinically
safe manner. The process of diagnosis can be
complex and take time and it is important to
us that we continue to do this correctly.
We are continuing to encourage, support and
promote health and care professionals and
members of the public to be aware of the
early signs of dementia so people can seek
help for themselves and their family members.
We are also using our Dementia Roadmap, a
single website, to document all the relevant
policies, research and support services and
information to help people to navigate our
health and care system.
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We know that community groups provide a
vital lifeline and support network. We are
working with Cornwall Council to provide
community grants to help groups run memory
cafés to provide a safe, friendly and inclusive
environment for people living with dementia
and their families and carers to meet others.
Some of the things people have told us about
community dementia cafés include:
•

•
•

“Attending the group is a real treat - well
organised, fun and laughter, different
activities, excellent food. A fantastic
afternoon.”
“An excellent occasion and good
entertainment. What would I do without
you all?”
“Lovely afternoon, felt I was someone
special, lifted my spirit and enjoyed
everything, company and games.”

Better Care Fund
Our Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) has
been used to reduce the pressure on our
urgent care services, as set out above.
These services are supported by two further
programmes - the provision of 17 beds in
nursing homes to provide enhanced reenablement support and / or support for
anyone who is approaching the end of
their life or has a dementia diagnosis; and
embedding CFT’s SAFER strategy and reenablement of people as a core offering in
their service provision and ward based care.

Home First / Discharge to
Assess
Building on the process started in 2016/2017,
we have worked with Cornwall Council, RCHT
and CFT to develop and deliver a ‘Discharge
to Assess’ programme to provide the best
possible and most sustainable outcomes for
people.
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This programme has been clinically-led by
nurses, physiotherapists and occupational
therapists with the key aim of stabilising
people presenting with health issues and
returning them safely to their homes, with
support, as quickly as possible.

NHS Continuing Healthcare
As the costs of providing residential and
nursing care continue to increase, we recognise
that the decision over who is responsible for
funding care is vitally important to people
and their carers and families. We take our
responsibility for determining whether
someone is eligible for NHS Continuing
Healthcare (NHS CHC) very seriously and have
been working with partners and clinicians
to ensure that the process for making these
decisions is fair and efficient.
A package of care for people aged 18 and
older, NHS CHC is arranged and funded
solely by the NHS. All assessments are
carried out by clinically qualified staff using
a legally prescribed decision making process
to determine whether the individual has
a ‘primary health need’ and is therefore
eligible for NHS funding. During the past
12 months we have introduced a number of
improvements to the service to improve and
streamline processes at a local level to ensure
people are assessed appropriately.
These include:
• Reviewing and monitoring how staff
carry out referrals and assessments, the
process for fast track (end of life care) and
spending levels. As a result of this review
we have made changes to the training
delivered to acute/community hospitals
and the method of completing the CHC
checklist, introduced a new fast track tool
to support a reduction in the number of
inappropriate referrals, and increased
the availability of community clinicians to
provide advice when appropriate.
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Involving clinicians in the referral process
to ensure, where possible, assessments are
made and completed as quickly as possible,
particularly where they support end-oflife care decisions, and to provide clear
accountability for decision-making. We also
try wherever possible to support people to
receive care in their preferred residence.
Working with Cornwall Council and CFT to
support the new joint assessment system
which enables people to be discharged
from hospital direct to a care home where
they are then assessed by social care and
community nursing staff. This approach has
led to a significant reduction in delayed
transfers of care and enabled us to work
more closely with patients, their carers and
their families to ensure they are involved
in decisions about their care. Recruiting
a review team to significantly improve
the backlog of overdue assessments and
reviews for people awaiting a decision on
funding for CHC and NHS-funded nursing
care.
Improving our reporting system to produce
more accurate data reporting on our NHS
CHC performance.
Establishing a more responsive approach to
managing requests which aims to eliminate
delays in discharging people from hospital
who are awaiting assessment.
Basing a clinical manager at RCHT in
Truro once a week to provide advice and
decisions on supporting people to be
discharged from hospital.

These improvements have helped us to build
more effective and meaningful relationships
across our system, and have also provided
expert advice on NHS CHC assessments,
reduced inappropriate referrals and supported
health and social staff to make appropriate
decisions about people’s care to reduce delays
and help get people home from hospital.

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Personal Health Budgets/
Integrated Personal
Commissioning
A personal health budget is a sum of money
which can be used to support a person’s
identified health and wellbeing needs and give
them a say in the kind of care and support
they receive.
Designed to give someone with a long-term
condition and / or a disability greater choice,
flexibility and control during the care and
support they receive, funding is based around
a care plan which must be agreed between
the person and their NHS team.
Anyone who is eligible for NHS CHC has the
right to ask for a personal health budget,
including a direct payment where someone
is given cash payments to buy and manage
services themselves. Details of the programme
are monitored by our Governing Body and
reported to NHS England.
The budget does not have to be spent on
traditional clinical services such as therapies
and nursing care - the person receiving the
budget could choose to spend it on social
activities such as meal planning or wellbeing
services such as gym membership, a computer
or art classes. All care plans have to be signed
off by a clinician.
In Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly there are
37 adults and one child receiving CHC, with a
further eight adults who are supported by a
personal health budget. They are all extremely
positive about their experience, reporting they
have greater control over their health and
care and have reduced their reliance on health
services.
We want to build on this success and are
reviewing our personal health budget
programme to ensure that we can deliver this.
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Case study
One person who is definitely benefiting from a personal
health budget is 20 year old Jonathon Inkin from Callington
who was diagnosed with the life-limiting muscle condition
known as Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy when he was two
and a half years old. The condition affects all of his muscles,
including his heart and lungs, and, as it has progressed,
Jonathan has endured numerous operations and now uses
a wheelchair. Jonathon was given a personal health budget
two years ago and says it has provided the catalyst for him
to make the most of his life. He will be using some of the
funding to attend a concert by one of his favourite singers Ed
Sheeran in Cardiff later this year and says that the scheme has
transformed his life by giving him the support to do the things
he wants to do when he wants to do them.

End of Life Care
People reaching the end of their lives have the right to receive high quality care which meets
their needs.
Our multi-agency End of Life (EOL) Strategy Board meets regularly to provide a forum to discuss
and agree our priorities. It is vital to ensure there is a consistent approach to providing EOL
education and training across all care sectors and we have set up an education sub-group where
the councils, acute and community services, hospices and the voluntary and community sector
can share ideas and resources.
During the past 12 months we have been developing a digital shared care plan and register for
people who are at the end of their life. This plan, which will be implemented across Cornwall
and the Isles of Scilly during the coming year, will provide one single record of someone’s needs
and preferences for the care they want to receive. It means they only have to tell their story once
rather than repeating it to lots of different agencies. We launched a formal procurement process
in January and are now selecting a preferred provider.
We have developed a new approach to providing support for people who are at the end of their
life. Following feedback, we trialled some changes to an overnight nursing service provided by
Marie Curie. An early review of these changes shows that people are being supported more
appropriately, with a higher number now able to access care at short notice. You can find out
more on page 48.
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Primary Care
Delivering the GP Forward View
With GPs facing increasing pressures on their time and resources, we have been working
with our partners to identify ways in which we can help our practices to work as effectively
as possible to release more time to invest in care, meet people’s needs and improve patient
experience.
Our primary care team is structured across four main areas of work, with teams that work
together with partners to deliver support. These areas are locality development, information
management and technology (IM&T), prescribing and primary care commissioning.
Using the GP Forward View (GPFV), published by NHS England, which sets out a number of
national initiatives which need to be locally delivered, we have worked with NHS England, the
Local Medical Committee, Local Pharmaceutical Committee, Kernow Health CIC and CCG teams
to establish a new primary care programme which identifies key priorities for primary care work
to support SOF.
This focuses on three main areas:

General practice
resilience.

Improving quality and
efficiency.

Transforming general
practice to lead
the development
of integrated care
communities.

Supporting these aims are specific initiatives relating to staffing, workload, information
technology, estates, investments and care models.

Locality development
Our GP locality leads are supported by our
locality development team.
We have continued to focus on building
resilience in our GP surgeries. Workforce issues
for general practice are becoming more acute
as increasing numbers of GPs and practice
nurses retire; more than those joining this
profession. Younger doctors are also seeking
salaried, or portfolio careers where they do
a range of jobs for different organisations,
rather than becoming partners in individual
practices. This, coupled with an increase in
workload, has been a particular problem this
32

year and there have been a couple of general
practice contract changes recently, and some
remaining practice resilience issues.
Despite these pressures the quality of general
practice remains high, with Care Quality
Commission ratings across Cornwall and the
Isles of Scilly either ‘outstanding’ or ‘good’ and
higher than average patient survey results –
90 percent of patients who responded to last
year’s survey described their experience of
their GP surgery as ‘good’, compared with 85
percent nationally.
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During the past 12 months we have
encouraged practices to work collaboratively
with other practices and with practitioners
from the wider community teams, social care,
the voluntary sector and communities to help
build resilience.
This has resulted in a number of positive
improvements, with some practices
establishing organisations that can provide
services and employ practitioners across a
cluster of practices. Others have increased
their skills mix to include advanced nurse
practitioners, emergency care practitioners

Performance report
and pharmacists, or are running pilots where
physiotherapists work in the practice and
see patients for musculoskeletal conditions.
Active sign-posting is being rolled out
where receptionists are trained to seek more
information from people calling the surgery
so that they can suggest suitable alternatives
(eg a pharmacy) or interest people in social
activities.
Examples of successful integration between
general practice, community nurses and the
voluntary sector include:

Ludgvan Centipede Club
Centipede clubs: These clubs, set up by the voluntary sector, provide a social setting for people
with leg ulcers – a condition that requires lots of time from a nurse to have dressings changed
and where healing time is slow and recurrence is common. The social aspect allows people to
come together to have their treatments but also to meet new friends and take part in activities
such as having lunch. Benefits include improved healing and recurrence rates and closer working
among nursing teams, resulting in greater interaction with colleagues and patients, and
improved skills transfer. We are delighted with the positive results and are keen to see these
clubs become the new model of care and social interaction for a number of conditions.
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House of Bricks (Penwith): Penwith’s history as the base for Pioneer status and the Living Well
programme means that it has been at the forefront of innovation for a number of years. The
House of Bricks project grew from a local analogy comparing Pioneer status with a house of
paper which, as it was largely aspirational and not supported by funding, eventually ‘blew
down’. Partners then built a house of sticks through the Living Well project. Although they
learnt a huge amount from this project there were still some gaps. All of this learning is now
being used to build a house of bricks, one brick at a time, ensuring longevity and sustainability.

The visual, which is being used to engage with stakeholders, has led to the development of
the north Kerrier Engine House, the south Kerrier Lighthouse, and visuals for other localities,
including the Newquay Breaking Waves project.
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Information management and
technology (IM&T)

•

GPs have millions of interactions with their
patients every week of the year. Effective IM&T
systems are vital to record and support these
interactions.
GP practices have already led the way
in moving from paper to digital record
keeping and are now well on the way to
offering online transactions, such as repeat
prescriptions. Nearly 70 percent of practices
are routinely using ePrescribing (ePS), with 30
percent planning to offer people the option of
online consultations from April 2018.
Enabling appropriate information flow
between care providers, and between care
providers and patients, is a key ambition
to enhance people’s experience of services.
During 2017/18 we have worked with our 62
practices to develop a number of new and
exciting projects to help achieve this.
These include:
• GP Connect: This project, which is designed
to improve access to general practice
records, enables a GP in one practice to
view and share a patient’s record with
another practice, when appropriate, and
also improves the controlled access by
secondary care colleagues to the full record.
We were chosen as a “First of Type” area
for NHS Digital’s Digital Interoperability
project, and have carried out a number of
highly successful demonstrations with EMIS
and Microtest practices. Live trials of the
system are now taking place and we plan
to test it with practices by July 2018.
• Electronic records transfer: 95 percent of
Cornish and Isles of Scilly practices now
use the GP-2-GP system which allows the
electronic health records of people wishing
to change their doctor to be transferred
directly, securely, and quickly between their
old and new practices. This improves care
by making full and detailed medical records
available to practices for a new person's
first and later consultations.
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Document Management System (DMS)
pilot: we have been working with PHNT
and partners in east Cornwall to develop
this new system to support the digital
sharing of documents for discharge
summaries, clinic appointments and
consultants’ letters. The pilot is now being
deployed to the 14 EMIS practices in
Cornwall to exploit the tight integration
with the clinical system, and we are also
developing an interface for a further 38
practices.
Improved telephony: We successfully
secured external funding to invest in
upgrading and improving telephony
systems at 15 GP practices. The new
system, which includes the creation of a
cloud-based telephony solution in north
Kerrier which allows staff to use telephone
services wherever they log in, has proved
particularly useful for staff working at
different sites and is supporting the
development of new models of care and
improved access.
Upgrading network connectivity: low
bandwidth to GP practices remains one
of our biggest technology infrastructure
challenges. We have carried out work
to improve network performances for
the worst hit practices, with six practices
having their N3 (NHS Network) connections
upgraded (typically going from 2Mb to
100Mb).
New NHS network: As a longer term
solution the NHS network is due to be
replaced by the Health and Social Care
Network (HSCN), with a new provider due
to be in place by June 2018 and the transfer
to the new network completed by the end
of 2019.
Wi-fi rollout: We began our planned roll
of wi-fi to the majority of GP practices
earlier this year, with all surgeries due to be
connected by the end of April 2018.
Summary Care Record: Information sharing
agreements are in place for all practices,
with 100 percent now enabled to use the
Summary Care Record.
IT equipment: We are continuing to replace
and update desktops, printers and servers.
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Medicines optimisation /
prescribing

•

Our team of pharmacists, prescribing support
technicians, information management staff
and a dietician provide direct support to GP
practices to improve the quality of prescribing
and value for money.

•

As a result of our commitment to managing
our budgets more effectively to release
more funding for care, we have successfully
controlled our prescribing cost growth which
is now well below the national average and
one of the lowest in the south of England.
This means we are on track to spend less
on prescribing this year at the same time as
ensuring that all people have access to the
medications they need.
We have worked on a number of successful
schemes to improve safety and reduce costs
and are on target to deliver predicted savings
of £4.7 million.
These include:
• Cost effective prescribing: Cost effective
choices and optimising prescribing choices.
• Rationalising prescribing: Self-care
emollient review, chronic pain co-codamol
in frail elderly review and national
consultation on low value items.
• New models of supply: Enteral feeds and
dressings.
Other successes include:
• Achieving the antimicrobial resistance
(AMR) targets set by NHS England
to reduce the number of antibiotics
prescribed in primary care and appropriate
management of urinary tract infections.
• Writing and publishing a research paper
about the role of community pharmacists
and antimicrobial stewardship: Community
pharmacists and antimicrobial stewardship
– what is their role? (Michael Wilcock,
Kathryn Wisner, Fiona Lee).
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•

Receiving a medicines safety award at the
Eclipse conference in November 2017 for
effective monitoring of disease modifying
anti-rheumatic drugs.
Providing training for the medicines
coordinator role within GP practices to
support electronic solutions (EPS/eRD),
promoting key messages and sign posting
resources to encourage self-care.
Maintaining strong links with community
pharmacies to promote the minor ailments
scheme and emergency supply service
to the public to save them having to use
the out of hours GP service, emergency
department or minor injuries services.
This has included supporting the
communications team to arrange interviews
with the media and share messages on
social media.

Planned care
We continue to see high demand for our
elective care services and have introduced new
systems to improve the way we manage this
demand.
Under the new lumbar spine pathway
people visiting their GP with low back pain
are now referred to a community-based
MSK Spinal Interface service for assessment.
This is supported by a multi-disciplinary
team (MDT) led by pain management and
spinal surgery consultants and specialist
physiotherapists. Launched at the end
of 2017, the monthly MDT discussed
77 patients from November to January
2018, with the team referring 20 patients
to a spinal surgeon and four to a pain
management consultant. Prior to this, the
majority of these patients would have been
referred straight to secondary care - either
to pain management or to spinal surgery
services. They now have direct access to a
range of treatments, including injections,
medication review, physiotherapy and
surgical reviews at a much earlier stage –
enabling them to receive help more quickly
and reducing waiting times for those who
need surgery.
Annual report and accounts 2017/18
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Specific improvements include:
• A new plan to transform maternity services
and birth experiences for women will be
implemented during the next 12 months.
• A new NHS-funded non-emergency patient
transport service based on a new service
specification and quality requirements
which was developed following a 12 week
consultation. Tenders from potential
providers are being assessed and the
contract is due to begin on 1 April 2019.
• A new pathway for people with
musculoskeletal problems to access services
and support. Developed with providers,
primary care colleagues and partners, this
will be offered to people later this year.
• An audiology ‘any qualified provider’
procurement process.
• Improvements to our spinal service pathway
to enable people to get help quicker and
reduce waiting times for people who need
surgery.
• Working with RCHT’s pathology
department to roll out a new `ordercomms`
system which will make it quicker for
people to get the results of pathology tests
by allowing GPs to order pathology tests
electronically and access results.
• Replacing our Elective Care Board with a
system wide Planned Care Delivery Board as
part of our commitment to create a joinedup health and care system.
• Reviewing our commissioning policies
and completing a benchmarking exercise
against other CCGs. We are working closely
with the Cornwall Referral Management
Service and Devon Referral Support Services
to ensure these policies are reflected in
our referral guidelines and this work will
continue into 2018/2019.
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Comments from patients:
•

•

“Thank you so much for our recent
appointment. I am controlling my pain so
much better - I really appreciate all your
support and I think the spinal interface
clinic is a valuable asset to the NHS".
"Thank you so much for all your help,
recognising the problem with my back
so quickly and getting the help I needed
which was surgery. I cannot explain what
this has meant for me."

RightCare
During the past twelve months we have
continued to work with our secondary care
providers, GPs and public health colleagues
to use the information and data provided
through our RightCare programme to improve
health and outcomes for the people of
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
RightCare was introduced by NHS England
as part of a five year programme aimed at
ensuring that people can access the right
care, in the right place at the right time.
By helping local healthcare organisations
understand how and where their money is
spent, the programme identifies variations
in the way services and care are delivered in
different areas which cannot be explained
by differences in illness levels or patient
preferences. These unwarranted variations not
only waste valuable resources and duplicate
work for clinicians; they also offer lower-value
care to people.
We initially focused our attention on making
improvements to the way we commission
services for people needing treatment for
musculoskeletal hip and knee problems,
coronary heart disease and diabetes.
This involved working closely with GPs,
physiotherapists, surgeons and nurses, and the
public to help us understand how people were
accessing these services, what was working
and what wasn’t and what a service should
look like in the future.
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Our first major achievement has been in our
musculoskeletal service. After looking at
the data to understand how the service was
operating, we spoke to people experiencing
problems with their hips or knees and to RCHT
and PHNT surgeons, CFT, NEW Devon CCG,
physiotherapists and GPs to identify how we
could provide better support and care in the
future.
As a result we have developed a new hip and
knee pathway which will provide easier and
simpler management, therapy and treatment
for these common musculoskeletal conditions.
By helping people to better understand the
different treatment options open to them
and making better use of technology, we can
ensure those people who require surgery are
better prepared and fit – benefiting both
themselves and clinicians.
Following the formal approval of the pathway
and funding for the changes to the service,
we will now be working with our partners
to deliver it during the coming months
and looking at how we can make similar
improvements to other pathways.

Referral Management Service
(RMS)
During the past 12 months we have processed
approximately 120,000 referrals from GP
practices, which is a slight reduction on
2016/17. We are reviewing our referral
guidelines and developing new guidelines for
different specialties, including general surgery.
.
In line with the national directive for a
paperless NHS, we have worked with the main
providers to develop processes to support 100
percent use of e-RS for consultant-led services
from April 2018.
We have focused on reducing inappropriate
demand and improving referral quality within
general practice and have worked closely with
Kernow Health CIC since December 2017.
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Individual Funding Requests
We recognise the importance of responding to
requests for drugs and treatments which are
not usually funded by the NHS as quickly and
effectively as possible to minimise the impact
on people and their families and prevent
delays in providing treatments.
We have a legal duty to consider such
applications from the public and during the
past year we have handled 211 requests.
We ensure all applications are considered
carefully and in line with national guidelines
and that clinicians are fully involved in making
the final decisions based on evidence.
It is important that decisions are fair and
consistent to ensure that one individual does
not gain an unfair advantage over another
who may not receive similar treatment. We
always ensure we explain the decision clearly
to the applicant.

Transforming urgent and
emergency care
The numbers of people using urgent and
emergency care services has continued to rise.
While this is partly because people are getting
older and have multiple, complex conditions,
we know that many have been accessing
emergency care in hospitals in part because
they can’t get the service they want near to
home when they want it.
Uniting the NHS 111 and the GP out of hours
services into our new integrated service is
helping to achieve better outcomes for people
and ensure that they are offered treatment in
the most appropriate setting, close to home
wherever possible.
Continuing increases in the numbers of people
arriving at the Emergency Department,
together with winter pressures and ongoing
delays in arranging care packages for people

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

ready to leave hospital, meant that RCHT did
not meet the target of 95 percent of people
being seen and treated within four hours of
arriving at the Emergency Department. These
pressures also meant delays in ambulance
handovers, and led to an increase in the
number of people waiting more than 18 weeks
for routine treatment due to the unavailability
of beds.
To help address these issues a system wide
Incident Control Command Centre, involving
representatives from all health and care
sectors, was set up at the beginning of March.
Actions included providing an enhanced crisis
response to keep patients safe and healthy at
home, with 999 crews calling the patient’s GP
first to see if admission could be avoided; more
GP support for nursing homes and patients at
home to assess medical conditions quickly and
provide care out of hospital; increased support
for teams discharging patients from acute
and community hospitals and increased senior
clinical review in the Emergency Department
to avoid admissions. Extra support vehicles
were also used to free up ambulance crews,
with additional drivers from the voluntary
sector getting people home from hospital in
the evening and at weekends.
A continued focus on tackling delayed
transfers of care also helped to reduce the
pressure on our acute hospitals, with the
average number of people delayed per day
down to 95 in February 2018, compared with
174 people per day in July 2017. Of these 88
were attributable to our local health and care
system, 12 below our target of 110. All parts
of the system are continuing to work together
with the aim of further reducing this figure as
it remains high compared to other parts of the
country.
Specific actions included the development of
a team of 48 generic support workers who
provide a 14-day care package to patients.
This can include some personal care but
mainly focuses on providing prescribed
physiotherapy support to help patients regain
their independence. After the initial period
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the patient may have no further needs, or
could require ongoing support which is then
provided by the NHS or Cornwall Council.
We have introduced dedicated nursing and
social care staff and assessors who support
care homes to agree the level of care and
support, if any, someone needs. This means
the individual’s hospital bed is freed up for
someone else who needs it and they can get
home as quickly as possible, with support in
place if required to ensure they don’t end
up back in hospital. A project to increase
capacity in the home care market has also
seen an eight percent increase in the number
of packages of domiciliary care commissioned
from independent providers during the past 12
months.
Other actions include:
• CFT introduced community hospital-based
progress coordinators aligned to staff
that are responsible for patient flow. The
coordinators also attend multi-disciplinary
team meetings to improve the timeliness of
actions to support discharge.
• Cornwall Council employed a new
dedicated service manager in the hospital
team to strengthen the work between
health and social care when deciding if
someone is ready to leave hospital.
• The community beds at Camborne,
Launceston and Falmouth re-opened to
provide additional care and support for
people who are well enough to leave
the acute hospital but still need further
inpatient care before they can return home.
• Kernow Health CIC, CFT and RCHT working
together to identify people who could
go home earlier if a guaranteed followup telephone call or home visit could be
provided by the 111 service.
These improvements have been achieved by
all partners working together to make sure
people who are ready to leave hospital have
the support and care they need in place before
they go home.
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Improving quality and safety
Safeguarding adults
Everyone has the right to live their lives free
from abuse and neglect and we work with the
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Safeguarding Adults
Board to ensure we protect adults with care
and support needs.
As lead commissioners we need to deliver
accountable commissioning and meet the
requirements set out in the Care Act by
ensuring people within the services we
commission remain safe and well cared for. To
help us to achieve this we have introduced a
number of improvements to our safeguarding
processes during the past 12 months.
These include:
• Development of a new mental capacity
lead: This role will ensure all aspects
of Mental Capacity Act legislation are
embedded in our work, and that of our
providers.
• Improved multi-agency working: Closer
working with the Safeguarding Adults
Board and sub groups is delivering more
effective multi-agency policy development
and implementation and the sharing
of learning from safeguarding adults
reviews, providing professional challenge
as required to ensure correct learning and
improvement is identified.
• Revised governance arrangements: This has
helped to embed adult safeguarding more
effectively within the organisation, with
an executive lead and a Governing Body
member providing a stronger link between
the adult safeguarding leads and the
Governing Body and posing constructive
challenge during team meetings to ensure
the best outcomes.
In 2017 we agreed to work with the
Safeguarding Adults Board in order to deliver
the ambitious programme we have set
ourselves.
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“Leanne Baker from NHS
Kernow’s communications team
is a fantastic example of bringing
this ethos to life, and she has produced
some brilliant products that directly
support delivery of our business plan. On
behalf of the Board I want to thank Leanne
for her support I am delighted to have the
opportunity to work with her.”
Sarah Scoltock, Safeguarding Adults Board

Safeguarding children
Keeping our children and young people safe is
everyone’s responsibility.
We are fully committed to working with
partners to promote, safeguard and protect
the welfare of children and young people.
This includes issues relating to child sexual
exploitation, neglect, emotional wellbeing,
mental health, domestic abuse and child sexual
abuse.
This means ensuring our own organisational
structures and governance arrangements
support the effective discharge of our
responsibility. We only commission
organisations which have safeguarding systems
in place and reflect Section 11 of the Children
Act 2004 encompassing clear, accessible
policies and procedures, including safer
recruitment, training and governance systems.
In response to the Alan Wood Report on
safeguarding children boards, our Chief
Nursing Officer is a member of the Cornwall
and Isles of Scilly Safeguarding Children
Partnership (CIOSOSCP), previously known as
the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board.
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In February 2017, the Safeguarding Children
Partnership Quality Assurance and Scrutiny
Panel reviewed the action plan written in
2016 following a review of our safeguarding
arrangements. We are continuing to develop
our plan to implement the remaining six of the
14 recommendations that were made at that
time.
Last year’s review identified a number of
areas requiring further improvement. These
included having a safeguarding strategy
in place, strengthening staffing within the
team by recruiting for a designated nurse for
safeguarding children and children in care,
and ensuring safeguarding is included as a
standing item on both the board’s and Quality
and Performance committee meeting agendas.
These issues were all completed by March
2018.
Our safeguarding strategy will now be used
to raise awareness of safeguarding and
remind people that safeguarding is everyone’s
business, and encourage continuous
improvement and compliance with national
and local policies.
An Assurance Review of Safeguarding
carried out by auditors TIAA in November
acknowledged the progress we have made
during the past year to develop and embed
our safeguarding process, but recognised
there is still more work to do to improve the
controls.
The vacancy caused by the retirement of our
Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children
earlier this year will be filled when the newly
appointed Designed Nurse starts in post.

Royal Cornwall Show - June 2017

Infection control
During the past 12 months we have worked
with the council’s public health team and
Public Health England to identify key areas of
concern.
Responding to the national initiative to tackle
increasing numbers of blood stream infections
caused by Gram negative bacteria, we have
been collating and analysing data about cases
and reporting the information back to the
Department of Health.
We have changed our prescribing guidance to
reduce reliance on antibiotics to help address
the increase in urinary tract infections and
have introduced a new tool which improves
diagnosis and treatment of the infection which
has been promoted across a wide variety of
care settings. We have also developed a new
public leaflet providing information on the
most common urine infections which contains
advice on relieving symptoms, treatments and
when to seek more advice.

“Thanks to the hard work of all the partners working together, Cornwall has
seen significant progress in the systems supporting the identification and
treatment of sepsis at an early stage. We are now seen as leaders in collaborative
whole system working, with our example recognised nationally as good practice. We have
also received positive feedback from care homes over the effectiveness of the urinary tract
infection tool which has led to a reduction in the prescribing of antibiotics”.
Lisa Johnson, Nurse Consultant Director of Infection Prevention and Control
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We have continued to work with partners
to improve the way sepsis is recognised and
treated. Nurses leading on sepsis recognition
have created links with colleagues in both local
and neighbouring acute and community trusts,
and staff training programmes are continuing
for all hospital staff.

We need to ensure all our providers reach
and maintain high quality standards in their
services, particularly in areas such as infection
control. We work with our providers to
support improvement wherever we can and
make sure they get the support they need to
give the highest possible service.

The use of early warning tools is now
well embedded in acute hospitals and is
progressing in community hospitals with the
next steps to extend this to nurses working
with people at home. We are also working
with colleagues to raise awareness among the
public, with a successful event at last year’s
Royal Cornwall Show where sepsis nurses
were joined by the local UK Sepsis Trust
representative

Together with the national contractual
obligations, we have embedded these quality
principles into our contracts. It is not sufficient
to rely solely on registration with regulatory
bodies such as the Care Quality Commission
(CQC) or NHS Improvement for assurance,
these quality principles give a rounded picture
of care being provided.

Improving quality and
experience
Achieving high quality, safe and effective care
is our priority in everything we do. Key to this
is meeting NHS Constitution standards of care.
We collect, analyse and monitor data to ensure
we get the basics of care right.
Quality is our watchword. Every conversation
we have, whether it relates to a new service,
funding or a complaint, should focus on
quality and consider what’s best for the
person and for good outcomes for health. This
means looking at how people receive services,
the quality of the environment, the quality of
staff, and how people and their families are
spoken to - it all makes a huge difference.

“Please accept this plaudit
from me for your customer
service and the prompt
response to my concerns.
Most importantly, thank you
for listening.”
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We encourage and welcome feedback from
people who receive care, families, carers, staff
and the public and use this to improve the care
we provide and build on our successes.
We hold monthly quality review meetings
with our health service providers – RCHT and
CFT to help improve the quality of services
we commission. These meetings focus on
quality and the impact of organisational
performance on safety. In addition we hold
monthly meetings with our other health
service providers including E-Zec, Probus,
Duchy and the out of hours service. We are
also working with NEW Devon CCG to develop
mechanisms for quality assurance in relation to
services provided for patients from Cornwall at
Derriford.
We provide monthly updates on the quality
of our commissioned services to our Quality
and Performance Committee, where
information is discussed and challenged by
committee members. In addition to the main
providers’ exception reports, a calendar of
clinical reporting is used by the committee
to ensure all key areas are received on a
monthly, quarterly or annual basis. A monthly
chairman’s report is then presented to the
Governing Body.

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

Performance report

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

We are active partners in the NHS England
South West Quality Surveillance Group
(QSG) which brings together local CCG
commissioners, local authorities, the CQC,
HealthWatch, Health Education England, NHS
Improvement and NHS England to share local
intelligence on NHS funded providers, care
homes, domiciliary care providers and primary
care. These discussions and debates help drive
quality improvements in a coordinated way
with a focus on learning across the wider
Peninsula system.

During 2017/2018 CQC inspections were carried
out at both RCHT and CFT and at a number of
care homes and primary care organisations.

CQC inspection of Royal Cornwall
Hospitals NHS Trust (RCHT)
On 5 October 2017 RCHT was rated as
inadequate.
Safe
Effective

Inadequate
Requires improvement

Care Quality Commission

Caring

As the lead commissioner for health services
we maintain an oversight of the outcome of
Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections
carried out in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly
and support providers to deliver their action
plans whilst gaining assurance on the quality
of the services.

Responsive

Inadequate

Well-led

Inadequate

As part of this process we meet with Cornwall
Council, HealthWatch Cornwall and the
CQC (social care) every two months to share
intelligence, inspection outcomes and quality
assurance reviews. This helps promote an
open dialogue and ensures that all partners
are aware of any concerns. We also attend
the NHS England South West Primary Care
Sustainability and Quality Hub with Care
Quality Commission, NHS England and other
CCGs.
CQC gives four ratings to health and social care
services:
1. Outstanding: The service is performing
exceptionally well.
2. Good: The service is performing well and
meeting CQC expectations.
3. Requires improvement: The service isn’t
performing as well as it should and CQC
has told the service how it must improve.
4. Inadequate: The service is performing
badly and CQC has taken action against the
person or organisation that runs it.
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Good

•
•
•
•
•

This rating was based on serious concerns
that the Trust’s systems to assess, monitor,
and mitigate risks to people receiving care
and treatment were not operating effectively.
Inspectors also raised concerns over the
effectiveness of governance systems and
processes, serving the Board with a Section
29A warning notice on 29 August 2017. This
required the Trust to take immediate action to
introduce improved processes to identify and
manage women experiencing serious problems
during labour in the maternity unit, and to
monitor and manage non-admitted cardiology
and ophthalmology patients. Since then
the CQC has issued a second warning notice
following concerns about the lack of progress
which has been made.
Progress in delivering the agreed action plan
is being monitored through quality review
meetings and the Joint Quality Oversight
Meeting with NHS England, NHS Improvement
and the CQC.
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CQC inspection of Cornwall Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust (CFT)
On 2 February 2018 CFT was rated as requires
improvement.
Safe
Effective
Caring
Responsive
Well-led

•
Requires improvement •
Requires improvement

Outstanding

•
Requires improvement •
Good

The report noted that at the time of the
inspection, three of the Trust’s 13 hospitals
were subject to an organisational review
under Section 42 of the Health and Social
Care Act 2014. This followed safeguarding
concerns because of staff shortages in some
community-based services, with five of the six
integrated community mental health teams
experiencing vacancies. For more information:
www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RJ8
We monitor all action plans with providers
through our routine quality review meetings
or contract meetings.

Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation (CQUIN)
The aim of the CQUIN scheme is to deliver
clinical quality improvements and drive
transformational change. With these objectives
in mind the scheme is designed to support the
ambitions of the Five Year Forward View and
directly links to the NHS Mandate.
Our two year CQUIN scheme for 2017/19 is
designed to provide greater certainty and
stability on our CQUIN goals, leaving more
time for health communities to focus on
implementing the initiatives.

Our CQUIN clinical quality and
transformational indicators for the next two
years are:
1. Improving staff and health wellbeing.
2. Reducing the impact of serious infections
(antimicrobial resistance and sepsis).
3. Improving physical healthcare to reduce
premature mortality in people with serious
mental illness (PSMI).
4. Improving services for people with mental
health needs who present to A&E.
5. Transitions out of children and young
people’s mental health services.
6. Offering advice and guidance.
7. e-Referrals.
8. Supporting proactive and safe discharge.
9. Preventing ill healthy by risky behaviours alcohol and tobacco.
10. Improving the assessment of wounds.
11. Personalised care and support planning.
12. Ambulance conveyance.
13. NHS 111 referrals.
We monitor and assess providers’ performance
against these indicators on a quarterly basis
following their submission of evidence,
working in an open and partnership approach
in order to improve the outcomes and
experience for both staff and people who use
services.

Serious incidents and quality
concerns
We recognise that healthcare systems and
processes can have weaknesses that lead to
errors occurring and, tragically, these errors
sometimes have serious consequences for
people who use our services and our staff, and
can also affect an organisation’s reputation.
We strive to reduce the occurrence of
avoidable harm.
Incidents which result in significant harm to
patients receiving care funded by the NHS are
required to be reported to NHS England.

44

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Our providers are responsible for people’s
safety and must ensure robust systems
are in place within their organisations for
recognising, reporting, investigating and
responding to serious incidents and for
arranging and resourcing investigations.
Included in these reviews are incidents
which are categorised as Never Events, these
are events which are serious and largely
preventable patient safety incidents that
should not occur if the available preventative
measures have been implemented.
We are accountable for quality assuring the
robustness of our providers’ serious incident
investigations, using the seven key principles
to ensure learning at the earliest opportunity
to mitigate future risk.
Principles of serious incident management
1
Open and transparent
2
Preventative
3
Objective
4
Timely and responsive
5
Systems based
6
Proportionate
7
Collaborative
To support this work we have developed a
new serious incident database to streamline
information, improve our ability to identify
themes and trends and monitor providers’
performance.
This means that each 72 hour report submitted
is now quality assured, together with the
final 60 day root cause analysis report. We
provide a written report to be shared with
the investigating officer and clinical team.
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As a result any concerns or areas requiring
further action are highlighted at the earliest
opportunity to facilitate timely action and
resolution of issues raised. This year our
clinical governance lead also joined the RCHT’s
Executive Serious Incident Panel (ESIP) offering
earlier challenge and support to minimise risk
and encourage wider system learning.
Other achievements include:
• Taking part in Multi-Agency Discharge
Events (MADE) which brought together
key parts of our health system to challenge
and improve patient flow, delays and
simplify discharge processes, 6As audits
following emergency care contact, RCHT
NHS Improvement theatre review following
a number of Never Events.
• Improved partnership working with NEW
Devon CCG to develop mechanisms for
quality assurance for PHNT as an associate
commissioner with 20 percent of our
population who visit Derriford.
• Setting up a Cornwall-wide serious incident
forum to provide a rapid route to share
learning together with developing joint
systems / processes and testing new and
novel approaches such as peer review and
cohorting themes to maximise learning.
The SW Community of Practice for Serious
Incidents, hosted by the SW Academic
Health Science Network (SWAHSN), brings
together commissioners and providers
from across the South West to disseminate
wider system learning and strengthen joint
working to enable successes such as the
multi-agency serious incident management.
• Setting up a special interest panel with
NEW Devon CCG GPs to make our system
and processes of GP accreditation robust
and clear for our practitioners.
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Promoting quality and safety
within nursing homes
Following concerns about the quality of care
being provided for residents in some nursing
homes during the past twelve months, we
are working with Cornwall Council to monitor
quality, safety and performance in all homes
across Cornwall.
This means we share intelligence, monitor
the overall quality and safety of care through
joint quality assurance visits and use a joint
approach to produce one action plan. We are
working with the council to produce a new
joint assessment tool to measure quality and
experience, and have supported the roll-out of
serious incident reporting for all commissioned
nursing homes. This has been underpinned
with serious incident investigator support to
help complete a root cause analysis following
a specific incident and develop robust action
plans. We are continuing to monitor progress
against these.

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

the remaining case going through the full
investigation process to the final report
which did not uphold the complaint. As a
result of these findings there were no formal
recommendations for the CCG to carry out.
The remaining 36 complaints were dealt with
in accordance with CCG’s Internal procedures.
Using Dignity in Care assessors is an invaluable
part of our routine feedback. We have a
number of volunteer assessors, who undertake
annual audits of all hospital inpatient/
outpatient services assessing if providers are
treating people with dignity and respect.
Specific areas these independent assessors
look at include environment, privacy, dignity
and modesty, communication with people,
promoting individual needs, and feedback/
stories. These outcomes are then shared with
the Quality and Performance Committee and
triangulated with other sources of intelligence.

During 2017/18 we held a joint quality and
safeguarding conference with the council for
care home providers to share success stores,
learning and innovation across the sectors.

During the past 12 months our Dignity in
Care Assessors have carried out planned
but unannounced visits to a range of care
providers, including in-patient wards in acute,
mental health and community hospitals and to
out-patient departments and the Emergency
Department. This year we are adding care
homes to their programme of visits.

Experience

Clinical effectiveness

We value complaints and other forms of
feedback, which are vital to continuously
improve the quality of local health services
and assess how services interact and are
coordinated across the pathway.

We are committed to ensuring that the
care provided for people is evidence-based,
effective and founded on the principles of
good practice.

During 2017/18 we received 45 complaints,
with nine complainants referring their
concerns to the Parliamentary Health Service
Ombudsman (PHSO) for further investigation.
During the 12 months the PHSO closed
six of these nine cases. Two were closed
after the Ombudsman’s initial enquiries,
a further three were closed early by the
Ombudsman following our agreement to
carry out additional work on the cases, with
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Clinical effectiveness is defined as “the
application of the best knowledge, derived
from research, clinical experience, and
patient preferences to achieve optimum
processes and outcomes of care for
patients. The process involves a framework
of informing, changing, and monitoring
practice.” (Department of Health,1996)

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

Performance report

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

It is about improving a person’s total
experience of healthcare and is an essential
part of improving and assuring quality. The
aim of clinical effectiveness is to use evidence
to improve the effectiveness of clinical practice
and service delivery. This means doing the
right thing at the right time for the right
person.

Monitoring the efficient and effective use
of resources is an important element of
our function. We manage and monitor our
providers in a number of ways including:

•

•

•
•
•
•

The right thing (evidence-based practice
requires that decisions about health care
are based on the best available, current,
valid and reliable evidence).
In the right way (developing a workforce
that is skilled and competent to deliver the
care required).
At the right time (accessible services
providing treatment when the person
needs them).
In the right place (location of treatment /
services).
With the right outcome (clinical
effectiveness / maximising health gain).

It is also about thinking critically about what
you do, questioning whether it is having
the desired result, and making a change to
practice; using evidence of what is effective in
order to improve care and experience.
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•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Announced and unannounced clinical
quality assurance visits.
Regular clinical meetings to discuss quality
and safety issues.
Working with providers to ensure the best
care and pathways are in place for our
people.
Sharing national reports and implementing
relevant learning into local practice.
Celebrating and sharing good practice.
Using national and local clinical audits to
improve practice.
Ensuring adherence to NICE Quality
Standards and Guidelines.
CQUIN Schemes (Commissioning for
Quality and Innovation schemes) - to
secure improvements in quality of
services and better outcomes for people
where weaknesses in services have been
identified.
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Engaging people and communities
Working with people and communities is essential to ensure that we
commission services that meet people’s needs. We use a wide variety of
ways to work with our communities and make sure that they have the
chance to influence our work.
These include:
• Face to face at events like the Royal
Cornwall Show, Stithians or Pride.
• Public meetings and special events.
• Joining public events held by others, such
as HealthWatch.
• Meeting and working with voluntary sector
organisations and stakeholder groups,
including Practice Participation Groups and
the Patients’ Association.
• Having a patient story heard at our
Governing Body meetings.
• Surveys / experts by experience / direct
meetings / focus groups with people.
• Complaints and enquiries.
• Engaging with us via social media;
Facebook or Twitter.
• Asking questions via our website.
• Attending a board meeting.
This is not just about asking people for
their views but about really listening and
responding to what people tell us. It is about
building strong, positive relationships with
people and communities by involving them
at an early stage – not carrying out a cynical
tick box exercise at the end of the process. It
means explaining how their views have been
used to shape the final decision or, where this
is not possible, going back to them to explain
why.
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During the past 12 months we have worked
hard to ensure we involve people, groups and
wider communities in designing, planning and
making decisions on both changing existing
services or developing new ones. We have
provided clear feedback on the results of
this engagement and, where appropriate,
have changed or, in some cases, withdrawn
proposals in line with the views we have
received. In cases where this has not been
possible we have provided a clear explanation
of our decision.
Ensuring that CCGs are engaging effectively
with the people and communities they are
responsible for commissioning services on
behalf of has been a key focus of NHS England
this year. As part of their new ‘patient and
community engagement’ assessment process,
they have assessed the quality of CCG websites
in providing easily accessible information
about the ways in which they were working
with people and communities as partners. This
included how people could get involved and
what difference their involvement had made.
Each CCG was then awarded a Red / Amber or
Green / Green star (RAGG) rating based on the
results of their assessment.
We were delighted to be given a Green rating,
with the assessors reporting they found our
website very clear and easy to navigate. We
were one of only a very small numbers of CCGs
in the South West to receive a green rating
and have already put plans in place to provide
more feedback to the public on the results of
their engagement in the future.
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Recent consultation and engagements include:
• Shaping Our Future: Last year we talked to residents and organisations about our early
plans to integrate health and care services and listened to their thoughts. People told us we
needed to improve the way we involve and listen to residents when redesigning services to
make sure they meet the needs of their community. As a result we worked with clinicians
and people who use our services to develop our plans together. We ran 20 co-production
workshops, 19 community panel meetings, 10 GP locality meetings and 25 workforce
transformation meetings, involving more than 700 people, to understand what works, what
doesn’t and which services each community might need to meet its demand. We are using
this information to develop our plans for a new way of delivering care. We also refocused the
attentions of our former Patient Representative Group (PRG), now renamed as the Citizens
Advisory Panel, to provide independent, constructive criticism and advice to the SOF team.
These changes helped produce improvements to our out of hours’ services and a significant
reduction in the numbers of people forced to wait in hospital while packages of care are put
in place. We also improved the way we communicate to make sure we keep members of the
public and health and care staff informed about the aims, progress and benefits of SOF.
• Telehealth: Last year we carried out a six month review and consultation of the Telehealth
service. This concluded the service was not providing the expected levels of clinical support
to patients and was not delivering value for money. As a result it was proposed to withdraw
funding for the service. Following concerns from some existing users about how this
would impact on their care, we carried out a further six-week consultation to review the
proposal. After considering the findings of the original review and the results of the further
consultation, our Governing Body agreed to retain a smaller and more focused telehealth
function embedded within the Integrated Care Team in the community.
• Digital shared care plan: We received comments from patients, carers and families frustrated
by the need to provide the same information to different organisations, particularly
in relation to people who are at the end of their life. We held a number of workshops
and planning events involving health and care partners, hospices and the voluntary and
community sector to develop a digital shared care plan and register to provide a single record
of someone’s needs and preferences for the care they want to receive. This will ensure people
only have to tell their story once in the future. We are now working with our partners to find
an IT solution which will allow all appropriate health and care organisations to have safe and
secure access to this single care plan.
• Nursing night time support service: Following feedback from patients and their families, we
trialled some changes to the overnight nursing service provided by Marie Curie to support
people who are at the end of their life. The service involves Marie Curie nurses giving one-toone nursing care to people living with a terminal illness, overnight in their own home, usually
for nine hours. This includes helping to relieve pain, managing symptoms and supporting
families and carers. Previously the service was allocated in advance, on a first come first
served basis. This meant sometimes people with a greater need, or facing an urgent
situation, were not always able to get support from the service, particularly at short notice.
To address this, we worked closely with Marie Curie to create a new locally-based clinical role
that could manage referrals and allocate support more flexibly based on the current need
of patients. An early review of these changes shows that people are being supported more
appropriately, with a higher number now able to access care at short-notice.
We really appreciate the time people have given to find out about our work and
give us their views. Your involvement really makes a difference and helps us
to get services right - thank you.
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Reducing health inequality
Reducing health inequalities, the unfair
differences in health outcomes between
different populations or individuals that are
caused by where people live and their social
and economic conditions, is one of our key
priorities. These factors have a huge impact
on people’s health and wellbeing, as well as
affecting how they use services, with people
who are worst off experiencing poorer health
and shorter lives. CCGs have a legal duty to
help reduce inequalities between patients in
accessing health services and the outcomes
achieved. Tackling this challenge is factored
into the way we commission services.
Reducing health inequalities is one of the five
guiding principles in our Health and Wellbeing
Strategy. We have worked within the
framework of the two Health and Wellbeing
Boards to develop plans and strategies to
achieve this by looking at how we can work
with partners to reduce health inequalities
across life’s course starting with prenatal
and pre-school, through to school, training,
employment and retirement.
We have, for the seventh year running,
supported the system wide Winter Wellness
campaign to promote the impact of cold
weather and cold homes on preventing NHS
healthcare admissions. This included the
delivery of winter warmth help to more than
1,500 households and the successful submission
of the Warm Homes Fund bid, under the
Cornwall Devolution Deal. As a result more
than 1,100 households previously living in fuel
poverty had central heating installed in their
homes for the first time during 2018, leading
to significant improvements in their residents’
health and wellbeing.
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We support the Homeless Hospital Discharge
Service. This is now part of Cornwall’s multiagency Rough Sleeper Prevention Strategy
which aims to improve health outcomes for
homeless people and rough sleepers. The
programme, led by Cornwall Council, with
funding support from the Government, helped
more than 600 people to have a safe discharge
during 2017/2018. We are currently waiting
for confirmation on funding for the next 12
months.
Projects successfully delivered in partnership
with Public Health during 2017/18 include:
•

•
•

•

•

•

•
•

Co-design approach to self-management
of long term conditions, making the best
use of resources within communities, digital
solutions and the health service.
Social prescribing model to address
the social causes of ill health with GPs,
community leads and commissioners.
Successful joint application to participate
in a research trial with Sheffield University/
Public Health England to test Physical
Activity Prescription Advice Pads for
patients in primary care.
Leadership Needs of National Diabetes
Prevention programme locally to work with
people at risk of developing diabetes in
lifestyle programmes to prevent diabetes.
A system-wide Joint Intelligence Group and
progress towards linked data set for health
and social care to inform future planning of
healthcare.
Smoking cessation promotion amongst
those referred to surgery to improve
outcomes following surgery and reduce
harm from smoking.
Pharmaceutical Assessment review (under
consultation).
Learning disability needs assessment and
autism focus paper.

The NHS was also an award winner under the
Winter Wellbeing programme.
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Sustainable development
We are required by law to work in a way that
has a positive effect on the communities for
whom we plan and buy healthcare services.
Sustainability means spending public money
well, the smart and efficient use of natural
resources and building healthy, resilient
communities. Making the most of our social,
environmental and economic assets, as set
out in the 2012 Public Services (Social Value),
means we can improve health in both the
immediate and long term even in the context
of rising costs.
This includes working hard to minimise our
carbon footprint so we can contribute to the
overall target of reducing the carbon footprint
of the NHS, public health and social care
system by 34 percent (from a 1990 baseline)
equivalent to a 28 percent reduction from a
2013 baseline by 2020.
During the past 12 months we have introduced
a number of initiatives to help sustain the
health and wellbeing of our population, our
environment and our local economy.
These include:
• Using telephone dial-ins, video
conferencing and car sharing to reduce
road travel.
• Working with suppliers to encourage
greater use of sustainable procurement,
including buying from local companies and
from those with a sustainable resource
base and ensuring that buildings we occupy
(irrespective of their ownership) have a low
carbon footprint.
• Adapting our ways of working so staff can
work from home.
• Adapting our models of care for patients in
light of changing weather patterns which
can endanger life.
We work from offices that are either
leased from NHS Property Services or a
private landlord and are shared with other
organisations who contribute to the bills.
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The proportion of our staff, compared to
other organisations, at some sites is also very
small. Therefore it is not possible to provide
meaningful data on sustainability issues like
water use and energy consumption.

Emergency Preparedness,
Resilience and Response (EPRR)
All CCGs are required to plan for and be
ready to assist organisations to respond to
incidents which could affect the health of
their populations. These could include a major
flu pandemic or disease such as swine flu or
ebola, a terrorist incident or a plane or train
crash. While this response is usually led by
NHS England, we are always prepared to take
on this role if required and work closely with
other organisations to ensure an effective NHS
response.
Our Chief Operating Officer is our EPRR lead
and has overall responsibility for ensuring we
comply with all our statutory duties. Following
our most recent assessment by NHS England,
we were judged as being substantially
compliant with core standards. Arrangements
are already are in place to address the single
standard which was not fully met. In light of
recent national incidents, we have increased
scrutiny of EPRR work through regular
reporting to our Workforce Committee.
During the past 12 months we have taken
part in a number of training exercises to test
our ability to work with others in responding
to major incidents. We operate an on-call
system which ensures that senior managers are
available around the clock to respond to such
incidents. In addition to emergency planning,
we also have our own business continuity
plans in place which ensure we can respond
to incidents with the potential to hinder or
prevent our own ability to conduct routine
business. These plans have been reviewed
during the past year and were tested during
the recent bad weather. The results are now
being analysed and any changes will be
implemented in the coming months.
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Equality and Diversity
People have different needs and access services in different ways.
We want to ensure that there is equality of access and treatment
for all services that we commission, both as a matter of fairness
and as an essential part of our commitment to reduce health
inequalities and improve people’s health and wellbeing.

78%

We strive to ensure an equitable and comprehensive service for
all, irrespective of age, disability, gender reassignment (trans
of our workforce are female
or transgender), marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, including nationality and ethnic origin, religion or
belief, sex and sexual orientation.
We are committed to ensuring that all our staff are treated fairly
and equally. Our aim is to be an organisation that leads the
promotion of equality and diversity in its workforce.
Employers with more than 250 members of staff now have a
duty to analyse and publish a report on their gender pay gap.
The gender pay gap shows the difference between the average
earnings of men and women which is expressed as a percentage
of men’s earnings. The full report is available on our website here.
The gender pay gap is reported as an average on both a mean
(average) and median (mid-point on a distribution) basis.
Our data shows:
• We employ considerably more females than males - 78 percent
of our workforce are female.
• Our mean gender pay gap is 25.3 percent which is a larger gap
than the national gender pay gap in 2016/17 of 18.1 percent.
• Our median gender pay gap is 9.4 percent.
Members of staff do not receive bonuses.

25%
pay gap

Information about our equality and diversity work is available on our website. This includes our
overarching equality objectives as well as linking to our equality information in compliance with
our Public Sector Equality Duty.

Jackie Pendleton
Accountable Officer
22 May 2018
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Members report
Our Governing Body is accountable for all our activities and is the key decision making body for
major decisions.
Members include a Chair, two executive directors, a registered nurse, a secondary care doctor,
three lay members and six GP members.
The Governing Body is also supported by senior health managers who have vast experience of
the health service.

Member profiles
Chair

Dr Iain Chorlton

Executive directors

Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)
Jackie Pendleton

Chief Finance Officer
Simon Bell

Clinical members

Nurse member
Maggie Scott

54

Secondary Care Doctor member
Dr Sarah Bridges
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Lay members

Deputy Chair (Governance)
Chris Blong

Patient and Public Involvement
Rev Jeffrey James

Fiscal Management (non-voting
member) - John Yarnold

GP members

Dr Paul Cook

Dr Judy Duckworth

Dr Alison Flanagan

Dr Francis Old

Dr Rob White

Vacancy

Non-voting members

Chief Operating Officer
Helen Childs

Chief Nursing Officer
Natalie Jones

Director of Public Health, Cornwall
Council - Caroline Court

You can find out more about our Governing Body members here.
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Member practices
We have 62 GP practices who work within 10 localities: south Kerrier and Isles of Scilly, Penwith,
north Kerrier, Falmouth and Penryn, Coastal Cluster, Newquay, Truro, mid Cornwall, north
Cornwall, east Cornwall, with each area having its own GP lead.
Locality
Coastal Cluster

Locality Lead GP
Dr Margie Shaw

East Cornwall

Dr Rehan Symonds

Falmouth and Penryn

Dr Ryan Jackson

Mid Cornwall

Dr Stephen Gray

Newquay

Dr Tamsyn Anderson
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Practice
Carnon Downs Surgery
Chacewater Surgery
St Agnes Surgery
Launceston Medical Centre
Oak Tree Surgery
Old Bridge Surgery
Pensilva Health Centre
Port View Surgery
Quay Lane Surgery
The Rame Group
Rosedean Surgery
Saltash Health Centre
Tamar Valley Health
Falmouth Health Centre
Penryn Surgery
Trescobeas Surgery
Westover Surgery
Brannel Surgery
Clays Practice
Fowey River Practice
Lostwithiel Surgery
Mevagissey Surgery
Probus Surgery
Roseland Surgery
St Austell Healthcare Group
St Blazey Surgery
Narrowcliff Surgery
Newquay Health Centre
Petroc Group Practice
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Locality
North Cornwall

Locality Lead GP
Dr Dave Farrar

Practice
Bottreaux Surgery
Bude Surgery
Camelford – Dr Garrod’s Surgery
Camelford – Dr Nash
Carnewater Practice
Port Isaac Surgery
Stillmoor House Surgery
Stratton Medical Centre
Wadebridge and Camelford

North Kerrier

Dr Matthew Whiteley

Penwith

Dr Neil Walden

South Kerrier

Dr James Tait

Truro

Dr Andy May

Clinton Road Surgery
Harris Memorial Surgery
Carn to Coast
Manor Surgery
Phoenix Surgery
Praze-an-Beeble Surgery
Trevithick Surgery
Veor Surgery
The Alverton Practice
Bodriggy Health Centre
Cape Cornwall Surgery
Marazion Surgery
Morrab Surgery
Rosmellyn Surgery
Sunnyside Surgery
Stennack Surgery
Helston Medical Centre
Isles of Scilly Health Centre
Meneage Street Surgery
Mullion Health Centre
St Keverne Health Centre
Lander Surgery (Upper Lemon St)
Three Spires (18 Lemon St)
Perranporth Surgery

Committee(s), including Audit Committee
Details of the membership of all our committees, including the Audit committee, are contained
in our Governance Statement on page 64.
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Register of Interests

Charges for information

Our declarations of interests can be found on
our website.

We certify the CCG has complied with HM
Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation and the
setting of charges for information. We do not
charge for providing information.

Personal data related incidents
We can confirm there have been no Serious
Untoward Incidents relating to data security
breaches, including any that were reported to
the Information Commissioner.
Further details about information governance
can be found in our Governance Statement on
page 80.

Statement of Disclosure to
Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG
at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms, so far as the member is aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be
relevant for the purposes of their audit report.

Pension liabilities
Details of our pension liabilities are contained
within the financial statements and the
remuneration report on page 89.

Donations
None.

Gifts and hospitality
Details of our hospitality, acceptance of gifts
and sponsorship policy, ratified in February
2018, are available on our website, together
with our gifts and hospitality register/
commercial sponsorship register.

Modern Slavery Act
We fully support the Government’s objectives
to eradicate modern slavery and human
trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking
Statement for the financial year ending 31
March 2017 can be found on our website.

Losses
There were no losses incurred in 2017/18
(2016/17: 1 administrative write off valued at
£71k

Special payments

Ex-gratia payments
Total

2017/18 cases
Number
£000
3
22
3
22

2016/17 cases
Number
£000
1
107
1
107

The ‘ex-gratia’ payment relates to the negotiated settlement of individual claims.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s
responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG) shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed our Chief Officer as the
Accountable Officer.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the CCG Accountable Officer Appointment
Letter.
They include responsibilities for:
• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable.
• Keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the CCG and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction).
• Safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities).
• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money.
• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with
a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with
Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England directs each CCG to
prepare financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction for
each financial year. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its net expenditure, changes in
taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:
• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting
and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis.
• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis.
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group Accounting Manual
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the financial statements.
• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below (eg
directions issued, section 30 report issued by external auditors), I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing
Public Money and in my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:
• As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors are
unaware, and that, as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have
taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s
auditors are aware of that information.
• The annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that I
take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgments required
for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

Jackie Pendleton
Accountable Officer
22 May 2018
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Governance statement
NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was established by
NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended).
Details of our statutory functions are set out
under the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended), with our key role to commission
health services for our population. This
includes providing the range of health services
we consider necessary to meet the reasonable
requirements of our population.
As at 1 April 2018, we remain subject to the
directions issued by NHS England under the
NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health
and Social Care Act 2012) in December 2015.
These were issued following concerns over
our financial position, on-going challenges
around Emergency Department performance
and four “not assured” ratings that year from
NHS England in the areas of performance,
planning, finance and well-led organisation.
Details are available on the NHS England
website.
Since the directions were issued we have
worked closely with providers, as well as with
Cornwall Council, the Council of the Isles of
Scilly, NHS England and other key stakeholders
to identify and deliver the changes required to
strengthen our management, governance and
financial arrangements. While we have made
significant improvements across all areas, the
Directions remain in place. These are detailed
in the section on control issues below.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility
for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the
CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and assets
for which I am personally responsible, in
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accordance with the responsibilities assigned
to me in Managing Public Money. I also
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and in my CCG Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG
is administered prudently and economically
and that resources are applied efficiently and
effectively, safeguarding financial propriety
and regularity. I also have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the CCG as set out in
this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and
effectiveness
Our Constitution sets out the foundations of
our organisation, together with our values,
responsibilities, accountabilities and duties. It
also identifies the respective responsibilities
and powers of NHS Kernow and the Governing
Body and how these are delivered through
our governance framework and scheme of
delegation.
Our Constitution was revisited during 2017/18
and the revisions are now awaiting approval
by NHS England. It provides information on:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Our membership and the area we cover.
Principles of good governance.
How we make decisions.
Our standards for conducting business and
how we manage conflicts of interest.
Our responsibilities as an employer.
The ways we work and our commitment to
being open and transparent.

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Our Governing Body is required to ensure we
comply with all our obligations set out under
section 14Q of the NHS Act 2006 (as inserted
by section 26 of the 2012 Act), and with
such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
The Constitution states that responsibility
for high level decisions relating to regulation
and control, appointment of some Governing
Body members, strategy, the annual operating
plan, budgets, audit, the annual report and
accounts and arrangements for the proper
management of conflicts of interest sits with
the Governing Body.
Our Governing Body comprises of:
• The Chair (voting).
• Six representatives of member practices
(voting, one of which is vacant).
• Three lay members (two voting, but all
will be voting once revised constitution is
agreed).
• One registered nurse (voting).
• One secondary care specialist doctor
(voting).
• The Chief Officer as Accountable Officer
(voting).
• The Chief Finance Officer (voting).
• The Chief Nursing Officer (non-voting).
• The Chief Operating Officer (non-voting).
This means that there is a majority of clinical
and GP voting members on the Governing
Body.
Our Governing Body held eight formal public
meetings during 2017/18 with four all day
development sessions held in private. The
member attendance rate for the formal
meetings across the year was approximately 87
percent.
As well as items on corporate risk and
assurance, finance, quality and performance,
members heard stories from patients, carers
and practitioners reflecting the real life
experiences of people using or providing
the services we commission. Members also
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discussed future models of care, winter
planning, mental health delivery and
commissioning priorities.
As part of our strengthened governance
arrangements, we carried out a full review of
the role, responsibilities and effectiveness of
the Governing Body and committees during
2017/18. Following the review it was agreed
to separate the Remuneration Committee
and Workforce Committee, resulting in five
constitutional committees: Audit, Finance,
Quality and Performance, Workforce and
Remuneration.
These committees, with details on their
responsibilities and membership, are set out
on page 64.
During the past 12 months each committee
has reviewed its terms of reference, providing
the opportunity to revise membership, the
frequency of meetings and agenda planning
to improve the effectiveness of the group.
The Quality and Performance, Finance and
Workforce committees also carried out a
committee effectiveness survey, asking both
members and regular attendees’ questions
about the committee’s role, functioning
and value. The results of these surveys were
then reported back to the committees,
with an overall report received by the Audit
Committee.
Each committee took action as a result of
the findings of the surveys. This included
members of the Quality and Performance
Committee carrying out a wider review of how
agendas are planned, the Finance Committee
developing an annual plan which included
training on better understanding NHS finance
and briefings following major changes and
the Workforce Committee looking at ways to
strengthen the administration of its meetings.
A new standard operating procedure for
producing papers and reports for committees
was also developed during 2017/18 to
contribute to committee effectiveness.
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The Audit Committee carried out a selfassessment against the Healthcare Financial
Management Association Audit Handbook
during March, with the results formally
reported to its meeting at the end of that
month. The outcome was largely positive, with
agreed actions including seeking assurances
on the effectiveness of internal and external
audit and requesting the committees to review
the assurances they rely on as part of the
assurance framework and then report back to
the Audit Committee on the findings.
As part of the review three ‘portfolio’ roles
were developed in relation to hospital,

community and primary care. Our Governing
Body revisited clinical leadership, with
changes made to provide and strengthen
links with primary care. A review of contracts
of employment is also underway in line
with guidance received following the HMRC
compliance check performed earlier in the
year.
Governing Body members have also had
increased involvement with external and
system wide committees and boards during
2017/18, reflecting the work on strategic
commissioning and the integrated care
partnership.

Core committees in NHS Kernow
Audit Committee
Chair: Chris Blong, Governing Body lay member for governance
Responsible for
Independent scrutiny and
assurance with particular
emphasis on:
• Integrity of financial
accounting and reporting
systems, including
reviewing financial
statements before they are
sent to the Governing Body
for approval.
• Effectiveness of our
internal control, integrated
governance and risk
management systems.
• How we comply with
regulatory and statutory
duties.
• Effectiveness of our
internal and external audit
functions and Counter
Fraud service.
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•
•
•

•

Membership
Governing Body (GB) lay
member for governance.
(Chair).
GB Lay member for
finance.
Two GB GP members the GB GP members also
provide clinical quality
expertise.
Attended by Chief Finance
Officer, Chief Operating
Officer/Deputy Director
Corporate Governance,
representatives from
internal and external
audit and counter fraud
specialist services.

•
•
•
•
•
•

2017/18 agenda items
Receiving Internal and
External audit reports.
Finance updates.
Standing items on risk and
assurance framework.
Counter-fraud updates.
Committee effectiveness
surveys.
Updates from Chairs
of each constitutional
committee.
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Finance Committee
Chair: John Yarnold, Governing Body lay member for finance
Responsible for
Objective scrutiny of our
•
financial planning and how
we make decisions on how we •
spend money.
•
•
•

Membership
GB Lay member for finance
(Chair).
Two GB GP members.
GB Chair.
Chief Finance Officer.
Chief Officer.

2017/18 agenda items
Financial Recovery Plan, QIPP
schemes, budget management
and risks, as well as reports
on procurements, individual
funding requests and estates.

Quality and Performance (Q&P)
Chair: Sarah Bridges, Clinician
Responsible for
Objective scrutiny of the
quality and performance of
services we commission and
provide and the internal
processes in place to review
and manage these.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Membership
Clinical Chair.
Two GB GP members.
One Clinical Lay member
(secondary care clinician).
GB Lay member for Patient
and Public Involvement.
Chief Officer.
Chief Nursing Officer.
Chief Operating Officer.

2017/18 agenda items
Regular reports on
performance, service
improvement, quality and
risks as well as items on
safeguarding and serious
incident reporting.

Workforce Committee
Chair: Rev Jeff James, Governing Body lay member for patient and public involvement
Responsible for
Objective scrutiny on
workforce management,
communications and
engagement and information
governance.
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•
•
•

Membership
GB lay member for Patient
and Public Involvement
(Chair).
One GB GP member.
One Clinical Lay member.
Chief Officer or Deputy.

2017/18 agenda items
Regular reports on staffing,
training and risks as well
as items on health and
safety, equality and staff
engagement.
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Remuneration Committee
Chair: Rev Jeff James, Governing Body lay member for patient and public involvement

•

•

•

•
•

Responsible for
Advising the GB on the
appropriate salaries, fees,
allowances and terms of
service for the Accountable
Officer, executive directors,
employees and other
people who provide
services to us.
Annual review of
performance of the
Accountable Officer and
Chief Finance Officer.
Receiving an annual review
on the performance of the
lay members, secondary
care specialist doctor and
registered nurse.
Calculation and scrutiny of
termination payments.
This Committee only meets
two to three times in a
year, unless exceptional
circumstances arise.

•
•
•
•

Membership
GB lay member for Patient
and Public Involvement
(Chair).
One GB GP member.
One Clinical Lay member.
Chair, Chief Officer and
Head of HR may be
required to attend, but do
not have a vote.

•
•

2017/18 agenda items
Review of Chief Officers
performance.
Remuneration and terms of
service for GB members.

Other key groups and committees include:
• Clinical Leadership Group (CLG): This group, which replaced the former Network Leadership
Group after a pilot period, is responsible for ensuring the views of clinicians are taken
into account when decisions are being made about which services are commissioned and
provided. The group is made up of the Chair and GP members of the Governing Body, and
locality lead GPs.
• Information Governance Sub-Committee: This group, which meets at least quarterly, is
responsible for monitoring the way we handle information, in particular personal identifiable
information. Its role includes confidentiality, data protection, records management, data
quality and information security.
• Health and Safety Sub-Committee: This group, which meets every other month, is
responsible for ensuring that we meet both statutory legal requirements for standards of
health, safety and welfare and our own internal policies.
• Joint Partnership Committee: this group, which includes representatives from trade unions, is
responsible for consulting with our staff and with recognised Trade Unions on issues relating
to pay and working conditions.
• Commissioning Priorities Group: This group was set up in 2016/17 in response to the financial
challenges we were facing at that time to review all our financial commitments and consider
whether they were providing value for money and effectiveness. It has continued to meet
throughout 2017/2018, reporting directly to the Governing Body.
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•
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Executive Management Team (EMT): This group, which is made up of the executive directors,
meets frequently to consider both operational and strategic issues such as quality and
performance, resourcing, stakeholder and staff engagement and financial position.
Health and Wellbeing Boards for Cornwall Council and the Council of the Isles of the Scilly:
These are key multi-agency bodies where representatives from health, social care, police,
housing, education and children’ services come together to provide leadership to improve
efficiency, secure better care, health and wellbeing outcomes for the local community and
reduce health inequalities.
Safeguarding Children Partnership: This multi-agency forum, made up of senior
representatives from the Health Service, Cornwall Council, the Council of the Isles of Scilly,
Police, Youth Offending Service, local Probation Service, the Children and Family Courts
Advisory and Support Service and others, is responsible for promoting, safeguarding and
protecting the welfare of children and young people. Led by an independent Chair, its role is
to agree how local series and professionals working with children and young people should
co-operate to safeguard them from issues relating to child sexual exploitation, neglect,
emotional wellbeing, mental health, domestic abuse and child sexual abuse, and promote
their welfare.
Children’s Trust Board: This board, which contains representatives of key partners working
with children and young people, is responsible for setting the strategic direction for
partnership working in Cornwall to improve the wellbeing and safeguarding of all the
children and young people. Its aim is to close the gap between those who are doing well and
those who are doing less well.
Safeguarding Adults Board: Established in 2005, with membership from all partner agencies
involved in health and social care, including statutory bodies, independent providers and the
voluntary and community sector, the SAB is responsible for protecting vulnerable adults from
abuse, reducing the risk of abuse, and supporting people to stop abuse where it happens.
Integrated Commissioning Board: This joint body provides oversight and monitoring for
services and projects that are jointly commissioned by Cornwall Council and NHS Kernow. The
Council of the Isles of Scilly is also able to attend.
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees for Cornwall Council and the Council of the Isles
of Scilly: These committees of the Councils are responsible for scrutinising services which look
after the health and social care needs of people in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
Citizens’ Advisory Panel: A regular meeting of citizen representatives which aims to be a
‘critical friend’ and support the work of Shaping Our Future as well as NHS Kernow to help
ensure the voice of the local population is heard.
Safer Cornwall Partnership Group: A collaborative group of public, private and voluntary
organisations working to improve community safety in Cornwall.
Sustainability and Transformation Plan - Shaping Our Future: The local Sustainability and
Transformation Plan: Shaping Our Future is a response to the NHS England Five Year Forward
View and Devolution Deal for Cornwall to achieve three aims:
1. Improve the health and wellbeing of the local population.
2. Improve the quality of local health and care services.
3. Deliver financial stability in the local health and care system.
The plan is being driven by the Transformation Board which is made up of all the leaders
from the major public sector health and care organisations and is engaging with clinicians,
practitioners, stakeholders and most importantly citizens to shape future services. Decision
making remains within the individual organisations and has not, at this stage, been delegated
to the Board or other body, although integrated health and social care is one of the eight
themes agreed as part of the Cornwall Devolution Deal.
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UK Corporate Governance
Code
NHS bodies are not required to comply with
the UK Code of Corporate Governance,
however, we have reported on our corporate
governance arrangements by drawing on the
best practice available, including those aspects
of the UK Corporate Governance Code we
consider to be relevant to the CCG and best
practice.
These include:
• Creating a Governing Body with a strong
lay membership and clear division of the
Chair and Chief Officer/Accountable Officer
roles.
• Ensuring appropriate audit and
remuneration committees are in place to
oversee robust financial management and
pay systems.
• Ensuring strong risk management and
internal control systems are in place and
audited.
• Establishing and enacting effective
engagement with patients and the public
as key stakeholders.
Further information on the structures we have
in place in respect of four of the five main
principles of the UK Corporate Governance
Code: namely: leadership, effectiveness,
accountability and remuneration are contained
within this Governance Statement.
As a statutory NHS organisation we do not
have shareholders and so are not required
to comply with the fifth principle of the UK
code: relations with shareholders. However,
this annual governance statement and the
annual report and accounts demonstrate how
we have carried out our responsibilities to our
stakeholders, including our members and the
general public.
The role of our Chair is an elected position,
with nominees coming from the practicing
GP population of Cornwall and the Isles of
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Scilly and required to meet role description
requirements developed by the Governing
Body. The Chair’s performance was appraised
this year by members of the Governing Body
and as part of the three-yearly re-election
process. The Chair’s second term of office
begins on 1 May 2018. Additional scrutiny
is also provided through NHS England’s
assurance process which includes the area of
leadership.

Discharge of statutory
functions
We have reviewed all of our statutory
duties and powers and understand the
legal requirements associated with each of
the statutory functions for which we are
responsible, including any restrictions on
delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has
been clearly allocated to a lead director.
Directorates have also reviewed their team
structures to ensure they provide the necessary
capability and capacity to undertake all our
statutory duties. Where gaps in capacity are
identified these have been recorded as a
corporate risk and appropriate actions taken
to address them.

Health and safety
During 2017/18 we reviewed and developed
our health and safety arrangements,
introducing a new health and safety subcommittee with attendance including staff
and union representatives and NHS Property
Services as well as corporate governance and
human resources. The sub-committee reports
to the Workforce Committee regularly.
The health and safety policy remains in
place but is currently under review to
ensure it continues to meet the needs of the
organisation.
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Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
During 2017/18 we have continued to review and improve our risk management arrangements,
including taking action on recommendations from internal audits. We reviewed our risk
management strategy and policy and made updates to reflect some changes in organisational
structure and process. There were no significant changes made to the risk process itself. Our risk
and assurance management arrangements were also subject to internal audit review this year,
resulting in a positive report giving “reasonable” assurance.
Risks can be identified through numerous routes, for example by individuals, through
committee reports, reviews of national guidance or studies, performance information or project
documentation. We assess risks using a 5x5 matrix, scoring for impact and likelihood, taking into
account various possible areas of impact, including safety, quality, finance and reputation.
Our Governing Body considered its risk appetite in February 2017, resulting in the following
changes to our risk appetite statement:

“NHS Kernow has a low appetite for risks to patient and staff safety.
It has a slightly higher appetite for risks to quality, finance, compliance
with regulatory requirements and performance. NHS Kernow has a high
risk appetite for risks around innovation and reputation.”
The Governing Body revisited the risk appetite
statement in January 2018 and made no
further amendments.
The risk register is reviewed and updated
regularly, with updates sought monthly for
high scoring (12+) risks. The register is shared
with directors regularly as well as being
formally reported to committees. Each risk is
assigned to one of three committees (Quality
and Performance, Workforce and Finance)
who then receive monthly reports covering red
and high amber risks, highlighting escalations
and improvements, new risks and those for
removal.
The Governing Body receives quarterly reports
on the red risks and on the Governing Body
Assurance Framework (GBAF). These reports
highlight the work of the committees,
escalations and improvements as well as
assessments of controls and assurance, gaps in
these and actions planned to address them.
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Our Governing Body meetings are held in
public and our meeting papers are available
to staff and the public on our website. The
only exception to this is if a risk or information
relating to that risk is particularly sensitive
and would fall within the exemptions of the
Freedom of Information Act, in which case it
would have to be reviewed in private session.
Our Audit Committee also receives reports
on the risk register and GBAF to allow them
to take a view on the appropriateness and
effectiveness of our risk management system.
Examples of how we manage risk as part of
our day to day working include:
• All formal papers for Governing Body or
committee meetings include sections on
risks associated with the subject, as well
as links to the strategic objectives of the
organisation.
• All new or updated policies are subject to
an Equality Impact Assessment prior to
approval and publication.
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Incidents are reported centrally, with
reminders throughout the year in staff
email bulletins on how to do this. Details
are shared with relevant leads and, where
necessary, reported to the relevant subcommittee, such as the health and safety or
Information Governance sub-committees,
with the intention of learning and
preventing recurrence.
Staff are required to undertake mandatory
training which includes health and safety,
safeguarding and information governance.

Public awareness of and
engagement in risk
We are committed to working in partnership
and always give members of the public and
the people we work with the opportunity to
get involved with plans to make changes to
services. This allows them to be aware of and
engaged in managing any risks that may affect
them.
During the past 12 months we have staged
a number of consultation and engagement
sessions to get people’s thoughts on health
and social care system reform (‘Shaping Our
Future’) and on changes to the Telehealth
service as well as non-emergency patient
transport services.
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly has a very
diverse population and we work closely with
our partners in the NHS, local authorities and
the voluntary sector to make sure that we are
as inclusive as possible.
The majority of our GP practices have set up
Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) to ensure
their patients can have their say on the future
design and delivery of local health services.
Some of these PPGs are brought together
in ‘umbrella’ groups by locality, while other
localities have broader stakeholder groups.
We also have a Citizens Advisory Panel – a
nucleus of local patients who act as critical
friends on strategic matters and advise us on
engagement and communications.
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More information on patient and public
engagement is available on page 48.

Capacity to handle risk
Our Chief Officer acts as our Accountable
Officer and is responsible for implementing
working arrangements which secure effective
and appropriate risk management processes.
The Chief Officer has designated the Chief
Operating Officer as the executive with
responsibility for risk. This means that our
Chief Operating Officer is responsible for
ensuring effective corporate assurance,
governance and risk procedures are in place
across the whole organisation. They also act
as Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO), with
responsibility for managing information risk at
Governing Body level.
Our Chief Finance Officer is responsible
for reviewing, evaluating and reporting on
financial control and regularly assessing and
reporting on financial risks and the financial
aspects of other organisational risks. They also
act as the Governing Body lead for counter
fraud.
The Chief Nursing Officer is responsible for
ensuring robust systems are in place for quality
governance to assure and improve the quality
of care for all patients, taking the lead on risks
relating to the clinical quality and safety of
services (including safeguarding) and ensuring
the quality aspects of other organisational
risks are apparent and addressed.
Our Chief Nursing Officer also holds the
role of Caldicott Guardian, and is therefore
responsible for ensuring that we comply
with high standards for handling patient
information.
The Head of Corporate Governance provides
a formal lead on corporate risk management
across the organisation, and is responsible for
ensuring implementation of the Corporate
Risk Register and Assurance Framework and
reporting on this.
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The Corporate Governance team provide
advice and support on security and health
and safety and are responsible for identifying
risks arising from claims as they progress
and ensuring that these are brought to
the attention of the Head of Corporate
Governance.

Information and advice on subjects such
as incident reporting, counter-fraud and
information governance has been included in
staff bulletins throughout the year, including
signposting to relevant policies. There are also
sections on the staff intranet on these subjects
as well as others.

The Head of Information Governance provides
advice and support on issues and risk arising
from the management of information.

We have a robust whistleblowing policy
in place which is available to all staff, and
includes details how to raise a concern
internally and how to seek independent
advice. The vice Chair is the Governing Body
lead for whistleblowing. Information and
advice on whistleblowing has also been
included in staff bulletins during the year, as
well as featuring on the staff intranet.

The Complaints Manager is responsible for
identifying risks arising from complaints and
ensuring these are brought to the attention of
the Head of Corporate Governance.
The Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS)
provides staff with advice and support in
accordance with NHS Protect’s counter
fraud strategy and carries out national and
local work to raise awareness and reduce
the likelihood and impact of fraud. They
investigate suspected cases of fraud and
corruption in accordance with NHS Protect’s
anti-fraud manual and report any system
weaknesses to our Audit Committee and to
Internal and External audit.
The Local Security Management Specialist
(LSMS) provides advice and support and carries
out work to raise awareness and to help
deliver a safe and secure environment.
All staff are required to undertake mandatory
training, which includes:
• Fire safety awareness.
• Information governance and data security.
• Equality, diversity and human rights.
• Health and safety.
• Infection control.
• Safeguarding adults.
• Safeguarding children.
• Moving and handling.
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The corporate governance team provides
advice and support on identifying, assessing,
recording and managing risks, including
attendance at key meetings where relevant.
During the past 12 months our internal
auditors, TIAA, have reviewed governance
structures in a number of areas, including
information governance, risk and assurance
management, financial control and
procurement. The outcomes of those audits
are listed in the Head of Internal Audit’s
opinion on page 82. Where recommendations
were made these have been followed up
internally, with progress reported to and
monitored by the Audit Committee at each
meeting.
Our Quality and Performance, Finance,
Workforce and Audit Committees and the
Governing Body receive frequent and regular
information from our finance, business
intelligence, performance, human resources
and quality teams which allow them to assess
risks to compliance with statutory obligations.
The Governing Body has oversight across
all statutory obligations, and has formally
delegated responsibility to the committees to
provide assurance to the Governing Body on
the CCGs performance.
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Risk assessment
At the start of 2017/18, we had 17 red rated corporate risks. By 31 March 2018 this had reduced
to 13.
A number of previously red risks reduced during this period, including those related to delayed
transfers of care, quality team capacity and perinatal mental health. While these remain a risk,
others, including eating disorder services and communications capacity, have been closed.
Nine of the 13 current red risks were also identified as red risks in 2016/17. These relate to:
1. Crisis response for children and young people with mental health issues.
2. Achievement of a maximum four hour wait in RCHT emergency department.
3. Achievement of a maximum four hour wait in PHT emergency department.
4. Ambulance response times.
5. Case co-ordination for people with autistic spectrum disorders.
6. Dementia.
7. Ambulance handovers.
8. Stroke.
9. Referral to treatment times.
The remaining four red risks were either identified during the year (for example RCHT
cardiology) or escalated during the year (for example Deprivation of Liberties standards).
The 13 red corporate risks, along with their key controls, actions and sources assurance (how
outcomes are assessed) are below:
Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:
Assurance:
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There is a risk that inconsistent implementation of the stroke pathway
from prevention, response and treatment to after-care could result
in poor outcomes for patients, as well as non-achievement of best
practice for stroke indicators.
• Monthly performance reporting on stroke performance.
• Executive Stroke Steering Group in place.
• PHNT Stroke Partnership Board in place with NHS Kernow
representation.
• Task and finish groups and work streams in place with plans
reviewed monthly.
• Focus is on primary care atrial fibrillation diagnosis rates and anticoagulation prescribing; TIA clinic redesign; 999 response times for
stroke; acute hospital care and rehabilitation.
Stroke performance targets are regularly reported to Q&P Committee
and Governing Body.
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Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:
Assurance:

Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:

Assurance:
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There is a risk that PHNT are unable to see and treat/admit/discharge
people attending their Emergency Department in a timely and
effective manner. This impacts on patient safety and experience as
well as resulting in a breach of a constitutional standard (four hour
maximum wait in A&E).
• Contractual, performance management and other levers in place for
2017/18
• Standard operating procedures in place to keep people safe while
they are waiting. Reports to contract meetings include information
on complaints and serious incidents.
• Robin Assessment Hub in place.
• NHS Kernow attend NEW Devon A&E Delivery Board and Urgent
Care Forum.
• Members of NHS Kernow operational teams attend Escalation Calls
as required.
• Consistent GP attendance at Western Locality Board meeting.
• NEW Devon A&E Delivery Board is overseeing delivery of an
improvement plan.
Four hour wait is a key performance indicator regularly reported to
Q&P Committee and GB. Tracking of serious incidents related to ED.
Assurance on patient safety provided via contract meetings.
There is a risk that RCHT are unable to see and treat/admit/discharge
people attending their Emergency Department (ED) in a timely and
effective manner. This impacts on patient safety and experience as
well as resulting in a breach of a constitutional standard (four hour
maximum wait in A&E).
• A&E Delivery Board in place an overseeing performance and actions
to improve. Contractual, performance management and other levers
for 2017/18.
• Locally agreed improvement trajectory in place and monitored
monthly.
• Patient note audits looking at care provided in ED against specific
quality standards are escalated to NHS Kernow as required.
• 2017/18 winter plan produced.
• Whole System Escalation Plan in place.
• ‘GOLD Command’ initiated 9 March 2018.
• Review of changes required to sustain improvements seen since
initiation of GOLD command.
• Longer term actions include standardising access, transfer and
discharge in all care settings, frailty management, extended access
to primary care and alternative to ED.
Four hour wait is a key performance indicator regularly reported to
Q&P Committee and GB. Tracking of serious incidents related to ED.
Assurance on patient safety provided via contract meetings.

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

73

Accountability report

Risk:
Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:

Assurance:

Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:
Assurance:

Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:
Assurance:
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There is a risk that patient safety is compromised due to failure to
achieve Referral to Treatment (RTT ) targets (18 weeks and 52 weeks).
• RCHT monitor every patient outside the 18 week target to pick up
particular risk indicators.
• Continual clinical review of caseload to pick up on worsening
symptoms or changing severity.
• Weekly monitoring of RTT reported to NHS Kernow and then
reported to NHS England monthly.
• RCHT quality report as part of contract monitoring.
• Elective Care contact with RTT leads weekly/monthly to discuss
situation.
• 52 week taskforce established. Harm Free Panel in place to review
52 week waits.
• Demand management work to seek to reduce unnecessary demand
and reduce variation.
• Ongoing review of 52 week waiters through the harm free panel.
• Work of 52 week taskforce to review cases and seek to progress
treatment.
NHS Kernow monitors reports of incidents of patient harm while
waiting.
There is a risk of continued failure to achieve Referral to Treatment
targets (18 weeks and 52 week waits (at CCG level, with impacts on
reputation and failure to deliver a national constitutional standard.
• Weekly and monthly monitoring:
• Weekly data from providers, shared with NHS England monthly
• NHS Kernow attend RTT meetings with providers monthly.
• Delivery trajectory in place.
• Demand management work underway.
• Demand management work to seek to reduce unnecessary demand
on secondary care services and reduce variation.
RTT targets are key performance indicators and are regularly reported
to Q&P Committee and GB.
There is a risk that we are unable to commission a case coordination
and case management service for ASD (autism spectrum disorders)
leading to risk of harm to patients and impacts on our reputation.
• A separate case coordination and management service has been
commissioned for individuals needing this service in order to
maintain patient safety; however this is not felt to be a long term
solution.
• CHC team provide oversight for some cases.
• Working with CFT to draft a local delivery model which reflects
NICE recommended treatments
Monitoring of patient escalations within this population.
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Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:

Assurance:

Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:

Assurance:
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There is a risk that South West Ambulance Service NHS Trust (SWAST)
do not achieve the national ambulance response times leading to unassessed clinical risk, poor patient safety/experience, and reputational
harm.
• NHS Kernow work with the coordinating commissioner (Dorset) who
liaise with South West CSU.
• Integrated Quality Monitoring and Performance Group. Strategic
Partnership Board (SPB). Finance Information Group. Quality subgroup. All with NHS Kernow input.
• National standard operating procedure for ensuring patient safety
at times of high demand in place.
• Retrospective reviews and deep dives take place on long delays.
• SWAST Quality Performance Improvement Plan (QPIP) in place and
reported to SPB.
• A&E Delivery Board focusing on ambulance response times as a
key outcome, including work on reducing unnecessary ambulance
dispatches.
• National consideration of actions around categorisation of calls and
standardisation of the approach to reviewing long waits.
Ambulance response times are a key performance indicator regularly
reported to Q&P Committee and GB.
There is a risk that patient safety and experience is put at risk due
to insufficient provision for young people in mental health crisis at a
system level (both tier four bed spaces and discharge places for children
in care). This risk affects very small numbers but is high impact.
• Patients presenting at Treliske needing a bed are placed on Fistral
ward or either CDU or MAU dependent on bed space and age.
Safety then rests with the Hospital.
• CAMHS contract holders assess need for 1:1 supervision, and
hospital will source.
• NHS Kernow are made aware of any children waiting on ward
to approve funding for 1:1 supervision and monitor regularity of
request. Patients are on CAMHS caseload.
• Discharge panel supports plans and joint solutions for delayed
discharges from tier four.
• Contract quality meetings and items brought to Integrated
Assurance meetings.
• NHSE, CCG and CFT now in regular meetings for the development
of the tier four unit and the review and re-design of the CAMHS
system to both prevent and respond to crisis in order to prevent
hospitalisation.
• CAMHS transformation funding allocated in principle to improving
capacity in this area.
NHS Kernow programme managers are contacted about specific cases
when commissioner intervention is being sought. This, together with
correspondence from patient parents, provides insight into issues.
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Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:
Assurance:

Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:
Assurance:
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There is a risk that the CCG continues to fail to achieve the national
dementia diagnosis target (67 percent) leading to increased NHSE
scrutiny and challenge, a diversion of resources to try to rectify
and possible adverse patient experience if they are not identified,
diagnosed and supported within the system.
• Monthly monitoring of data.
• Attendance at regional Dementia Improvement Group.
• Completion of National Data Quality Toolkit in 2017/18 to update
registers.
• Top tips guide developed and shared with GP practices.
• Reconciliations and audits carried out.
• Primary care screening model implemented.
• Deep dive completed with support of NHSE/PHE.
• Two day diagnostic review with national intensive support team
completed July 2017, reported December 2017.
• Dementia clinical dashboard to be further developed.
• Action plan in response to intensive support team diagnostic review
to be agreed by providers and commissioners.
Dementia diagnosis is a key performance indicator regularly reported
to Q&P Committee and GB.
There is a risk that ambulance turnaround (handovers) at RCHT and
PHT falls outside national expectations putting patient care at risk and
resulting in failure of a key target.
• Regular and weekly meetings between CCG, RCHT and SWAST to
review delays and address causes.
• NEW Devon work plan for PHT.
• Peninsula-wide Ambulance Handover Concordat Standard
Operating policies in place.
• A&E Delivery Board oversees this work.
• RCHT safety system in place, monthly audits of patient notes,
reports through contract meeting (with CCG representation).
• Integrated Quality and Performance management Group work plan
includes handovers with associated actions to improve performance
Ambulance handovers are a key performance indicator regularly
reported to Q&P Committee and GB. RCHT safety system reports via
contract meeting for assurance on patient safety.
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Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:

Assurance:

Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:
Assurance:

Risk:

Controls in place:

Action underway/
planned:
Assurance:
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There is a risk that patients will be harmed due to long waits on
cardiology lists at RCHT and NHS Kernow has, as yet, been unable to
obtain sufficient, positive assurance that this has not happened.
• Monthly meetings with cardiology team to review data & support
developments.
• Additional cardiology consultants recruited.
• NHS Kernow review of RCHT CQC action plan.
• Cardiology continues to be discussed at a number of quality and
performance meetings including quality review meetings, Quality
Assurance Committee and Integrated Delivery.
• Discussions ongoing regarding additional cardiology capacity
outside RCHT.
• Linking to RightCare programme re: future pathways.
Progress and patient safety aspects are regularly reviewed at the
quality review meeting, Quality Assurance Committee and Integrated
Assurance and Integrated Delivery meetings which NHS Kernow attend.
CQC reports also provide assurance.
There is a risk that the CCG does not achieve the £29.6 million
Financial Recovery Plan (FRP) savings target, and/or costs otherwise
exceed planned budgets, and, as a result, the CCG financial position
deteriorates more than is already planned, requiring further regulatory
intervention. The acute component of the FRP is £13.84 million.
• PMO and PID Governance in place for FRP.
• Monthly reporting and risk assessment as part of monthly finance
process.
• Executive lead identified for all programmes.
• Actions were all completed by 31 March 2018, target was achieved
and this risk highlighted for closure as relates to the financial year
just ended.
Performance against FRP targets monitored regularly through Finance
Committee and Governing Body.
There is a risk that individuals living within a domestic setting
(home, supported housing) and being cared for with NHS Kernow
commissioned packages, are subject to deprivation of liberty without
appropriate legal frameworks in place. This will potentially impact
on those individuals human rights and safety and NHS Kernow will
potentially be at risk of legal challenge.
• Scoping completed to identify potential CHC funded clients.
• Packages of care confirmed as appropriate to needs.
• Funding identified to increase CCG capacity to address this risk.
• Recruitment to posts aimed at addressing this risk is underway.
CHC staff visit individuals to undertake eligibility assessments and can
raise concerns regarding deprivation of liberty if necessary.
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Other sources of assurance
Internal control framework
An internal control system is the set of
processes and procedures in place to ensure
we deliver our policies, aims and objectives.
It is designed to identify and prioritise risks,
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being
realised and the impact should they be
realised, and to identify ways to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically.
As the system only allows risk to be managed
to a reasonable level rather than eliminating
all risk, it can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance of effectiveness.
In addition to the risk management processes
previously identified, we also have a Governing
Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) in place.
This provides a strategic level of assurance
underpinned by a matrix of supporting staff
and processes.

Objective
Finance
Quality and
performance

Five Year
Forward View
Organisational
recovery
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Risk
10638 - FRP acute
4120 - RCHT ED
4948 - Category 1 and 2
6067 - PHT ED
7006 - ASD case management
4916 - CYP crisis
10453 - RCHT cardio
10644 - RTT CCG patient safety
4108 - Ambulance turnaround
5001 - Stroke
5044 - DOLS
7011 - Dementia diagnosis
7025 - RTT CCG
No current red corporate risks

The framework aligns key corporate risks to
our strategic objectives, providing details
of how these are being mitigated, with
assessments on the effectiveness of those
controls, as well as highlighting where there
are gaps in control or assurance. The tables
on pages 72 to 77 on the red corporate risks
sets out the actions planned and underway
to reduce these risks by addressing gaps in
control.
The GBAF is reviewed and reported to
the Governing Body quarterly. The Audit
Committee also regularly receives GBAF
reports.
The Governing Body Assurance Framework in
March 2018 is summarised below.

Adequacy
score
3
3
3
2
3
2
3
2
3
3
2
3
3

RAG rating against
the number of
assurance outcomes

Strength
of
assurance
External
External
Weak
External
Internal
Internal
Internal
Internal
External
External
Weak
External
External

No current red corporate risks
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Our committee structures and responsibilities
(set out on page 64) ensure regular scrutiny
and review of key reports on financial
performance, achievement of national
and local ambitions and objectives around
performance and quality of services, review of
audit reports, risk registers and indicators such
as training uptake, sickness absence and staff
turnover.

Annual audit of conflicts of
interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing
conflicts of interest (published June 2016)
requires CCGs to carry out an annual internal
audit of conflicts of interest management.
To support CCGs in this task, NHS England
published a template audit framework.
Using this framework our internal auditors
TIAA, carried out their annual internal audit
of conflicts of interest in 2017/18 resulting in a
finding of ‘substantial assurance’.
The audit assessed our arrangements for
handling conflicts as:
• Fully compliant regarding overall
governance.
• Partially compliant in respect of processes
for declaring interests and gifts and
hospitality.
• Fully compliant relating to registers
of interests, gifts and hospitality and
procurement decisions.
• Fully compliant regarding decision making
processes and contract monitoring.
• Fully compliant in respect of reporting
concerns and identifying and managing
breaches/ non-compliance.
The partial compliance related to the fact
that at the time of the audit we had not yet
received completed declarations of interest
forms from 100 percent of our staff, GPs and
practice managers.
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The table below shows response rates at the
time of the audit in February 2018 and the
improvement by 31 March 2018:
Group

CCG staff and
Governing
Body
members
General
practices
Practice
managers

Percentage
received at
time of audit
95%

Percentage
received 31
March 2018
99.6%

72%

82.8%

53%

62.1%

Data quality
Our Data Quality Policy sets out a clear
framework for maintaining and improving
data quality. We receive regular information
from service providers which is used to
monitor the performance of the NHS
Constitutional Standards, National Operating
requirements, performance of commissioned
services via the contractual agreements and to
contribute to the planning and development
of services.
Service providers are required to carry out
checks to ensure that the information they
provide is accurate and complete. Where
data falls outside anticipated ranges a
more detailed evaluation and validation is
carried out jointly or by the provider or our
organisation.
Regular Technical Review meetings are held
with major providers and any unresolved
issues are escalated to the monthly Integrated
Assurance meetings. This ensures that any
data discrepancies are picked up and any
corrections are made as required. Any areas
of concern are considered jointly between
commissioner and provider and potentially
form part of the annual audit programme.
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Information governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework
sets the processes and procedures by which the
NHS handles information about patients and
employees, in particular personal identifiable
information.
The Framework is supported by an information
governance toolkit and the annual submission
process provides assurances to the CCG, other
organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely,
efficiently and effectively.
Our most recent review confirmed we had
achieved a satisfactory level of compliance
with the NHS Information Governance (IG)
toolkit at level two in 2017/18, with our
internal auditors providing a finding of
“substantial assurance” from their audit of
the toolkit evidence. This means we met all
the required IG toolkit standards, including
appropriate policies and procedures,
information sharing and access controls where
necessary, network management controls,
anti-virus protection, guidance materials and
training, incident management procedures and
formal contract clauses.
Risks to data security are discussed at the
Information Governance sub-committee and
added to the organisational risk register for
monitoring and mitigation.
We place a very high importance on ensuring
there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect
patient and corporate information. We have
established an information governance
management framework and developed
information governance processes and
procedures in line with the information
governance toolkit. Processes are in place to
ensure all staff carry out annual information
governance training.
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There are also processes and policies in place
for incident reporting and the investigation of
serious incidents, which include information
governance and data security incidents.

Business critical models
We have identified business critical models to
support our work in finance, contracting and
business intelligence. The most critical of these
is the Integrated Single Finance Environment
(ISFE) which is provided by NHS England under
its contract with the NHS Shared Business
Services.
This common system is used across all CCGs,
commissioning support units and NHS England,
to ensure proper financial and corporate
governance, financial consistency and proper
risk management relating to the transfer of
financial information.
We obtain assurance regarding the application
of effective financial processes through
the Service Auditor report provided by our
external auditors Grant Thornton.

Third party assurances
We receive assurances from our third party
providers via our contract monitoring
mechanisms. Payroll services are provided by
RCHT, with regular meetings held to discuss
the delivery of the service in line with the
contract and service specification.
We also have a contract with Cornwall
Information Technology Services (CITS) to
provide a number of services, including end
user and system application support and
system security. A management board has
been established which now meets regularly to
allow discussions regarding service provision.
We receive ledger services from NHS SBS
(Shared Business Services) as part of a national
contract and also receive assurances on this.
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Control issues
We are required by law to set and deliver
a financial plan which complies with key
financial statutory duties, including a
requirement not to overspend resources. In
2015/16, 2016/17, and in 2017/18, our level of
expenditure exceeded our available resource,
resulting in a breach of the relevant statutory
duties. This has been routinely reported to the
Governing Body, and to internal and external
auditors.
This meant that in 2015/16 and in 2016/17
we were subject to a section 30 report from
external audit to the Secretary of State
advising them of the breach of statutory
duties. We also received an adverse qualified
value for money (VFM) and regulatory opinion
as a result of this overspending (the True and
Fair opinion was unqualified).
Statutory duty
Expenditure not to
exceed income
Revenue resource
use does not
exceed the amount
specified in
Directions

Target
Delivered?
Breakeven
No
or better
Breakeven
No
or better

As the CCG has set a plan to meet its control
total in 2018 the auditors do not consider
there is a need to issue a section 30 report
in 2018. In addition the auditors have issued
an “except for” qualified value for money
conclusion which demonstrates a positive
direction of travel for the CCG, however we
did still receive a qualified regularity opinion
as a result of the overspend for 201718. The
True and Fair opinion remained unqualified.
We have been working extremely hard
to manage these financial challenges and
in 2017/18 successfully delivered £32.5
million savings (4.3 percent) - a significant
achievement in the current financial climate
and one which builds on the £7 million
(1 percent) savings delivered in 2015/16.
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Our financial plan evaluated a significant
level of risk in the plan before the start of the
financial year (£5.9 million), mainly linked to
the delivery of the planned level of savings.
Monthly forecasting has shown a reducing
level of unmitigated risk throughout the year,
and by month 10 this had been fully mitigated.
This means our outturn at £33.2 million deficit
(after the deployment of headroom reserves) is
in line with the initial plan.

Review of economy, efficiency
and effectiveness of the use of
resources
Financial planning and in-year performance
monitoring is conducted by our Finance
Committee which meets monthly and reports
to the Governing Body. It is also overseen by
the Audit Committee and subject to scrutiny
by NHS England.
Our financial controls are reviewed by
Internal Audit each year, with External Audit
providing independent assurance that the
annual accounts give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the accounting
policies directed by the NHS Commissioning
Board with the consent of the Secretary of
State as relevant to the National Health Service
in England. Their reports for 2017/18 can be
found within the annual report and accounts.
Our value for money (VFM) assessment is
subject to formal review as part of the audit
of the annual accounts carried out by Grant
Thornton who provide a formal opinion as
part of their year-end audit. In 2015/16 and
2016/17 we received an adverse qualified VFM
opinion because of overspending our allocated
resources. For 2017/18 we received an “except
for” qualified opinion for value for money,
reflecting the positive direction travel.
The way we negotiate and manage our
contracts, report on performance and
carry out procurement all contribute to
the economic, efficient and effective use
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of resources. An internal audit on our
procurement management carried out in
2017/18 resulted in a finding of ‘reasonable
assurance’, with recommendations to increase
training for staff and amend and finalise the
procurement protocol being progressed and
monitored by the Audit Committee.
Management costs and the use of staffing are
reviewed and monitored through our finance
reports as well as through the work of the
Workforce Committee which receives reports
on staff turnover and vacancies, agency costs
and sickness absence levels. A resource request
process is in place to review all recruitment
and ensure it is appropriately funded and
effectively planned. As demonstrated in
the financial statements we are spending
significantly less on administrative costs than
we are permitted. This has allowed more
funding to be spent on providing healthcare
services for our people.
Our Quality, Innovation, Productivity and
Prevention (QIPP) savings plans for 2017/18
included a number of measures designed to
improve the efficiency and effectiveness of
use of resources. These included optimising
prescribing to monitor the amount of money
spent on drugs while also ensuring the drugs
used were clinically appropriate and effective,
to generate less waste and ensure we were in
line with national guidance.
We are assessed by NHS England against four
domains under the CCG Improvement and
Assessment Framework.
Ratings for 2017/18 are yet to be received and
not expected until after publication of this
document.
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Counter fraud arrangements
We are provided with counter fraud services,
in line with the NHS Protect Standards for
Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption,
by TIAA, who also provide our internal
audit function. An accredited Counter Fraud
Specialist (LCFS) is contracted to undertake
counter fraud work proportionate to
identified risks. The LCFS is an invited attendee
of Audit Committee and counter fraud is
a standing item on the Audit Committee
agenda.
Our Audit Committee receives and approves
the LCFS proactive work plan to address
identified risks, which is aligned with NHS
Protect Standards for Commissioners. The
Committee then receives regular reports
which detail progress against the work
plan, including information on any ongoing
investigations. All counter fraud issues are
covered in the ISA240 letters to external audit
signed by the Chief Finance Officer and the
Chair of the Audit Committee.
The Chief Finance Officer is the Governing
Body member with responsibility for tackling
fraud, bribery and corruption.

Head of Internal Audit opinion
Following completion of the planned audit
work for the CCG for the financial year, the
Head of Internal Audit issued an independent
and objective opinion on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk
management, governance and internal control.
This states:

Delegation of functions
We have not delegated any of our functions
during 2017/18. We reviewed our Scheme of
Delegation to committees and officers this
year and this was ratified by the Governing
Body in February 2018.
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“The purpose of my Head of Internal Audit
Opinion is to contribute to the assurances
available to the Accountable Officer and
the Governing Body which underpin the
Governing Body’s own assessment of the
effectiveness of the organisation’s system of
internal control. This opinion will, in turn,
assist the Governing Body in the completion of
its Annual Governance Statement.

Overall opinion
My overall opinion is that reasonable assurance
can be given that there is a generally sound
system of internal control, designed to meet
the organisation’s objectives, and that controls
are generally being applied consistently.
However, some weakness in the design and/
or inconsistent application of controls, put the
achievement of particular objectives at risk.

It is noted that the CCG is currently reporting
a net year-end deficit of £33.2m, comprising
a planned deficit £37.6m, offset by releases
of funds of £3.7m headroom and £0.7m
Cat M drugs savings. This is in excess of the
permitted deficit control total of £19.9million
for 2017/18 set by NHS England. The CCG has
worked with NHS England in respect of the
implications of this, and to take appropriate
short and medium term steps to return the
CCG to a secure and sustainable financial
basis. My opinion on the organisation’s system
of internal control has taken this factor into
account.

Basis of opinion
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
1. An assessment of the design and operation
of the underpinning Assurance Framework
and supporting processes.
2. An assessment of the range of individual
opinions arising from risk-based audit
assignments, contained within internal
audit risk-based plans that have been
reported throughout the year. This
assessment has taken account of the
relative materiality of these areas and
management’s progress in respect of
addressing control weaknesses.
3. Additional areas of work that may support
the opinion will be determined locally but
are not required for Department of Health
purposes eg any reliance that is being
placed upon Third Party Assurances.

Assurance assessments 2017/18
System

Substantial Reasonable
assurances assurance

Personal health budgets (split opinion:
Governance = limited assurance / financial
monitoring = no assurance)
Procurement

a

a

a

Section 75 agreements

a
a
a

Financial systems
Safeguarding
Assurance framework and risk
management
Continuing healthcare arrangements
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No
assurance

a

Disaster recovery

Personal health budgets - follow up
Corporate governance arrangements conflicts of interest
Information governance

Limited
assurance

a
a
N/A - advisory

a
a
83
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All recommendations from internal audit
reports are recorded and followed up
internally for progress to completion. This is
reported to the Audit Committee regularly.
An audit of Personal Health Budgets (PHB)
highlighted issues concerning the adequacy
of the financial controls in this area, citing
a lack of internal financial reviews. It also
raised concerns around overdue clinical case
reviews, compliance with policy, a lack of
regular management reports on PHB activity,
the filing of documentation and the use of
the dedicated IT system for PHB management.
As a result all new PHB applications were put
on hold while work took place to improve the
arrangements.
The PHB team have progressed a number
of the actions required, with financial and
case reviews now being carried out. There
have been regular overview reports to Audit
Committee, who also received a more in depth
update at their meeting in January. However,
a recent follow up audit has indicated that
further effort is required to progress these
actions to closure.
The Disaster Recovery audit, which was
focused on information technology recovery,
raised concerns relating to a lack of recovery
testing and third party assurance as well
as reporting follow up actions and lessons
learned from actual incidents. It also
highlighted issues around gaps in IT business
continuity plans. We have now progressed
the actions stemming from the audit in liaison
with CITS, and a number have been closed.
Work is ongoing on areas such as incident
reporting and handling with Audit Committee
receiving regular overview updates.

Review of the effectiveness of
governance, risk management
and internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control is informed by
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the work of the internal auditors, executive
managers and clinical leads within the CCG
who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on performance
information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external
auditors in their annual audit letter and other
reports.
Our Governing Body Assurance Framework
provides evidence that the effectiveness
of controls that manage risks to the CCG
achieving its principles objectives have been
reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the
result of my review by the Governing Body,
Audit Committee, the Finance, Workforce and
Quality and Performance Committees and
Internal Audit.
During 2017/18 a considerable number of
internal audits have resulted in findings of
reasonable, and in some cases substantial,
assurance on the effectiveness of systems and
processes.

Conclusion
2017/18 saw continued improvements in the
governance structures of NHS Kernow to
strengthen internal control. As predicted, the
significant control issue previously identified
relating to financial performance remains
relevant for 2017/18, with work ongoing as
an organisation and with partners across
the health and social care system to identify
the issues and implement corrective action
to ensure we are commissioning quality,
sustainable services for the population of
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.

Jackie Pendleton
Accountable Officer
22 May 2018
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Remuneration report
Remuneration Committee
Members of this committee are appointed from the organisation’s Governing Body and
Executive Management Team.
The committee comprises:
• One Governing Body lay member (with a nominated alternate).
• One Governing Body GP (with a nominated alternate who must be fully briefed and able to
operate with full authority over any issue arising at the meeting).
• One Governing Body clinical member (with a nominated alternate).
The lay member is the chair of the committee. In the absence of the chair of the committee, the
committee will be chaired by the Governing Body GP member.
The current members of the Remuneration Committee are:
• Rev Jeff James - Governing Body lay member and chair of the committee.
• Dr Rob White - Governing Body GP.
• Maggie Scott - Governing Body clinical nurse member.

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
The remuneration of our directors is consistent with the NHS England CCGs Remuneration
Guidance for Chief Officers and Chief Finance Officers.
All proposals and decisions regarding Very Senior Managers are considered by the Remuneration
Committee whose primary function is to fulfil its obligation with respect to remuneration and
terms of service for the Chief Officer, directors, other Very Senior Managers, Governing Body,
members and clinical leads as outlined in the Constitution.
We also carry out benchmarking with other CCGs to ensure fairness and consistency and take
into account remuneration of colleagues across the organisation.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
Governing Body GP members are employed by the CCG on a part time basis. The full time
equivalent salary exceeds £150,000.
The remuneration for GPs is paid in line with the NHS England Guidance CCG governing body
members: role outlines, attributes and skills which states that remuneration should be either at a
rate commensurate with allowing backfill or in line with local sessional rate.
Governing Body GPs are paid a sessional rate in line with this guidance. This rate has remained
unchanged since 2013.
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3
3
3
3
1,3
1
1
1
1

Dr Judith Duckworth - GP member

Dr Alison Flanagan - GP member

Dr Francis Old - GP member

Dr Robert White - GP member

Maggie Scott - Nurse member

Dr Sarah Bridges - Secondary Care Clinician

Chris Blong - Lay member - Deputy Chair, Governance and
Audit Lead

John Yarnold - Lay member - Finance Committee Chair

Jeffrey James - Lay member (Patient and Public Involvement)

0

0

3

0

4

2

0

2

4

1

2

0

4

2

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

£’000

Performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

£’000

Long term
performance
pay and bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

0

0

0

0

0

27.5-30

5-7.5

22.5-25

52.5-55

2.5-5

25-27.5

0

252.5-255

50-52.5

12.5-15

0-2.5

(Note 5)

£’000

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

5-10

5-10

20-25

10-15

30-35

60-65

45-50

110-115

105-110

25-30

125-130

85-90

370-375

165-170

80-85

125-130

£’000

Total (bands
of £5,000)

Accountability report

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

Remuneration of senior managers is decided by the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee is comprised of the Chairman
and three lay members of NHS Kernow. Levels of remuneration are considered by the Remuneration Committee and take account of the size
of the organisation and the complexity of the operational circumstances it operates within. Benchmarking against other organisations is also
considered in setting remuneration levels.

5-10

5-10

20-25

10-15

30-35

30-35

40-45

85-90

50-55

25-30

3

Dr Paul Cook - GP member

85-90

Anthony McKeever - Turnaround Director (until 28/10/17)
95-100

115-120

Helen Childs - Chief Operating Officer

Natalie Jones - Chief Nursing Officer

115-120

Simon Bell - Chief Finance Officer

3

4

(Note 4)

£’00

£’000
125-130

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

65-70

2

Notes

Dr Iain Chorlton - Chair

Jackie Pendleton - Chief Officer

Name and title

2017/18

Senior manager remuneration
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20-25

1
1

Chris Blong - Lay member - Deputy Chair, Governance and
Audit Lead

Dr Sarah Bridges - Secondary Care Clinician
70-75
5-10
25-30

Dr Iain Chorlton - Chair

Dr Paul Cook - GP member (from 04/10/16)

Dr Judith Duckworth - GP member

2

0

4

0

0

4

5

1

2

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

£’000

Performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

£’000

Long term
performance
pay and bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

7.5-10

137.5-140

20-22.5

92.5-95

0

0

67.5-70

10-12.5

22.5-25

(Note 5)

£’000

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

30-35

145-150

90-95

115-120

10-15

20-25

175-180

50-55

90-95

£’000

Total (bands
of £5,000)
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No pensionable remuneration received from the Clinical Commissioning Group.
These amounts are an estimate of the remuneration fees paid to individuals by the agencies that supplied them.
Includes an element of remuneration earned in respect of clinical work in addition to Governing Body responsibilities
Expense payments (taxable) relate to benefits-in-kind arising from salary sacrifice schemes and travel expenses. Note these figures are
stated in hundreds of pounds, not thousands of pounds.
5. The NHS Pension scheme is a defined benefit scheme based on earnings. Pension Related Benefits are based on a nominal calculations
of the accrued increase in future benefits payable in retirement, rather than the cost of contributions in-year. This calculation, which is
defined nationally, takes account of total increases in benefits over the first twenty years of retirement, and so a small change in annual
pension entitlement can lead to a significant figure being reported in the above tables.

1.
2.
3.
4.

Notes

25-30

Helen Childs - Chief Operating Officer (from 16/01/17)

10-15

110-115

Simon Bell - Chief Finance Officer

40-45

Dr Tamsyn Anderson - Medical Director & GP member (until
30/09/16)

£’00

£’000
(Note 4)

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

65-70
3

Notes

Andrew Abbott - Director of Strategy & Planning (until
30/11/16)

Name and title

2016/17

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

1

John Yarnold - Lay member - Finance Committee Chair (from
01/02/17)

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

35-40

4

Dr Robert White - GP member
0-5

40-45

Andy Smith - Programme Director for Cornwall Devolution
Deal (until 18/05/16)

20-25

Maggie Scott - Nurse member

1,4

35-40

145-150

Keith Pringle - Turnaround Director (until 30/09/16)

2

125-130

Jackie Pendleton - Interim Chief Officer

Tracey Roose - Director of Transformation & Partnership
(until 21/08/16)

35-40

65-70

Anthony McKeever - Turnaround Director (from 03/10/16)

Dr Francis Old - GP member

65-70

Karen Kay - Director of Commissioning (until 30/11/16)
2

95-100

Natalie Jones - Chief Nursing Officer (from 01/12/16);
Programme Director for Clinical Quality (until 30/11/16)

5-10

Jeffrey James - Lay member (from 20/04/15) - Patient and
Public Involvement Lead
1

5-10
65-70

65-70

£’00

£’000

0

2

1

4

2

0

7

5

0

2

3

0

5

0

4

(Note 4)

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Kathryn Hudson - Director of Integrated Commissioning
(until 30/11/16)

4

Notes

Dr Janine Glazier - GP member (from 04/10/16 to 05/03/17)

Dr Alison Flanagan - GP member

Name and title

2016/17
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0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

£’000

Performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

£’000

0

10-12.5

2.5-5

0

0

N/A

87.5-90

0

N/A

50-52.5

22.5-25

0

47.5-50

55-57.5

22.5-25

(Note 5)

£’000

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

0-5

45-50

45-50

25-30

35-40

145-150

215-220

40-45

65-70

115-120

120-125

5-10

115-120

60-65

90-95

£’000

Total (bands
of £5,000)
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Long term
performance
pay and bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
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10-12.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
2.5-5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5

Simon Bell - Chief Finance Officer

Helen Childs - Chief Operating Officer

Dr Iain Chorlton - Chair

Dr Paul Cook - GP member

Dr Judith Duckworth - GP member

Dr Alison Flanagan - GP member

Natalie Jones - Chief Nursing Officer

Dr Francis Old - GP member

Dr Robert White - GP member

0-2.5

0-2.5

5-7.5

2.5-5

0

0

0-(2.5)

27.5-30

2.5-5

2.5-5

15-20

15-20

25-30

5-10

15-20

5-10

10-15

40-45

35-40

35-40

£000

Total accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31/03/18
(Bands of
£5,000)

40-45

45-50

85-90

25-30

35-40

15-20

20-25

115-120

90-95

110-115

£000

Lump sum
at pension
age related
to accrued
pension at
31/03/18
(Bands of
£5,000)

248

346

533

160

239

99

172

491

524

754

£000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2017

277

0

605

199

282

106

192

731

604

819

£000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2018

26

0

67

37

41

6

19

236

75

57

Note 1

£000

Real Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

£00

Employer’s
Contribution
to
Stakeholder
Pension
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Due to changes in the NHS Pension scheme there is no longer a fixed age at which employees become entitled to receive their pension. As a
result all figures quoted above relate to the senior manager’s personal circumstances.					
									
Certain Governing Body members do not receive pensionable remuneration and therefore there are no entries in respect of pensions for
those members									
									
The disclosures for GP members exclude earnings as a General Practitioner, in line with current guidance.				
									

0-2.5
2.5-5

Jackie Pendleton - Chief Officer

Note 1

£000

£000
Note 1

Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real increase
in pension at
pension age
(Bands of
£2,500)

Name and title

2017/18

Pension benefits

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

0-2.5
2.5-5
0-2.5
0-2.5
2.5-5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5

0-2.5
0-2.5

Dr Tamsyn Anderson - Medical Director &
GP member (until 30/09/16)

Simon Bell - Chief Finance Officer

Helen Childs - Chief Operating Officer
(from 16/01/17)

Dr Iain Chorlton - Chair

Dr Paul Cook - GP member (from
04/10/16)

Dr Judith Duckworth - GP member

Dr Alison Flanagan - GP member

Dr Janine Glazier - GP member (from
04/10/16 to 05/03/17)

Kathryn Hudson - Director of Integrated
Commissioning (until 30/11/16)

Natalie Jones - Chief Nursing Officer
(from 01/12/16); Programme Director for
Clinical Quality (until 30/11/16)

Karen Kay - Director of Commissioning
(until 30/11/16)

Dr Francis Old - GP member

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

0-2.5

Andrew Abbott - Director of Strategy &
Planning (until 30/11/16)

0-2.5

0

2.5-5

0

0-2.5

2.5-5

0-2.5

7.5-10

0-2.5

0-2.5

5-7.5

0-2.5

0

Note 1

£000

£000
Note 1

Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real increase
in pension at
pension age
(Bands of
£2,500)

Name and title

2016/17
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10-15

10-15

25-30

15-20

25-30

5-10

10-15

5-10

10-15

25-30

30-35

10-15

5-10

£000

Total accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31/03/18
(Bands of
£5,000)

40-45

0

80-85

15-20

70-75

20-25

35-40

15-20

20-25

85-90

85-90

30-35

5-10

£000

Lump sum
at pension
age related
to accrued
pension at
31/03/18
(Bands of
£5,000)

324

92

488

233

370

123

216

0

145

462

461

177

90

£000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2017

346

131

533

285

409

160

239

99

172

491

524

199

115

22

26

44

35

17

37

22

49

27

6

63

11

17

Note 1

£000

Real Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

£00

Employer’s
Contribution
to
Stakeholder
Pension
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£000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2018
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N/A
0-2.5
0-2.5

Tracey Roose - Director of Transformation
& Partnership (until 21/08/16)

Andy Smith - Programme Director for
Cornwall Devolution Deal (until 18/05/16)

Dr Robert White - GP member

0-2.5

0

N/A

12.5-15

10-15

5-10

N/A

35-40

£000

Total accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31/03/18
(Bands of
£5,000)

40-45

10-15

N/A

105-110

£000

Lump sum
at pension
age related
to accrued
pension at
31/03/18
(Bands of
£5,000)

223

99

N/A

638

£000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2017

248

106

N/A

754

£000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2018

25

1

N/A

116

Note 1

£000

Real Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

0

0

N/A

0

£00

Employer’s
Contribution
to
Stakeholder
Pension
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1. Where the office holder is only in post for part of the year the increases in pension, lump sum and cash equivalent transfer value are prorated according to the duration of the post held; pension and lump sum values are the actual entitlements at the start and end of the
year.									

				
									
Notes

2.5-5

Jackie Pendleton - Interim Chief Officer

Note 1

£000

£000
Note 1

Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real increase
in pension at
pension age
(Bands of
£2,500)

Name and title

2016/17

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Accountability report

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
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Compensation on early retirement or
for loss of office

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is
the actuarially assessed capital value of the
There have been no payments of this nature.
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member
at a particular point in time. The benefits
Payments to past members
valued are the members’ accrued benefits and
any contingent spouse’s pension payable from
There have been no payments of this nature.
the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by
a pension scheme or arrangement to secure
Pay multiples
pension benefits in another pension scheme
or arrangement when the member leaves a
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit
relationship between the remuneration of
accrued in their former scheme. The pension
the highest-paid director / member in their
figures shown relate to the benefits that the
organisation and the median remuneration
individual has accrued as a consequence of
of the organisation’s workforce based on full
their total membership of the pension scheme, time equivalent salaries.
not just their service in a senior capacity to
which disclosure applies.					
The banded remuneration of the CCG’s
				
highest paid director / member in the financial
The CETV figure and other pension details,
year 2017/18 was the position of Chair / GP
include the value of any pension benefits in
Governing Body member at £150,000 to
another scheme or arrangement which the
£155,000 (£155,000 to £160,000 in 2016/17).
individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme. They also include any additional
This was 4.66 times (4.69 in 2016/17) the
pension benefit accrued to the member as
median remuneration of the workforce which
a result of their purchasing additional years
was £32,731 (£33,560 in 2016/17).
of pension service in the scheme at their
own cost. CETVs are calculated within the
In 2017/18 no employee received remuneration
guidelines and framework prescribed by the
in excess of the highest-paid director /
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.			
member. Remuneration ranged from £7,882 to
					
£150,172 (£7,882 to £158,400 in 2016/17).

Real Increase in CETV					
				

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively
funded by the employer. It takes account
of the increase in accrued pension due to
inflation, contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of any benefits transferred
from another scheme or arrangement) and
uses common market valuation factors for the
start and end of period.
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Employees received a one percent pay uplift
in 2017/2018. There was no pay uplift for VSM
salaries.
Total remuneration includes salary, nonconsolidated performance-related pay,
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.
It does not include employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer
value of pensions.
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Staff report
Number of senior managers
Pay band
Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
VSM

Number of senior
managers
19
5
6
4
1
7

Staff composition
Staff group
Members of the governing body
All other senior managers, including all
managers at grade VSM (not including
members of the Governing Body)
All other employees not included in either of
the previous two categories

Female
5 (38%)
31 (73%)

Male
8 (62%)
9 (27%)

182 (78%)

47 (22%)

Sickness absence data
NHS sickness figures are provided by NHS Digital and are based on the period 1 January 2017 to
31 December 2017.
There have been no ill health retirements in the current year (2016/17: two cases).

Total days lost
Total staff years
Average working days lost

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

2017/18
Number
1,904
226
8.4

2016/17
Number
2,194
236
9.3

93

159
10,432

£’000
9,071
862
1,054

159
11,146

Total

1
27
7
10,655
Total
Permanent
employees
£’000
8,364
859
1,050

1
27
7
10,142

£’000
8,793
811
1,016

Total

Total
Permanent
employees
£’000
8,295
806
1,006

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to
NHS Pension Scheme
Termination benefits
Total

2016/17

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to
NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship levy
Termination benefits
Total

2017/18

Staff costs and employee benefits

94

0
714

£’000
707
3
4

Other

0
0
0
513

£’000
498
5
10

Other

159
7,773

£’000
6,217
638
759

Total

0
27
7
7,003

£’000
5,679
579
711

Total

159
7,087

5,538
635
755

Admin
Permanent
employees

0
27
7
6,752

5,440
575
703

Admin
Permanent
employees

0
686

£’000
679
3
4

Other

0
0
0
251

£’000
239
4
8

Other

0
3,345

Programme
Permanent
employees
£’000
2,826
224
295

1
0
0
3,390

£’000

0
28

28
0
20

Other

0
0
0
262

£’000
259
1
2

Other
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0
3,373

£’000
2,854
224
295

Total

1
0
0
3,652

£’000
3,114
232
305

Total

Programme
Permanent
employees
£’000
2,855
231
303
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Staff policies
We are committed to the principles of equality of opportunity and encouraging diversity in the
workplace.
As a Two Ticks employer we offer interviews to any disabled applicants who meet the essential
criteria for a role and as a Mindful Employer we take a proactive approach to support people
working with a mental health condition.
Training is provided for managers on supporting colleagues with ill health which includes
support offered to employees who may become disabled during their employment.
A health and wellbeing survey was also carried out to identify the plans and actions that can be
taken to support staff with work-related and other causes of stress.
We reviewed our discretionary leave policy ensuring that flexibility for paid and unpaid time off
is supported where possible for colleagues in respect of carer or other needs.

Relationships with Trade Unions
We continue to work in partnership with Trades Unions colleagues, both in regard to CCG
business and on wider system development matters within the Social Partnership Forum.
Our Partnership agreement supports consultation with Trades Unions in relation to key changes
in our people policies as well as any significant matters affecting the CCG.
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Staff engagement
We know that our amazing staff are our
greatest asset. During the past 12 months,
despite the many challenges facing them,
they have continued to ensure that people in
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly get high quality
care that meets their needs.
In return we want to ensure that we support
them to deliver the many things asked of them
and provide them with a good place to work.
Staff views are extremely important to us and
we have continued with our commitment to
improve our communication with staff at all
levels of the organisation.
Our weekly newsletter has been refreshed
during the past 12 months following staff
feedback which has resulted in a larger
readership. We have also expanded it to
include more useful information and give
staff the opportunity to provide comments
on changes in policies and procedures as well
as share their achievements and great work.
Similarly, the monthly Directors’ Briefing has
continued to grow in popularity and has
developed to provide an open and supportive
forum for colleagues to ask questions.
We relaunched our internal website, the
Staff Zone, in autumn 2017 to make it slicker,
brighter and friendlier to use. It is now the
one-stop NHS work hub and not only provides
staff with all they need to know about
working for NHS Kernow, but also provides
a space where staff can connect with Royal
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust, dentists, GPs and
practice colleagues.
We will now be building on this, with future
developments allowing staff to share work
and ideas with colleagues at NHS organisations
and health groups across Cornwall and the
Isles of Scilly.
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One of the key themes during the past year
has been to look at how we can support our
staff to become a resilient workforce and
achieve their potential.
Staff Voice, the six-weekly staff representatives
meeting, has really developed, with more
people than ever before requesting to join.
Staff Voice champions, known as ‘Voicers’, act
as points of contact for all staff as they are
spread across the organisation. Staff Voice has
worked hard on the development of a health
and wellbeing action plan to support the
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016 -2019.
As part of Staff Voice’s focus around the
health and wellbeing of colleagues, they ran
a Health and Wellbeing survey to coincide
with World Mental Health Day. The aim of
the survey was to identify and acknowledge
that stress can impact anyone (it is the biggest
reason for absence in our workforce) and find
out the wide range of things which can cause
stress. The survey also asked staff to highlight
what would help to prevent and reduce stress
and what support they needed during periods
of stress.
There were 86 responses to the survey across
all of the sites, with 76 percent of staff saying
they were clear with regards to what was
expected of them during work. 79 percent
said they were clear about their duties, with
78 percent saying they could rely on their line
manager for help and also received help and
support from colleagues. Other responses
included 66 percent confirming they work very
intensively, 40 percent saying they neglect
tasks because they have too much to do
and 56 percent stating they felt there were
sufficient opportunities to talk about change.
The biggest causes of non-work related stress
(42 responses) included change of health
of a family member (41 percent), change in
sleeping habits (36 percent) and financial
worries (40 percent).
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The results of this year’s National Staff
Survey, which we have completed for a third
consecutive year, enabled us to compare the
current situation with that of the previous
two years. A total of 254 (77.5 percent) of
staff from across all our bases took part in this
year’s survey. Staff felt progress had continued
to be made within the organisation, with most
staff saying they felt trusted in the job they
do and were satisfied with the recognition
they receive for good work. While most staff
acknowledged further improvements had
been made in the communication between
senior managers and staff, some felt the
organisation still needed to concentrate on
making sure all managers act effectively on
staff feedback. Training was also highlighted
as requiring some more work.
Once again the information on the survey was
disseminated differently this year as directors
were asked to discuss the overall findings
with their teams and then to identify actions
relevant to their areas of work in order to
continue to build on improving engagement
and ownership of the results.
Other ways staff achievements have been
recognised this year include the use of the
Staff Bulletin to publicise our staff award
scheme ‘Colleague of the Quarter’ and ‘thank
you’ boards where staff can post comments to
thank colleagues for their help and support.

Training and development
We continue to invest in a range of ways to
support the development and training of our
staff.
We have worked with colleagues within our
STP community to streamline statutory and
mandatory training so that the training records
of staff moving between NHS organisations
are recognised. We have also collaborated
with colleagues across the system in other
areas of training and development including
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a successful application to the South West
Leadership Academy to be part of pilot to
run Coaching Skills Workshops. The pilot has
been very successful, with high demand for
workshops and very positive feedback from
attendees.
Other training and development courses run
by the CCG and our NHS partner organisations
are also increasingly open to staff across the
system, irrespective of who may be hosting.
Plans for 2018/19 include looking at
opportunities for a joint approach in providing
Leadership development, ‘Management
Passport’ training and Talent Management
to further develop opportunities to work
together and improve the training and
development offering to NHS staff across
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
As a result of the apprentice levy we have
further increased our apprenticeship offering
and now have seven apprentices who are
working towards qualifications in business
administration, accountancy and customer
service, exceeding the target required by the
levy.
We continue to support our nurses with the
revalidation process and have supported
them by commissioning training in Basic Life
Support, Lone working and Conflict resolution.
Development opportunities come in many
forms and, as vacancies have arisen, teams
have looked at opportunities to provide
‘development roles’. These give staff the
opportunity to step up, supported with
development plans, to undertake new roles
and responsibilities. These opportunities
have been particularly successful following
a Mutually Agreed Resignations Scheme
(MARS) run in early 2017/18 which provided
the opportunity to review skills mix and the
potential within current teams.

97

Accountability report

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Expenditure on consultancy
The CCG has incurred very little spend on this area of expenditure compared to previous years.
In 2017/18 the spend was £6,000 to a spend of £307,000 in 2016/17.

Off-payroll engagements longer than six months
This table includes details of all off-payroll engagements of more than £220 per day and which
lasted longer than six months as at 31 March 2018:
Number
2

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2018
Of which, the number that have existed:
• For less than one year at the time of reporting
• For between one and two years at the time of reporting
• For between two and three years at the time of reporting
• For between three and four years at the time of reporting
• For four or more years at the time of reporting

2
0
0
0
0

All existing off-roll payroll engagements have been subject to a risk based assessment to check
that the individual is paying the right amount of tax.

New off-payroll engagements
This table includes details of all new off-payroll engagements of more than £220 per day which
lasted for longer than six months between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018:

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018
Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving NHS
Kernow the right to request assurance in relation to income tax and National
Insurance obligations
Number for whom assurance has been requested
Of which, the number that have existed:
• Assurance has been received
• Assurance has not been received
• Engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received.
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Number
2
1

1
0
0
0
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Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements
This table includes details of any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior
officials with significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018:

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and / or senior officers
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year
Total number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial
responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should include both on
payroll and off-payroll engagements.

Number
1
16

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments

Number of compulsory
redundancies
Cost of compulsory
redundancies (£)
Number of other departures
agreed
Cost of other departures
agreed (£)
Total number of exit packages
Total cost of exit packages (£)

Exit package cost band (inc any special payment element)
Less than
£10,000 £25,001 £50,001 Total
£10,000
£25,000
£50,000
£100,000
1
0
0
0
1
6,738

0

0

0

6,738

6

4

1

2

13

42,287

49,672

36,652

167,933

296,544

7
49,025

4
49,672

1
36,652

2
167,933

14
303,282

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of
Agenda for Change.
Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where NHS Kernow
has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by NHS Kernow and not by the NHS
Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are not
included in the table.
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Analysis of other departures

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS)
contractual costs
Compulsory redundancies
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment
Tribunals or court orders
Total

2017/18
Number
£
12
197,779

2016/17
Number
£
0

0

0
0
1

0
0
98,765

1
2
0

159,265
66,250
0

13

296,544

3

255,515

As a single exit package can be made up of several components, each of which will be counted
separately in this note, the total number above will not necessarily match the total numbers in
which will be the number of individuals.

Parliamentary accountability and audit report
NHS Kernow is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report but has
opted to include disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts
and fees and charges in this Accountability Report at page 58.
An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report on page 132.

Jackie Pendleton
Accountable Officer
22 May 2018
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Statement of comprehensive net expenditure for the year
ended 31 March 2018
Note
Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income
Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Total operating expenditure
Net operating expenditure
Finance expense
Comprehensive expenditure for the year
ended 31 March 2018
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3,4
4
4
4
4

2017/18
£’000
(38)
(11,075)
(11,113)
10,655
802,914
125
156
671
814,521
803,408
0
803,408

2016/17
£’000
(149)
(10,338)
(10,487)
11,146
783,718
236
(218)
365
795,247
784,760
18
784,778
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Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018
Note
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non-current assets plus/less net current assets/
liabilities
Provisions
Assets less liabilities
Financed by taxpayers’ equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Total taxpayers' equity:

8

2017/18
£’000

2016/17
£’000
230
11
241

228
28
256

5
6,400
6,405
6,646

5
7,487
7,492
7,748

12
13
14

(50,044)
(1,289)
(272)
(51,605)
(44,959)

(38,028)
(1,600)
(497)
(40,125)
(32,377)

14

(202)
(45,161)

0
(32,377)

(45,162)
1
(45,161)

(32,378)
1
(32,377)

9

The notes on pages 106 to 131 form part of this statement.
			
The financial statements on pages 102 to 131 were approved by the Governing Body on 22 May
2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Jackie Pendleton
Accountable Officer
22 May 2018 			
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Statement of changes In taxpayers equity for the year ended 31
March 2018
General fund
£’000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017/18
Balance at 1 April 2017
Net operating expenditure for the financial
year
Net recognised NHS CCG expenditure for the
financial year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2018
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£’000
1
0

(32,377)
(803,408)

(803,408)

0

(803,408)

790,624
(45,162)

0
1

790,624
(45,161)

£’000

Net operating costs for the financial year
Transfers between reserves
Net recognised NHS CCG expenditure for the
financial year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2017

Total reserves

(32,378)
(803,408)

General fund

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016/17
Balance at 1 April 2016

Revaluation
reserve
£’000

Revaluation
reserve
£’000

Total reserves
£’000

(33,368)

55

(33,313)

(784,778)
54
(784,724)

0
(54)
(54)

(784,778)
0
(784,778)

785,714
(32,378)

0
1

785,714
(32,377)

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

Annual accounts

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2018
2017/18
£’000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale:
property, plant and equipment
Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities
Net cash inflow (outflow) before financing
Cash flows from financing activities
Grant in aid funding received
Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
financial year
Cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts)
at the end of the financial year
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2016/17
£’000

(803,408)
125
0
953
12,016
(179)
156
(790,337)

(784,778)
165
71
2,568
(3,360)
(146)
(218)
(785,698)

(110)
134

(90)
0

24
(790,313)

(90)
(785,788)

790,624
790,624
311
(1,600)

785,714
785,714
(74)
(1,526)

(1,289)

(1,600)
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting policies

NHS England has directed that the financial
statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups
(CCGs) shall meet the accounting requirements
of the Group Accounting Manual issued
by the Department of Health and Social
Care. Consequently, the following financial
statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Group Accounting Manual 2017/18
issued by the Department of Health and Social
Care. The accounting policies contained in the
Group Accounting Manual follow International
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent
that they are meaningful and appropriate to
CCGs, as determined by HM Treasury, which
is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory
Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual
permits a choice of accounting policy, the
accounting policy which is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of
the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and
fair view has been selected. The particular
policies adopted by the CCG are described
below. They have been applied consistently
in dealing with items considered material in
relation to the accounts.
1.1

Going concern

These accounts have been prepared on the
going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be
going concerns where the continuation of
the provision of a service in the future is
anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of
financial provision for that service in published
documents.
Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers
whether or not its services will continue to be
provided (using the same assets, by another
public sector entity) in determining whether
to use the concept of going concern for the
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final set of Financial Statements. If services
will continue to be provided the financial
statements are prepared on the going concern
basis.
1.2

Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the
historical cost convention modified to account
for the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and
certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
1.3

Pooled budgets

Where the CCG has entered into a pooled
budget arrangement under Section 75 of the
National Health Service Act 2006 the CCG
accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities,
income and expenditure arising from the
activities of the pooled budget, identified
in accordance with the pooled budget
agreement.
If the CCG is in a “jointly controlled operation”,
the CCG recognises:
• The assets the CCG controls.
• The liabilities the CCG incurs.
• The expenses the CCG incurs.
• The CCG’s share of the income from the
pooled budget activities.
1.4

Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the CCG’s accounting
policies, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from
those estimates and the estimates and
underlying assumptions are continually
reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates
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are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
1.4.1 Critical judgements in applying 			
accounting policies
The following are the critical judgements,
apart from those involving estimations (see
below) that management has made in the
process of applying the CCG’s accounting
policies that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:
• The CCG has not identified any areas
of critical judgement in preparing the
financial statements that would have a
material impact on them.
1.4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that
management has made in the process of
applying the CCG’s accounting policies
that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:
• Significant estimates are inherent in a
number of operational areas including
accruals for patient treatment and drug
costs, and residual liabilities for costs of
individuals who will be considered to
meet the eligibility criteria for NHS funded
Continuing Healthcare during the reporting
period. Such estimates are informed by
underlying data and trends and therefore
are not expected to materially misstated.
1.5

Revenue

Revenue in respect of services provided is
recognised when, and to the extent that,
performance occurs, and is measured at the
fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity
that is to be delivered in the following year,
that income is deferred.
Annual report and accounts 2017/18

1.6

Employee benefits

1.6.1 Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related
payments are recognised in the period in
which the service is received from employees,
including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken
by employees at the end of the period is
recognised in the financial statements to the
extent that employees are permitted to carry
forward leave into the following period.
1.6.2 Retirement benefit costs
Past and present employees are covered by
the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit
scheme that covers NHS employers, General
Practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State, in England
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies
to identify their share of the underlying
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined
contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of
participating in the scheme is taken as equal
to the contributions payable to the scheme for
the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to
ill health the additional pension liabilities are
not funded by the scheme. The full amount of
the liability for the additional costs is charged
to expenditure at the time the CCG commits
itself to the retirement, regardless of the
method of payment.
Following the implementation of pensions
'auto enrolment' during 2017/18 employees
who are not already part of the NHS Pensions
Scheme are 'auto enrolled' in an alternative
Government approved pension scheme. This is
a defined contribution pension scheme.
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1.7

Other expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised
when, and to the extent that, the goods
or services have been received. They are
measured at the fair value of the consideration
payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are
recognised when the CCG has a present legal
or constructive obligation, which occurs when
all of the conditions attached to the payment
have been met.
1.8

Property, plant and equipment

1.8.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering services or for
administrative purposes.
• It is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to, or service potential will be
supplied to the CCG.
• It is expected to be used for more than one
financial year.
• The cost of the item can be measured
reliably; and.
• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost
of at least £5,000 and individually have a
cost of more than £250, where the assets
are functionally interdependent, they had
broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial
control.
• Items form part of the initial equipping and
setting-up cost of a new building, ward
or unit, irrespective of their individual or
collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building,
includes a number of components with
significantly different asset lives, the
components are treated as separate assets and
depreciated over their own useful economic
lives.
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1.8.2 Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are
measured initially at cost, representing the
cost directly attributable to acquiring or
constructing the asset and bringing it to the
location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. All assets are measured
subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the CCG’s services
or for administrative purposes are stated in
the statement of financial position at their
re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the
date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient
regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are
not materially different from those that would
be determined at the end of the reporting
period. Fair values are determined as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings –
market value for existing use.
• Specialised buildings – depreciated
replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach
to depreciated replacement cost valuations
based on modern equivalent assets and, where
it would meet the location requirements of
the service being provided, an alternative site
can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for
service or administration purposes are carried
at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees but not borrowing costs,
which are recognised as expenses immediately,
as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair
value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation
commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at
depreciated historic cost as this is not
considered to be materially different from
current value in existing use.
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An increase arising on revaluation is taken
to the revaluation reserve except when it
reverses an impairment for the same asset
previously recognised in expenditure, in which
case it is credited to expenditure to the extent
of the decrease previously charged there. A
revaluation decrease that does not result from
a loss of economic value or service potential
is recognised as an impairment charged to
the revaluation reserve to the extent that
there is a balance on the reserve for the asset
and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment
losses that arise from a clear consumption of
economic benefit are taken to expenditure.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation
reserve are reported as other comprehensive
income in the Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure.
1.8.3 Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an
asset beyond its original specification, the
directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where
subsequent expenditure restores the asset to
its original specification, the expenditure is
capitalised and any existing carrying value of
the item replaced is written-out and charged
to operating expenses.
1.9

Intangible assets

1.9.1 Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets
without physical substance, which are capable
of sale separately from the rest of the CCG’s
business or which arise from contractual or
other legal rights. They are recognised only:
• When it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to, or service potential be
provided to, the CCG.
• Where the cost of the asset can be
measured reliably.
• Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are
initially recognised at fair value. Software that
is integral to the operating of hardware, for
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example an operating system, is capitalised
as part of the relevant item of property,
plant and equipment. Software that is not
integral to the operation of hardware, for
example application software, is capitalised as
an intangible asset. Expenditure on research
is not capitalised but is recognised as an
operating expense in the period in which it
is incurred. Internally-generated assets are
recognised if, and only if, all of the following
have been demonstrated:
• The technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available
for use.
• The intention to complete the intangible
asset and use it.
• The ability to sell or use the intangible
asset.
• How the intangible asset will generate
probable future economic benefits or
service potential.
• The availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete
the intangible asset and sell or use it.
• The ability to measure reliably the
expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development.
1.9.2 Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internallygenerated intangible assets is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when
the criteria above are initially met. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, the expenditure is recognised in
the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible
assets are carried at current value in existing
use by reference to an active market, or,
where no active market exists, at the lower
of depreciated replacement cost or the value
in use where the asset is income generating.
Internally-developed software is held at
historic cost to reflect the opposing effects
of increases in development costs and
technological advances.
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1.9.3 Depreciation, amortisation and 			
impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction,
and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are
charged to write off the costs or valuation of
property, plant and equipment and intangible
non-current assets, less any residual value,
over their estimated useful lives, in a manner
that reflects the consumption of economic
benefits or service potential of the assets.
The estimated useful life of an asset is the
period over which the CCG expects to obtain
economic benefits or service potential from
the asset. This is specific to the CCG and may
be shorter than the physical life of the asset
itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values
are reviewed each year end, with the effect
of any changes recognised on a prospective
basis. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the CCG
checks whether there is any indication that
any of its tangible or intangible non-current
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
there is indication of an impairment loss, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
to determine whether there has been a loss
and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result
from a loss of economic value or service
potential is recognised as an impairment
charged to the revaluation reserve to the
extent that there is a balance on the reserve
for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear
consumption of economic benefit are taken
to expenditure. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset is increased to the revised estimate
of the recoverable amount but capped at the
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amount that would have been determined
had there been no initial impairment loss.
The reversal of the impairment loss is credited
to expenditure to the extent of the decrease
previously charged there and thereafter to the
revaluation reserve.
1.10

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.
1.10.1 The CCG as Lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Lease incentives are recognised initially
as a liability and subsequently as a reduction
of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are
incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the
land and building components are separated
and individually assessed as to whether they
are operating or finance leases.
1.10.2 The CCG as Lessor
Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
1.11

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.
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1.12

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any
financial institution repayable without penalty
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash
equivalents are investments that mature in 3
months or less from the date of acquisition
and that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of
change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash
equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and that form
an integral part of the clinical CCG’s cash
management.
1.13

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the
CCG will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. The amount
recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties.
Where a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the obligation,
and the time value of money is material, its
carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as
follows:
• Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive):
Minus 2.420% (previously: minus 2.70%).
• Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years
inclusive): Minus 1.85% (previously: minus
1.95%).
• Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus
1.56% (previously: minus 0.80%).
When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to
be recovered from a third party, the receivable
is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursements will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.
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A restructuring provision is recognised when
the CCG has developed a detailed formal plan
for the restructuring and has raised a valid
expectation in those affected that it will carry
out the restructuring by starting to implement
the plan or announcing its main features to
those affected by it. The measurement of a
restructuring provision includes only the direct
expenditures arising from the restructuring,
which are those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and
not associated with on-going activities of the
entity.
1.14

Clinical negligence costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling
scheme under which the CCG pays an annual
contribution to the NHS Resolution which in
return settles all clinical negligence claims
in relation to the CCG's operations. The
contribution is charged to expenditure.
Although NHS Resolution is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases
arising from the CCG's operations the legal
liability remains with the CCG.
The CCG has also a potential liability outside
the risk-pooling arrangements for some clinical
negligence claims that are notified after the
cessation of service contracts with the CCG.
Any such claims are recognised according to
normal accounting conventions.
1.15

Non-clinical risk pooling

The CCG participates in the Property Expenses
Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under
which the CCG pays an annual contribution
to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The
annual membership contributions, and any
excesses payable in respect of particular claims
are charged to operating expenses as and
when they become due.
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1.16

Continuing healthcare risk pooling

In 2014/15, a risk pool scheme was introduced
by NHS England for continuing healthcare
claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March
2013. Under the scheme, CCGs contribute
annually to a national risk pool fund, which is
used to settle the claims. During 2017/18, due
to a residual balance remaining in the pool
held by NHS England, CCGs were not required
to make a further contribution to the fund.
1.17

Contingencies

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Financial assets are classified into the following
categories:
• Financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss.
• Held to maturity investments.
• Available for sale financial assets.
• Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.
1.19

Loans and receivables

A contingent liability is a possible obligation
that arises from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the CCG, or a present
obligation that is not recognised because it is
not probable that a payment will be required
to settle the obligation or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured sufficiently
reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed
unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments which are not quoted in an active
market. After initial recognition, they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment. Interest
is recognised using the effective interest
method.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that
arises from past events and whose existence
will be confirmed by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the
CCG. A contingent asset is disclosed where an
inflow of economic benefits is probable.

The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset, to the initial fair value of the
financial asset.

Where the time value of money is material,
contingencies are disclosed at their present
value.
1.18

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG
becomes party to the financial instrument
contract or, in the case of trade receivables,
when the goods or services have been
delivered. Financial assets are derecognised
when the contractual rights have expired or
the asset has been transferred.
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Fair value is determined by reference to
quoted market prices where possible,
otherwise by valuation techniques.

At the end of the reporting period, the CCG
assesses whether any financial assets, other
than those held at ‘fair value through profit
and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are
impaired and impairment losses recognised if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events which occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset and
which has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost,
the amount of the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the revised
future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
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original effective interest rate. The loss is
recognised in expenditure and the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced through a
provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount
of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through
expenditure to the extent that the carrying
amount of the receivable at the date of the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
1.20

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the
statement of financial position when the CCG
becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the financial instrument or, in the case of
trade payables, when the goods or services
have been received. Financial liabilities are
de-recognised when the liability has been
discharged, that is, the liability has been paid
or has expired.
1.21

Other financial liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial
liabilities are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, except for loans
from Department of Health and Social Care,
which are carried at historic cost. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the
life of the asset, to the net carrying amount
of the financial liability. Interest is recognised
using the effective interest method.
1.22

Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside
the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax
does not apply and input tax on purchases is
not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged
to the relevant expenditure category or
included in the capitalised purchase cost of
Annual report and accounts 2017/18

fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or
input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are
stated net of VAT.
1.23

Losses and special payments

Losses and special payments are items that
Parliament would not have contemplated
when it agreed funds for the health service
or passed legislation. By their nature they are
items that ideally should not arise. They are
therefore subject to special control procedures
compared with the generality of payments.
They are divided into different categories,
which govern the way that individual cases are
handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the
relevant functional headings in expenditure on
an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover
had the CCG not been bearing its own risks
(with insurance premiums then being included
as normal revenue expenditure).
1.24

Joint operations

Joint operations are activities undertaken by
the CCG in conjunction with one or more other
parties but which are not performed through
a separate entity. The CCG records its share of
the income and expenditure; gains and losses;
assets and liabilities; and cash flows.
1.25

Accounting standards that have been 		
issued but have not yet been adopted

The Department of Health and Social Care
Group accounting manual does not require
the following Standards and Interpretations to
be applied in 2017/18. These standards are still
subject to FREM adoption and early adoption
is not therefore permitted.
• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application
from 1 January 2018).
• IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with
Customers (application from 1 January
2018).
• IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January
2019).
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The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts
for 2017/18, were they applied in that year.

2

Revenue

3

Employee benefits and staff numbers

					
Revenue is almost totally in respect of contributions to the mental health pooled fund and
specific funding adjustments with NHS England. Revenue from the rendering of services and
from the sale of goods is immaterial.

3.1.1 Employee benefits
Total
2017/18
Employee benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Permanent
employees
£'000

£'000
8,793
812
1,015
1
27
7
10,655
Total

2016/17
Employee benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure
3.2
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8,364
859
1,050
159
10,432

498
6
9
0
0
0
513
Other
£'000
706
4
4
0
714

Average number of people employed

Total number

Total

9,070
863
1,054
159
11,146

£'000

8,295
806
1,006
1
27
7
10,142
Permanent
employees
£'000

£'000

Other

220

2017/18
Permanently
employed
number
214

2016/17
Total number

Other number

6

228
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3.3

Exit packages agreed in the financial year

2017/18
Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
Total

Compulsory
redundancies
Number
£
1
6,738
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
6,738

Other agreed
departures
Number
£
6
42,287
4
49,672
1
36,652
2
167,933
13
296,544

2016/17
£25,001 to £50,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Total

Compulsory
redundancies
Number
£
0
0
1
159,265
1
159,265

Other agreed
departures
Number
£
2
66,250
0
0
2
66,250

3.4

Total
Number
7
4
1
2
14

£
49,025
49,672
36,652
167,933
303,282

Total
Number
2
1
3

£
66,250
159,265
225,515

Analysis of other agreed departures

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS)
contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment
Tribunals or court orders
Total

2017/18
Other agreed
departures
Number
£
12
197,779

2016/17
Other agreed
departures
Number
£
0

0

0
1

0
98,765

2
0

66,250
0

13

296,544

2

66,250

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The
expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a
previous period.
The departures under the local MARS arrangements were paid in accordance with the agreed
provisions of the scheme, as approved by NHS England.
		
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest
in full in the year of departure.
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3.5 Pension costs
Past and the majority of present employees are
covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension
Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and
rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS
Pensions website.
The Schemes are unfunded defined benefit
schemes that cover NHS employers, GP
practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State in England
and Wales. They are not designed to be run
in a way that would enable NHS bodies to
identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as
if it were a defined contribution scheme: the
cost to the NHS body of participating in each
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions
payable to that scheme for the accounting
period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations
recognised in the financial statements do not
differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal
actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that
“the period between formal valuations shall
be four years, with approximate assessments in
intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
3.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out
annually by the scheme actuary (currently
the Government Actuary’s Department) as at
the end of the reporting period. This utilises
an actuarial assessment for the previous
accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current
reporting period, and is accepted as providing
suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability
as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data
as 31 March 2017, updated to 31 March 2018
with summary global member and accounting
data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment,

116

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant
FReM interpretations, and the discount rate
prescribed by HM Treasury have also been
used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of
the scheme is contained in the report of the
scheme actuary, which forms part of the
annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These
accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions
website and are published annually. Copies can
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
3.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the
level of liability in respect of the benefits due
under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend
contribution rates payable by employees and
employers.
The last published actuarial valuation
undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was
completed for the year ending 31 March 2012.
The Scheme Regulations allow for the level
of contribution rates to be changed by the
Secretary of State for Health, with the consent
of HM Treasury, and consideration of the
advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee
and employer representatives as deemed
appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried
out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently
being prepared. The direction assumptions
are published by HM Treasury which are
used to complete the valuation calculations,
from which the final valuation report can be
signed off by the scheme actuary. This will
set the employer contribution rate payable
from April 2019 and will consider the cost
of the Scheme relative to the employer cost
cap. There are provisions in the Public Service
Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits
or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme
changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject
to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any
required revisions to member benefits or
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contribution rates will be determined by the
Secretary of State for Health after consultation
with the relevant stakeholders.
For 2017/18, employers’ contributions of
£1,062,414 were payable to the NHS Pensions
Scheme (2016/17: £1,104,761) at the rate of
14.38% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s
actuary reviews employer contributions,
usually every four years and now based on
HMT Valuation Directions, following a full
scheme valuation. The latest review used data
from 31 March 2012 and was published on the
Government website on 9 June 2012. These
costs are included in the NHS pension line of
note 3.1.1.
3.5.3 Scheme provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provides defined
benefits, which are summarised below. This
list is an illustrative guide only, and is not
intended to detail all the benefits provided
by the Scheme or the specific conditions that
must be met before these benefits can be
obtained. There are currently three versions
of the NHS Pension Scheme in operation as
follows:
•

•

1995 Pension Scheme: This is a final salary
scheme. Annual pensions are normally
based on 1/80th of the best of the last
three years pensionable pay per year.
Normal pension age for this scheme is 60.
This scheme was closed to new entrants
from 1 April 2008.
2008 Pension Scheme: This is a final salary
scheme. Annual pensions are normally
based on 1/60th of reckonable pay per
year, and pro rata for any part year of
membership. Normal pension age for this
scheme is 65. This scheme was closed to
new entrants from 1 April 2015.
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•

2015 Pension Scheme: This is a Career
Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) scheme.
It is a defined benefits scheme and is
payable on pensionable pay throughout
the membership period. The scheme has
a build up rate of 1/54th of pensionable
earnings each year. The pension “earned”
in each year is increased by the application
of a revaluation rate determined by
Treasury Order plus 1.5 per cent. Normal
pension age for this scheme is the same as
the State Pension Age or 65, whichever is
later.

Additional Information
• With effect from 1 April 2008 members
can choose to give up some of their annual
pension for an additional tax free lump
sum, up to a maximum amount permitted
under HMRC rules. This new provision is
known as “pension commutation”.
• Annual increases are applied to pension
payments at rates defined by the Pensions
(Increase) Act 1971, and are based on
changes in the Consumer Price Index in the
twelve months ending 30 September in the
previous calendar year.
• Early payment of a pension, with
enhancement, is available to members of
the scheme who are permanently incapable
of fulfilling their duties effectively through
illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of
twice final year’s pensionable pay for death
in service, and five times their annual
pension for death after retirement is
payable.
• For early retirements other than those due
to ill health the additional pension liabilities
are not funded by the scheme. The full
amount of the liability for the additional
costs is charged to the employer.
• Members can purchase additional service
in the NHS Scheme and contribute
to money purchase AVC’s run by the
Scheme’s approved providers or by other
Free Standing Additional Voluntary
Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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3.5.4 Other pension schemes
Pension auto-enrolment
Under the Pensions Act 2008 every employer in the UK must enrol staff in a pension scheme
and contribute towards it. This is referred to as ‘auto enrolment’. ‘Auto enrolment’ has been
phased in across organisations and for the CCG the implementation date was 1 August 2017. Any
employee not already a member of a pension scheme is automatically enrolled in a Government
approved pension provider. For the CCG the chosen provider is NEST and further details can be
found at www.nestpensions.org.uk. Employees can subsequently ‘opt’ out of this scheme should
they wish.
The scheme is a defined contribution scheme.
For 2017/18, employers’ contributions of £1,274 were payable to the NEST Pension Scheme
(2016/17: £nil) at the rate of 1.00% of pensionable pay.
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4. Operating expenses
2017/18
£’000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and
equipment
Audit fees
Other professional services provided by external
auditors
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excluding audit
Legal fees
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Other expenditure
Total other costs
Total operating expenses
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2016/17
£’000

10,034
621
10,655

10,150
996
11,146

366
177,493
343,818
53
170,329
442
0
1,042
6
2,690
25
2,590
199
108
17
0

503
181,081
321,398
0
172,375
365
493
462
307
1,730
24
1,772
0
148
17
71

63
60

86
0

95,251
8,373
409
289
8
52
156
0
5
22
803,866
814,521

95,324
6,679
664
292
0
53
(218)
475
0
0
784,101
795,247
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In accordance with SI 2008 no.489, The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration and
Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008, where a CCG contract with its auditors
provides for a limitation of the auditor’s liability, the principal terms of this limitation must be
disclosed in a note to the accounts.		
		
The limitation on auditor’s liability for external audit work is £2m (2016/17 £2m).
The statutory audit fee for 2017/18 was £52,500 excluding VAT (2016/17: £71,250).

5

Payment performance

5.1

Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance
Non-NHS payables
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid
within target
NHS payables
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within
target
5.2

2017/18
Number
£'000

2016/17
Number
£'000

21,570
21,173
98.16%

199,751
197,748
99.00%

24,510
23,766
96.96%

212,913
206,435
96.96%

3,878
3,775
97.34%

527,021
526,567
99.91%

3,833
3,694
96.37%

507,469
503,403
99.20%

The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
2017/18
£'000

Amounts included in finance costs from claims
made under this legislation

6.

2016/17
£'000
0

Finance costs
2017/18
£'000

Interest on late payment of commercial debt
Total finance costs
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2016/17
£'000
0
0

18
18
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7.

Operating leases							

							
7.1
As lessee
						
The CCG’s main lease expenditure relates to the occupation of property. Other lease costs relate
to office equipment. The majority of property occupied by the CCG is occupied as a tenant of
either Community Health Partnerships Ltd or NHS Property Services Ltd. This is reflected in the
note below:							
7.1.1

Payments recognised as an expense

Buildings
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease
2,433
payments
Total
2,433

2017/18
Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Buildings
£'000

2016/17
Other
£'000

Total
£'000

13

2,446

1,734

7

1,741

13

2,446

1,734

7

1,741

Whilst our arrangements with Community Health Partnership’s Limited and NHS Property
Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years has
not yet been agreed for all premises. Consequently this note does not include future minimum
lease payments for those arrangements.
7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
						
2017/18
Buildings
Other
£'000
£'000
Payable
No later than one
179
2
year
Between one and five
284
2
years
Total
463
4
7.2

Total
£'000

Buildings
£'000

2016/17
Other
£'000

Total
£'000

181

187

0

187

286

134

0

134

467

321

0

321

As lessor

7.2.1 Rental revenue
2017/18
£'000
Recognised as income
Rent
Total
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2016/17
£'000
38
38

50
50
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Property, plant and equipment

2017/18
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2017
Additions purchased
Disposals other than by sale
Cost/valuation at 31 March 2018
Depreciation 1 April 2017
Disposals other than by sale
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2018
Net book value at 31 March 2018
Purchased
Total at 31 March 2018
Asset financing
Owned
Total at 31 March 2018

2016/17
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2016
Additions purchased
Reclassified as held for sale
Disposals other than by sale
Impairments charged
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2017
Depreciation 01 April 2016
Reclassified as held for sale
Disposals other than by sale
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2017
Net book value at 31 March 2017
Purchased
Total at 31 March 2017
Asset financing
Owned
Total at 31 March 2017
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Plant and Information Furniture
machinery technology and fittings
£'000
£'000
£'000
34
760
58
0
110
0
0
(55)
0
34
815
58
26
568
30
0
(55)
0
3
98
7
29
611
37
5
204
21
5
204
21
5
204
21
5
5

204
204

192
192

£'000
852
110
(55)
907
624
(55)
108
677
230
230
230

21
21

Plant and Information Furniture
machinery technology and fittings
£'000
£'000
£'000
34
760
58
0
60
0
(233)
0
0
(359)
0
0
0
0
0
34
760
58
372
469
22
(99)
0
0
(288)
0
0
41
99
8
26
568
30
8
192
28
8
192
28
8
192
28
8
8

Total

28
28

230
230
Total
£'000
852
60
(233)
(359)
0
852
863
(99)
(288)
148
624
228
228
228
228
228
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8.1

Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets

The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
2017/18
£'000

2016/17
£'000

Plant and machinery
Information technology
Total
8.2

Minimum life (years)
5
4
5

Maximum life (years)
15
4
10

2017/18
£'000

2016/17
£'000

Trade and other receivables

NHS receivables: revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total trade and other receivables
9.1

171
354
525

Economic lives

Plant and machinery
Information technology
Furniture and fittings

9

36
458
494

1,046
0
1,864
733
1,636
570
674
(199)
57
19
6,400

574
134
2,039
566
2,038
406
1,637
0
58
35
7,487

Receivables past their due date but not impaired
2017/18

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total
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£’000
£’000
DH group
Non-DH group
bodies
bodies
114
1,143
5
92
5
2
124
1,237

2016/17
£’000
All receivables
prior years
1,812
318
492
2,622

123

Annual accounts

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

£978,614 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial
position date.
The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2018 (31 March
2017: £nil)
9.2

Provision for impairment of receivables
2017/18
£'000
Non-DH group
bodies

Balance at 1 April 2017
(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired
Balance at 31 March 2018

0
(199)
(199)

2016/17
£'000
All receivables prior
years
0
0
0

Receiveables impaired relate to specific amounts invoiced to the Local Authority that are over 12
months old.

10

Cash and cash equivalents
2017/18
£'000

Balance at 01 April 2017
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2018
Made up of bank overdraft:
Government Banking Service

2016/17
£'000
(1,600)
311
(1,289)

(1,526)
(74)
(1,600)

(1,289)

(1,600)

11

Analysis of impairments and reversals

11.1

Analysis of impairments and reversals: property, plant and equipment

2017/18
2016/17
£'000
£'000
Impairments and reversals charged to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure
Other
0
Total charged to annually managed expenditure
0
Total impairments and reversals charged to the
0
statement of comprehensive net expenditure

(71)
(71)
(71)

The impairment loss in 2016/17 related to the consumption of economic benefits of the
underlying assets. The assets had been fully impaired which reflected the assessment that their
recoverable value was zero.
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12

Trade and other payables
2017/18
£'000

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total trade and other payables

2016/17
£'000
3,652
3,577
8,775
33,653
124
103
160
50,044

4,585
2,929
2,563
27,446
121
105
279
38,028

Other payables include £154,679 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2018 (31 March
2017: £150,429).

13

Borrowings
2017/18
£'000

Bank overdrafts: Government banking service
Total borrowings
13.1

2016/17
£'000
1,289
1,289

1,600
1,600

Repayment of principal falling due
2017/18
£'000

Within one year

2016/17
£'000
1,289

1,600

The CCG’s cash position is reported in the financial statements as an overdraft at 31 March 2018
due to outstanding payments that cleared after the year end. As at 31 March 2018, the CCG had
a positive cash balance in its Government Banking Service bank account of £520,335 (31 March
2017: £77,134)					

14

Provisions
2017/18
Current
Non-current
£’000

Redundancy
Continuing care
Other
Total
Total current and non-current
Annual report and accounts 2017/18

0
95
177
272
474

£’000
0
162
40
202

2016/17
Current
Non-current
£’000
160
329
8
497
497

£’000
0
0
0
0
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Redundancy
£’000
Balance at 01 April 2017
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2018
Expected timing of cash flows
Within one year
Between one and five years
Balance at 31 March 2018

Continuing care
£’000

Other
£’000

Total
£’000

160
0
(160)
0
0

329
167
(19)
(220)
257

8
215
0
(6)
217

497
382
(179)
(226)
474

0
0
0

95
162
257

177
40
217

272
202
474

The continuing care provision reflects an estimate of the expected liability for retrospective
claims for eligibility relation to the period since the inception of the CCG ie since 1 April 2013.
Under the Accounts Directions issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is
responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating
to periods of care before the establishment of NHS Kernow. The legal liability remains with NHS
Kernow. The total value of the legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by
NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2018 is £4k (31 March 2016: £234k).
Other provisions mainly includes an estimate of potential clinical negligence claims totalling
£215k relating to services provided in prior years and not covered by the risk pooling scheme
managed by NHS Resolution (31 March 2017: nil). Also included in provisions is £2k relating to
an amount notified by NHS Resolution in relation to an employee liability claim (31 March 2017:
£8k).

15

Contingencies
2017/18
£'000

Contingent liabilities
NHS Resolution employee liability claim

2016/17
£'000
0

2

The CCG has been advised of contingent liability in relation to a single claim being managed by
NHS Resolution. This has been quantified and is disclosed in the table above.
Other than the contingent liabilities referred to above the CCG does not consider that there
are any other material contingent liabilities at 31 March 2018 (31 March 2017: none). The
principle exposure to such liabilities would be in respect of retrospective claims for eligibility
for continuing healthcare. Such costs are accrued when appropriate and a further provision
has been made in respect of claims where there is considered to be a reasonable likelihood of
success. The exposure of the CCG to such risk is also limited to periods of care since 1 April 2013,
as earlier claims are being settled on a risk shared basis from a defined national funding pool. In
view of this context, the residual exposure of the CCG to contingent liabilities is not considered
to be material to the financial statements.								
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16

Financial instruments

16.1.3 Credit risk

16.1

Financial risk management

Because the majority of NHS Kernow's revenue
comes from parliamentary funding it has a
low exposure to credit risk. The maximum
exposures as at the end of the financial year
are in receivables from customers, as disclosed
in the trade and other receivables note.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires
disclosure of the role that financial instruments
have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking
its activities.
As NHS Kernow is financed through
parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to
the degree of financial risk faced by business
entities. Also, financial instruments play a
much more limited role in creating or changing
risk than would be typical of listed companies,
to which the financial reporting standards
mainly apply. The CCG has limited powers to
borrow or invest surplus funds and financial
assets and liabilities are generated by day-today operational activities rather than being
held to change the risks facing the CCG in
undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried
out by the finance department, within
parameters defined formally within the CCG's
standing financial instructions and policies
agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury
activity is subject to review by the CCG and its
internal auditors.

16.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS Kernow is required to operate within
revenue and capital resource limits, which are
financed from resources voted annually by
Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover
expenditure, as the need arises on a monthly
basis. The CCG is not, therefore, exposed to
significant liquidity risks.
16.2

Financial assets

16.1.2 Interest rate risk

2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2016/17
£’000

Loans and receivables
Receivables:
• NHS
1,779
1,274
• Non-NHS
2,310
3,675
Other financial assets
19
35
Total at 31 March
4,108
4,984
							
16.3 Financial liabilities

16.1.1 Currency risk
NHS Kernow is principally a domestic
organisation with the great majority of
transactions, assets and liabilities being in
the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no
overseas operations. The CCG therefore has
low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

2017/18
£’000

Other
Payables:
• NHS
• Non-NHS
Other borrowings
Total at 31 March

7,229
42,588
1,289
51,106

7,514
30,288
1,600
39,402

CCG's do not borrow money in the normal
course of business neither are they permitted
to make interest bearing deposits. The CCG
therefore has a low exposure to interest rate
fluctuations. Borrowings disclosed in the
financial statements are those arising from a
technical overdraft as explained in note 13.
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Pooled budgets

NHS Kernow is party to a mental health
pooled budget with Cornwall Council and
Cornwall Partnership Foundation Trust, which
was originally entered into on 1 October 2003.
Under this arrangement funds are pooled
under s75 of the Health Act 2006 for the
provision of adult mental health services in
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
The pool is hosted by NHS Kernow. As a
commissioner of healthcare services, the CCG
makes contributions to the pool, which are
then used to purchase healthcare services.
The CCG accounts for its share of the assets,
liabilities, income and expenditure as
determined by the pooled budget agreement.
The CCG's shares of the income and
expenditure handled by the pooled budget in
the financial year were as follows:

Income
Expenditure

2017/18
£’000
44,165
(44,165)

2016/17
£’000
44,848
(44,848)

Better Care Fund
The CCG entered into a Better Care Fund
partnership agreement under s75 of the
Health Act 2006 with Cornwall Council on 1
April 2015. Under this agreement there are a
number of budget elements that are formally
pooled. In line with the application of IFRS 11
these are all classed as ‘joint operations’ and as
such the CCG accounts for its share of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses in its own
accounts. The pooled budgets are as follows:
Loan Equipment Pooled Fund
The CCG originally had a pooled fund
arrangement with Cornwall Council for the
provision of integrated community loan
equipment. This was an arrangement under
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s75 of the Health Act 2006 that had been in
existence since 1 April 2005. The Integrated
Loan Equipment pooled fund now forms part
of the pooling arrangements under the Better
Care Fund.						
						
In 2017/18 the CCG contributed £5,400,000 to
this fund (2016/17: £3,481,000).
Joint Complex Cases Pooled Fund
As part of the Better Care Fund arrangements
the CCG is party to a joint complex care
pooled budget with Cornwall Council. Under
this arrangement funds are pooled under S75
of the Health Act 2006 for the provision of
health and social care services in Cornwall to
individuals with complex needs.
In 2017/18 the CCG contributed £2,050,000 to
this fund (2016/17: £2,100,000).
Carers Pooled Fund
As part of the Better Care Fund arrangements
the CCG is party to a Carer’s pooled budget
with Cornwall Council. Under this arrangement
funds are pooled under S75 of the Health Act
2006 for the provision of health and social care
services in Cornwall to support carers.
In 2017/18 the CCG contributed £1,425,000 to
this fund (2016/17: £1,400,000).
The Better Care Fund pools are hosted
by Cornwall Council. As a commissioner
of healthcare services, the CCG makes
contributions to the pools, which are then
used to purchase health and social care
services. The CCG accounts for its share of the
assets, liabilities, income and expenditure of
the pool as determined by the pooled budget
agreement.
The CCG’s share of expenditure for each
pooled budget area within the Better Care
Fund is recorded under the appropriate
programme expenditure headings in Note 4.
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Related party transactions						

						
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG has had a
significant number of material transactions with entities for which the department is regarded
as the parent department. For example:
• NHS England
• NHS Foundation Trusts
• NHS Trusts
• NHS Business Services Authority
In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other Government
departments and other central and local Government bodies. The most significant of these
transactions have been with Cornwall Council.						
						
The CCG comprises all the GP practices situated within Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. The CCG
has many routine and regular transactions with each of its constituent practices in the normal
course of business. In accordance with the Constitution of the CCG, a number of GPs also serve
as members of the Governing Body of the CCG: the practices associated with Governing Body
GP members are regarded as ‘related parties’ for accounting purposes: we disclose the level of
financial transactions with those practices. The CCG had the following transactions with 'related
party' practices, and other senior manager related parties, during the reporting period:
Note

Carnon Downs Surgery
Helston Medical Centre
(until July 2017)
Macs et Al Ltd (May
2017 to October 2017)
St Agnes Surgery
St Mary's Health Centre
(until July 2017)
Tamar Valley Medical
Practice

Payments to
related party

Receipts from
related party

1

885
164

Amounts
Amounts due
owed to
from related
related party
party
£'000
£'000
0
0
0
0
N/A
N/A

£'000

£'000

1

101

0

N/A

N/A

1

616
24

0
0

0
N/A

0
N/A

2,014

0

1

0

Note 1: This practice was regarded as a ‘related party’ for only a part of the reporting period
and was no longer classed as a related party at 31 March 2018. For this reason, amounts due to
or from the party at 31 March 2018 are not relevant to this disclosure. Receipts and payments
disclosed in the note relate to the period of classification as a related party only.
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2016/17
Carnon Downs Surgery (from
October 2016)
Helston Medical Centre
Newquay Health Centre (until
September 2016)
St Agnes Surgery
St Mary's Health Centre
Tamar Valley Medical Practice
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Payments to
related party

Receipts from
related party

406

Amounts
Amounts due
owed to
from related
related party
party
£'000
£'000
0
2
0

£'000

£'000

495
108

0
0

0
N/A

0
N/A

626
101
1,814

0
0
0

0
0
15

0
0
0

Financial performance targets

NHS Kernow has a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
Its performance against those duties was as follows:

2017/18
Expenditure not to exceed
income
Capital resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Capital resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on
specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue administration resource
use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
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Target
Performance
£'000
£'000
781,465
814,631

Difference
£'000
(33,166)

Duty
achieved?
No

110

110

0

Yes

770,242

803,408

(33,166)

No

0

0

0

Yes

0

0

0

Yes

12,415

10,704

1,711

Yes
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2016/17
Expenditure not to exceed
income
Capital resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Capital resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on
specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue administration resource
use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

Target
Performance
£'000
£'000
741,113
795,325

Difference
£'000
(54,212)

Duty
achieved?
No

60

60

0

Yes

730,566

784,778

(54,212)

No

0

0

0

Yes

0

0

0

Yes

12,245

11,202

1,043

Yes

For 2017/18 the Department of Health issued Directions that the Financial Performance should
be measured against in year funding. If 2016/17 performance had been reported on the same
basis the results would have been as follows:							

2016/17 restated
Expenditure not to exceed
income
Capital resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Capital resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on
specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue administration resource
use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
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Target
Performance
£'000
£'000
758,510
795,325

Difference
£'000
(36,815)

Duty
achieved?
No

60

60

0

Yes

747,963

784,778

(36,815)

No

0

0

0

Yes

0

0

0

Yes

12,245

11,202

1,043

Yes
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Independent auditor’s report to the members
of the Governing Body of NHS Kernow
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group (the
‘CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity,
the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting
Manual 2017/18 and the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
In our opinion the financial statements:
• Give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2018 and of its
expenditure and income for the year then ended.
• Have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of
Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017/18.
• Have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act
2012.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Who we are reporting to

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in
accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK)
require us to report to you where:
• The Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of
the financial statements is not appropriate; or
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The Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of our work including
that gained through work in relation to the CCG’s arrangements for securing value for money
through economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its resource or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of
Audit Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the
Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider
whether the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the NHS
Commissioning Board or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are
aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Governance Statement
addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:
• The parts of the Remuneration Report and Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and
adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017/18 and
the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
• Based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our
knowledge of the CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCG’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information
published together with the financial statements in the annual report for the financial year
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Annual report and accounts 2017/18

133

Annual accounts

NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group

Qualified opinion on regularity

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the basis for qualified opinion
on regularity paragraph, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

Basis for qualified opinion on regularity

The CCG reported expenditure in excess of income in its financial statements for the year
ending 31 March 2018, thereby breaching its duty under the National Health Service Act 2006,
as amended by paragraph 223H of Section 27 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, to ensure
that its expenditure in a financial year does not exceed its income.
The CCG also reported a deficit of £33.166m against its in-year revenue resource limit in its
financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2018, thereby breaching its duty under the
National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by paragraph 223I of Section 27 of the Health and
Social Care Act 2012, to ensure that its revenue resource use in a financial year does not exceed
the amount specified by direction of the NHS Commissioning Board.

Opinion on other matters

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where we are required to report
by exception if:
• In our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the
NHS Commissioning Board; or
• We refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Act because we have
reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made,
a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is
about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion,
would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or
• We issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Act; or
• We make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Act, or
• We are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2016.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters except on 26 May 2017 we referred
a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 in relation to NHS Kernow CCG’s breach of its revenue resource limit for the year ending 31
March 2018.

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance
for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities, set out on
pages 59 to 60, the Accountable Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions, for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the
CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the CCG lacks funding for its
continued existence or when policy decisions have been made that affect the services provided
by the CCG.
The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income in
the financial statements.
The Audit Committee is Those Charged with Governance.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in
the financial statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - conclusion
on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources
Qualified conclusion

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and
Auditor General in November 2017, except for the effects of the matter described in the basis
for qualified conclusion section of our report, we are satisfied that in all significant respects
NHS Kernow CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Basis for qualified conclusion

Our review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources identified the following matter:
• The CCG has delivered a deficit of £33.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2018, £13.3m
over control total agreed with NHS England.
These matters identify weaknesses in the CCGs arrangements for setting a sustainable budget
with sufficient capacity to absorb emerging cost pressures. These matters are evidence of
weaknesses in proper arrangements for sustainable resource deployment in planning finances
effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and maintain statutory
functions.
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Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer

As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in
place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the
CCG’s resources.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources

We are required under Section 21(3)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where we have not
been able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard
to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in
November 2017, as to whether in all significant respects, the CCG had proper arrangements
to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and
sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General
determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in
satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018, and to
report by exception where we are not satisfied.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the CCG
has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS Kernow Clinical
Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Jon Roberts
Partner
For and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
2 Glass Wharf, Temple Quay, Bristol. BS2 0EL
23 May 2018
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